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1. Introduction
An understanding of the conceptual bases of the corporate financing reporting system and the
preparation of financial statement are essential prerequisites to be a good accountant or a
financial analyst. This chapter intends to explain the corporate financial reporting system and
issues involved. Regulatory framework of corporate financial reporting in Pakistan and
practices of Pakistan Companies are also covered. In the last section reporting issues relating to
matters that are reported outside the general purpose financial statements are considered.
2 Corporate Financial Reporting System
This chapter discusses the conceptual issues of corporate financial reporting. Disclosures being
a major aspect of financial reporting, theories of disclosure have also been considered. Issues
relating to quality of financial reporting and mode of financial reporting have also been dealt
with.
2.1. Concept of Corporate Financial Reporting: Financial reporting is the communication of
financial information of an enterprise to the external world. Bedford conceptualizes the
financial reporting process as consisting of four procedural steps:
1. Perception of the significant activity of the accounting entity or in the environment in
which the entity performs. Implicit in the traditional perception is the belief that
financial transactions represent the significant activities.
2. Symbolizing the perceived activities in such fashion that a database of the activities is
available that can then be analyzed to grasp an understanding of the interrelationship of
the mass of perceived activities. Conventionally, this symbolization has taken the form
of recordings in accounts, journals, and ledgers using well – established bookkeeping
and measurement procedures.
3. Analysis of the model of activities in order to summarize the interrelationships among
activities and to provide a status picture or map of the entity. Traditionally, this analysis
process has been viewed as one of developing accounting reports to provide insights
into the nature or entity activities.
4. Communication (transmission) of the analysis to users of the accounting products to
guide decision makers in directing future activities of the entity or in changing their
relationship with the entity.
First two steps constitute the process of accounting measurement, the quantification of an
entity‟s past, and present, or future economic phenomena on the basis of observations and
rules. Implicit in this conception are the requirements that (a) there exist some attribute or
feature of a business – related objects or event (e.g.: the value of an asset) worthy of
measurement and (b) there exist a means of making the measurements (e.g., the use of exchange
prices to value enterprise assets). Step 3 and 4 of the financial reporting process constitute
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disclosure. Hence, measurement and disclosure are two dimensions of reporting process and
these two aspects are interrelated. Together, they give corporate reporting its substance.
Corporate financial reporting is a series of activities that allows companies to record operating
data and report accurate accounting statements at the end of each month, quarter and year.
Bookkeepers record operating data by debiting and crediting financial accounts. Accountants
prepare financial statements in accordance with corporate policies, industry practices and
regulatory guidelines.
Corporate financial reporting is an important function because it enables organizations to
present accurate accounting statements. Within a corporate context, financial reporting covers
set of accounting data which include
1. Balance Sheet (or statement of financial position).
2. Profit & Loss Account (or statement of earnings or income statement).
3. Cash Flow Statement (or statement of cash flows).
Balance Sheet
A corporate balance sheet is also known as a statement of financial condition or statement of
financial position. It provides information about a company‟s assets, liabilities and equity
capital. Assets are economic resources that a company owns. Liabilities are debts an
organization must repay. Equity capital represents funds that financial market participants
invest in a company.
Income Statement
An organization‟s income statement is an important report on which investors, financial
analysts and corporate business partners rely to gauge a company‟s economic health. A treasure
trove of corporate information, this statement provides data on a firm‟s expenses and revenues,
indicating whether the firm is profitable or not. A company‟s business partners include
suppliers, customers and lenders.
Cash Flow Statement
A cash flow statement indicates liquidity movements within a company‟s operations. In other
words, the report tells the tale of the company‟s cash payments and receipts over a period of
time. The statement indicates (in this order): cash flows from operating activities, cash flows
from investing activities and cash flows from financing activities.
These three financial statements, augmented by footnotes and supplementary data (often
referred to as „Notes on Accounts‟ or „Notes to the Accounts‟ in Pakistan) are intended to
provide relevant, reliable and timely information essential for making investment, credit and
similar decision. Such financial statements are called general purpose financial statements.
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It may be mentioned that the term financial reporting is not restricted to information
communicated through financial statements. Financial reporting includes other means of
communicating information that relates, directly or indirectly to the information generated
through accounting process. Information provided by means of financial reporting other than
financial statements may take various forms and relate to various matters. Communication by
means of financial reporting other than a formal financial statement is made due to regulatory
requirements or customs. In a few occasions, management may communicate any matter
voluntarily when it considers such communication is useful to the stakeholders outside the
enterprise. Publication of unaudited financial results, news releases, management forecasts and
description of future plans are example of reports that are provided outside the general purpose
financial statements.
2.2. Users of Financial Statements: Different classes of user‟s financial information for different
purposes. Identification of the users and their classes is necessary in order to determine the
purposes for which they use information. Identification of users helps in defining user group
characteristics which influence both the specific type of information to be presented and the
manner of presentation.
According to Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements the users
of financial statements include present and potential investors, employees, lenders, suppliers
and other trade creditors, customers, governments and their agencies and the public.
The common characteristic of external users in their general lack of authority to prescribe the
information they want from a company. It is also observed that some users have more resource
and influence than others so that they can obtain more information about an enterprise than is
generally available to others. These privileged users include mangers, large scale equity
investors etc. These different users groups have different objectives and diverse information
needs. But, general purpose financial statements are prepared to meet the common needs of all
types of users. However, all of the information needs of these users cannot be met by such a
report. Multiplicity and conflicts of objectives of a wide variety of potential users for general
purpose reports make it difficult to design a single set of published statements that can
simultaneously provide all necessary information to all possible users.
Traditionally, investors (both existing and potential) are singled out as the dominant user group
of published financial statements. As providers of risk capital to the enterprise, investors need
more comprehensive information than other users. Conceptual Framework states that the
provision of financial statements, which meet the investor‟s needs, will also meet most of the
needs of other users. Also in practice, top priority is given to the information needs of the
investors while deciding what items of information should be disclosed in general purpose
financial statements.
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2.3. Objectives of Corporate Financial Reporting: Corporate financing reporting is not an end
in itself but is a means to certain objectives. There are debates regarding objective of financial
reporting. However, some consensus has been developed on the objectives of financial
reporting through the issuance of the conceptual framework. The conceptual framework
provides the conceptual basis for generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). It outlines
the characteristics accounting information must possess to be useful in investment and other
economic decisions. Like other standard setting bodies, of the Framework states that the
objective of financial statement is to provide information about financial position, performance
and cash flows of an enterprise that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic
decisions. The Framework specifies present and potential investors, employees, lenders,
suppliers and other trade creditors, customers, governments and their agencies and the public
as the users of financial statements.
In USA, the FASB has identified the following major objectives of financial reporting:
i.

ii.

iii.

iv.
v.
vi.

vii.

viii.

Financial reporting should provide information that is useful to present and potential
investors and creditors and other users in making rational investment, credit and similar
decisions.
Financial reporting should provide information to help investors, creditors, and other to
assess the amount, timing and uncertainly of prospective net cash inflows to the related
enterprise.
Financial reporting should provide information about the economic resources of an
enterprise, the claims to those resources (obligations of the enterprise to transfer
resources to other entities and owners‟ equity), and the effects of transactions, events
and circumstances that change resources and claims to those resources.
Financial reporting should provide information about an enterprise‟s financial
performance during a period.
The primary focus of financial reporting is information about an enterprise‟s
performance provided by measures of earnings and its components.
Financial reporting should provide information about how an enterprise obtains and
spends cash, about its borrowing and repayment of borrowing, about its capital
transactions, including cash dividends and other distributions of enterprise‟s resources
to owners, and about other factors that may affect an enterprise‟s liquidity or solvency.
Financial reporting should provide information about how management of an enterprise
has discharged its stewardship responsibility to owners (stockholders) for the use of
enterprise resources entrusted to it.
Financial reporting should provide information that is useful to managers and directors
in making decisions in the interest of owners.

Apart from investment decision making another objective of financial reporting is to provide
information on management accountability. Management accountability is a broad concept that
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encompasses stewardship. The accountability relationship may be created by a constitution, a
law, a contract an organization make, a custom or even by informal moral obligation. It is
considered that management of an enterprise is periodically accountable to the owners not only
for safekeeping of resources but also for their efficient and profitable use. Management
accountability objective mainly emphasizes reliability aspect of accounting information.
Accordingly, compared to relevance, verifiability through adequate documents, records and
system is considered dominant consideration for inclusion of any piece of information in the
financial statement.
Corporate financial reporting being user oriented and users‟ need of information being not
same, the role of accounting and financial reporting may vary from country to country. But,
financial reporting is central to the process of allocation financial resources in capital market.
Hence, primary purpose of providing useful information to all users, which help them in
decision making, is common in all countries.
2.4. Capital Market and Non – Financial Influences on Corporate Financial Reporting: Before
examining the financial reporting issue that are bringing complexities in reporting system, a
brief sketch the evolution of corporate disclosure may be helpful to understand the framework
of present corporate financial reporting.
Till the quarter of the twentieth century, financial reporting was confined to the stewardship
reporting, i.e., reporting of the wealth and income earned by the owners. With the growth in
size, companies need large sums of money to finance extensive productions and distribution
activities. Due to internal financial constraints, companies depend heavily on external capital
markets to finance the capital needs. However, investors are seldom in a position to observe on
a day – to – day basis, whether saving entrusted to the companies are utilized efficiently and
effectively. Hence, investors expect and are provided with an accounting for the stewardship of
monies entrusted to the company. Stewardship traditionally refers to the safe keeping of
resources and the execution of plans for conserving and utilizing them. Modern concept of
accountability of management extends beyond the element of stewardship and covers
performance based issues. The managers of the companies accept the accountability phase of
their stewardship, or at least recognize in self-interest that disclosure through financial
reporting process delegates part of the responsibility for assessing the financial status of the
company and its performance to the users of financial reporting but, with the growth of the
capital market, the central focus of financial reporting has been shifted from stewardship
reporting to decision – oriented financial reporting.
Further, the competition among the companies to obtain external financing at a relatively
cheaper rate has impact on corporate disclosure. Companies are now making expanded
disclosure to attract capital in domestic capital market and/or in international market and to
reduce the firm‟s cost of capital. There are various research studies that establish that increased
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firm disclosure has definite impact a firm‟s overall cost of capital. Such reduction of cost of
capital through expanded disclosure has linkage with the theory of behaviour of investors who
take investment decision under uncertainty. Increased disclosure in financial reports improves
the subjective probability distributions of a security‟s expected returns in the mind of an
investor by reducing the uncertainty associated with that return stream.
Thus, capital market influences are having a major role in sharing the nature of corporate
financing reporting that is now driven by the consideration of decision usefulness. The objective
of decisional usefulness has formally been incorporated into the conceptual frameworks for the
preparation and presentation of financial statements set out by the standard setting bodies of
different countries as well as by the International Accounting Standards Committee.
Apart from accountability to shareholders, there is a growing worldwide trend of holding
companies accountable to the public at large. Such a trend is responsible for changing the
disclosure practice of companies to a considerable extent. Such a movement is creating
companies aware about the disclosure needs of “non – financial shareholders” such as trade
unions (interested in terms of employment), government (interested in the macroeconomic
impact of operations of corporate sector) and general public (interested in social and
environmental impact of corporate actions). Voluntary reporting of employee information,
environmental information and other corporate social responsibility reports (e.g. social balance
sheet) are example of disclosure arising from non – financial influences. Corporate responses to
such expanded disclosure requirements are mixed. However, it is desirable that financial
reporting should cater needs of all type of users.
2.5. Qualitative Characteristics of Information in Financial Report: Information, which is
reported to facilitate economic decisions, should possess certain qualitative characteristics.
Qualitative characteristics are the attributes that make the information provided in the financial
statement useful to the users. Conceptual Framework earmarks four principal qualitative
characteristics viz., understandability, relevance, reliability and comparability. According to the
Conceptual Framework, materiality is not a principal qualitative characteristic. A piece of
information is considered to be material when its disclosure on non – disclosure would affect
decision or would make a difference in the valuation of the firm. But, in the Conceptual
Framework, materiality is considered as a threshold limit, which needs to be judged before
referring to any other qualities of any information provided in financial statements. If any piece
of information does not fulfill the threshold criteria, it need not be considered further.
2.5.1 Understandability: Information is annual reports should be presented in such a way that it
is readily understandable by users. Conceptual Framework states that the criterion of
understandability requires that the users have a reasonable knowledge of business and
economic activities, accounting, and a willingness to study the information with reasonable
diligence. It has also suggested that information, which is relevant to the economic decision
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making needs of users should not be excluded merely on the ground that it may be difficult for
certain users to understand.
2.5.2 Relevance: The concept of relevance is directly related to the decision making needs of
users. Information is said to be relevant if it can influence „the economic decisions of users by
helping them evaluate past, present or future events or confirming or correcting, their past
evaluation. It is suggested that all those items of information, which may aid the users in
making predictions or decisions, should be reported. Information, which does not assist users in
making decisions is irrelevant and hence, should be omitted. Thus, relevance is the dominant
criterion of taking decisions regarding information disclosure. Timeliness is an important aspect
of relevance. Information loses value rapidly in the financial world. As time passes and the
future becomes the present, past information became increasingly irrelevant.
2.5.3 Reliability: Reliability is another important characteristic of information disclosed.
Reliability of information is important to users because it influences their decisions. Reliability
encompasses representational faithfulness, verifiability and neutrality. Information is reliable if
it is free from material error and bias, and faithfully represents what it purports to present.
Information is reliable to the extent a user can depend upon it to represent the economic
conditions or events that it aims to represent. Being free from bias implies impartial
measurement and reporting by enterprise of tis events and transactions.
It is the responsibility of management to report reliable information in annual reports.
However, reliability of information differs from item to item. Some item of information
presented in annual reports may be more reliable than others.
Unfortunately, relevance and reliability are likely to be opposing qualities. For example, the
audit process increases the reliability of financial data, but timeliness and consequently,
relevance is worsened. Similarly, a conflict may arise in achieving the objectives or relevance
and reliability for certain pieces of information in the annual reports. It is argues that economic
decision making orientation of corporate financial reporting makes financial statements
oriented towards supply of relevant information that may be subjective or that may not be
amenable to objective scrutiny by the auditor. For example, some forecast data, like expected
growth in sales during the next three years, might be highly relevant for investment decision.
But this information is less reliable than historical figures of sales. In such a case, the
management should maintain a balance between these two qualitative characteristics.
Moreover, possibility of error in measuring business events may create difficulty in attaining a
high degree of reliability. However, adequate disclosure requires that users should be informed
about the data limitations and the magnitude of possible measurement error.
2.5.4 Comparability: The Conceptual Framework emphasizes that users must be able to
compare financial statements, of an enterprise through time in order to identify trends in its
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financial position, performance and cash flows, and of different enterprises in order to evaluate
their relative financial position, performance and cash flows. For this purpose, the measurement
and display of the financial effects of like transactions and other events must be carried out in a
consistent way. The Framework indicates that the important implication of comparability is that
users should be informed of the accounting policies employed in the preparation of financial
statement, any changes of those policies and the effects of such changes. For achieving
comparability, the Frameworks suggest compliance with relevant accounting standards
including the disclosure of accounting policies used by the enterprise.
2.6 Theories of Disclosure
2.6.1 Concept of Disclosure: The concept of disclosure is of great significance to the
accomplishment of the objectives of financial reporting. Financial reporting is the
communication of financial information of an enterprise to the external world.
The theory is that a fully informed consumer would more likely make better choices. Knowing
the true cost of everything would force consumers to be better educated and more informed.
Available disclosure literature suggests that disclosure is not only fundamental to financial
reporting but is, at the same time, its most qualitative aspect and the nature and extent of
disclosure needed in individual reporting situations is determinable only by expert professional
judgment. Disclosure standards and practices are influenced by legal systems, source of finance,
political and economic environments, education level and culture.
2.6.2 Motives Behind Disclosure: It is argued that competition for capital is the major
motivating force to disclose decision – oriented information to different user groups. Hence,
market force would ultimately shape the nature of corporate disclosure. Corporations not only
compete among each other in the capital markets but also attempt to obtain capital at a lower
cost. It is indicated by many researchers that there is relationship between a firm‟s capital cost
and its level of disclosure in its annual report. Due to such linkage and decision usefulness and
published financial statement, corporate financial reporting is perceived as a pre – requisite for
the growth of capital markets. Apart from stock market considerations, there are varieties of
considerations that may motivate management of a company to disclose information
voluntarily and not wait for mandatory requirements. Some of these important considerations
are:




Political costs consideration
Users‟ needs consideration, and
Ideological goal consideration.

Political costs consideration: Fines, penalties, potential public hostility toward the company are
the example of political costs. It is now recognized that political costs may play an important
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role in decisions relating to additional disclosure in the form of social and environmental
information. Disclosure of environmental information can be considered to reassure the public
or the regulating agencies that companies were concerned about the environment and were
doing everything possible to reduce the negative impact of their activities on the environment.
Users‟ needs consideration: Guthrie and Parker have argued that companies may disclose
social information to meet the stakeholders‟ demand for such information. The argument is
based on Users‟ Utility Model. Disclosure of additional information on a voluntary basis
depends on the users‟ needs, and how these needs are perceived by management of companies.
Ideological goal consideration: It has been argued that companies would be motivated to
disclose voluntarily additional information to serve their own political and ideological goals.
Such disclosure would be guided by companies‟ agenda, ideologies and goals which are likely
to be different for different companies even within the same industry. Consequently, disclosure
of such information will vary from company to company.
2.6.3 Basic Problems of Disclosure: In disclosing information, business enterprises, particularly
corporate entities, are confronted with certain basic problems, the solutions of which need
answers to the following questions:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.

Who are the users of information or from whom information should be disclosed?
What information should be disclosed?
How much information should be disclosed?
How should information be disclosed?
When should information be disclosed?

The first question requires identification of users of information. The second question needs the
identification of the purposes for which information will be used. The third question relates to
the problem of determining quantum of information. The fourth and fifth questions concern the
problems of deciding about the mode and timing of disclosure respectively.
Disclosure being the transmission of accounting measurement to the users group, corporate
entities views it as a major policy issue. As the disclosure of accounting information is not
costless, preparers of financial statement have to make judgments on the allocation of
accounting information among various users groups.
From regulator‟s standpoints, leaving the decision about disclosure in the hand corporate
management or market forces has not been viewed favorably. It is possible for management to
disclose information that is considered helpful to facilitate its external relations programmes
and still withhold certain pieces of vital information that is useful for decision making by the
users. Hence, greater control over corporate reporting is imposed whenever it is perceived that
there is failure to adequately respond to express information needs of different stakeholders.
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Thus, the scope of negative sanctions of regulatory controls over corporate disclosure increases
when users groups perceive that there are deficiencies on the part of companies in providing
adequate disclosure.
2.7 Role of Auditors: The audit of financial statements is a legal requirement. The audit
provides an external and objective check on the measurement and disclosure aspects of
corporate financial reporting. An auditor is appointed by the shareholders, but effectually his
appointment is subject to will of management or promoter group. Nevertheless, the auditor is
supposed to be independent of management and to serve the shareholders and other users of
financial statements. Although, Management is responsible for the preparation of financial
statement including the notes, the auditor through the auditor‟s report states whether financial
statement present fairly, in all material respects the financial position, the results of operations
and the cash flows for the accounting period. The auditor is responsible for seeing that the
financial statements issued conform to generally accepted accounting principles. Thus, the
auditor must agree that accounting policies adopted by the management is appropriate and all
estimates are reasonable. Any departure from generally accepted accounting principles
(including non – compliance with the measurement and disclosure requirements of the
accounting standards) would result in a qualified opinion. Auditor‟s report is an important
accompaniment of financial statements. Because of boilerplate nature (ie. Standard language) of
these reports, there is tendency to skep over them while analyzing financial statement.
However, such failure to give attention to the auditor‟s report may cause the user to miss
significant information.
2.8 Quality of Financial Reporting: Ideally, financial statements should reflect an accurate
picture of a company, its financial condition and performance. If the financial statements distort
economic reality, capital will be deployed sub – optimally; resources will be misallocated;
investors will pay a huge opportunity cost by investing in companies with unrealistic, inflated
values and better investment opportunities may get bypassed. Regulations on financial
reporting generally provides for penalties and other measures to deter accounting frauds.
However, it may be pointed out that management has considerable discretion within the overall
framework of generally accepted accounting principles. As result, there are scopes for
management to “manipulate” the accounts. Such manipulations mainly relate to management
of bottom-line (profit or loss) and commonly referred to an earnings management. For an
investor or a security analyst it is important to recognize that many opportunities exist for
management to affect the quality of financial statements. Hence, reported earnings may not best
represent economic reality or the future operating potential of a firm.
2.9 Mode of Financial Reporting: A number of documents and avenues of communication are
available through which companies provide information about its state of affairs to the external
users of such information, for example, annual report, interim report, employee report,
environmental report, communications with analysts, letters to shareholders and debt holders,
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question and answer sessions held at annual general meeting, telephone conversations,
speeches made by company officials at stock exchanges and so on.
Despite the existence of different sources of information, the annual report is regarded as the
most important source of information about a company‟s affairs.
A typical corporate annual report usually contains a balance sheet, profit and loss account, cash
flow and/funds flow statement, and directors‟ report. Besides, the details of information and
additional information are provided in the schedules and notes on accounts, which form parts
of financial statements. Annual report often contains useful supplementary financial and
statistical data as well as management comments. Many companies in Pakistan now include
Management Discussion and Analysis (MD & A) report, corporate governance report,
chairman‟s statement, historical summary, operating positions, highlights of important data etc.
3. Pakistan Financial Reporting System: Pakistan is a federal state with unitary bias. This is
perhaps why, unlike in the USA, there is no separate company law for any state in Pakistan.
Apart from professional regulation, corporate financial reporting in Pakistan is governed
primarily by one Central Ordinance i.e., the Companies ordinance, 1984. Another body that has
a major influence in reshaping Pakistan financial reporting is the Securities & Exchange
Commission of Pakistan (SECP). The companies‟ ordinance, 1984 prescribes the financial
reporting requirements for all the companies registered under it. The reporting requirements
that are imposed by the SECP through its Guidelines and through the Listing Agreement are in
addition to those prescribed under the Companies Ordinance. SECP requirements are to be
followed by the Companies listed on the Pakistan stock exchange. The companies‟ ordinance
and the SECP requirements together provide the legal frame work of corporate reporting in
Pakistan.
3.1 Role of the SECP: The SECP is the regulatory authority in Pakistan provides for
establishment of Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) with statutory
powers for
a) Protecting the interests of investors in securities
b) Promoting the development of the securities market and
c) Regulating the securities market.
Its regulatory jurisdiction extends over corporates in the issuance of capital transfer of
securities, in addition to all intermediaries and persons associated with securities market. SECP
has been obligated to perform the aforesaid functions by such measures as it think fit. In
particular, it has powers for



Regulating the business in stock exchanges and any other securities markets
Registering and regulating the working of stock brokers, sub – brokers etc.
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Promoting and regulating self – regulatory organizations
Prohibiting fraudulent and unfair trade practices
Calling for information, undertaking inspection, conducting inquiries and audits of the
stock exchanges, intermediaries, self – regulatory organizations, mutual funds and other
persons associated with the securities market.

SECP has used its power to order changes in listing agreement and such changes are
instrumental to bring about improvement in disclosure practices of listed companies in their
annual reports. Listing agreement is the standard agreement between a company seeking listing
of its securities and the exchange commission where listing is sought. Any stock exchange has
power to alter the clauses of listing agreement unilaterally, and companies listed with the
exchange are bond to accept such changes to enjoy the facility of listing. Thus, whenever the
SECP suggests any changes, it is incumbent on the listed companies to follow such a change. In
effect, the SECP has power to direct the listed companies to follow any changed disclosure
requirements.
SECP has imposed a number of disclosures and other requirements through this route. Some
important requirements are as follows:










Dispatch of a copy of the complete & full annual report to the shareholders
Disclosure on the Y2K preparedness level
Disclosure of Cash Flow Statement
Disclosure of material developments and price sensitive information
Compliance with Takeover Code
Disclosure of interim unaudited financial result
Disclosure regarding listing fee payment status and the name and address of each
stock exchange where the company‟s securities are listed
Corporate governance report
Compliance with Accounting Standards

The initiative to introduce the Cash Flow Statements (as a principal financial statement) in
Pakistan was taken by the SECP and it has used its power to direct all recognized stock
exchange to provides for a requirement of appending an audited Cash Flow Statement (CFS) as
a part of annual accounts. As per the SECP mandate, the requirement of providing a CFS is
mandatory for listed companies.
3.2 The Companies Ordinance, 1984: The Companies Ordinance, 1984 lays down the detailed
provisions regarding the maintenance of books of accounts and the preparation and
presentation of annul accounts. The Ordinance also prescribes the mechanism for issuance of
accounting standards. It specifies the roles and responsibilities of directors and also the matters
to be reported upon by them in the annual reports of the companies. Under the provisions of
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the ordinance, audit of annual accounts is compulsory for all companies registered under it. The
Ordinance extensively deals with the qualification, appointment, removal, rights, duties and
liabilities of auditors and provides contents of auditors report. In case of delinquency/default
by the management or auditor, penal provisions are prescribed. However, despite providing for
detailed requirements in respect of maintenance of books of account, preparation and
presentation of financial statements and audit of annual accounts, the main trust under the
Companies Ordinance is upon the presentation of a „true and fair view‟ of the state of affairs
and operating results of the reporting companies.
As the preparation of financial statements contained in annual reports presupposes the
existence of a recording procedure of transactions of the reporting entities, the requirements as
to maintenance of books of accounts are also mentioned.
3.2.1 Book of Account: The Companies Ordinance requires every company to maintain at its
registered office proper books of account with respect to the following:
a) All receipts and disbursements of money and the matters in respect of which the receipts
and disbursement take place;
b) All sales and purchases of goods of the company;
c) The assets and liabilities of the company
The Ordinance does not mention the name of the books of accounts but it clarifies that proper
books of account shall be deemed to be kept with respect to the specified matters, if, such books
give a true and fair view of the state affairs of the company or its branch office and explain its
transaction; and such books are kept on accrual basis and according to the double entry system
of accounting.
Additionally, if required by the Central Government, a company engaged in production,
processing, manufacturing or mining activities is also required to keep cost accounting records
i.e. accounts for utilization of raw materials, labour and other items of cost, as may be
prescribed by the Central Government.
Where a company has a branch office, whether in or outside Pakistan, the company should keep
at the branch office proper books of account relating to the transactions effected at that office.
The branch office should send proper summarised returns, made up to a date at intervals of not
more than three months, to the company at its registered office.
3.2.2 Statutory Recognition of Accounting Standards: Up to 1997 there was no statutory
backing of accounting standards in Pakistan. There was only professional requirement by the
ICAP, the standard – setting body in Pakistan for ensuring compliance of accounting standards
through audit function by its member. However, in the absence any statutory requirement of
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the observance of accounting standards on the management companies, compliance with
accounting standards was left to discretion of the management.
i.
ii.

Every Profit and Loss Account and the Balance Sheet of the company should comply
with the accounting standards
Where the Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet of the company do not comply
with the accounting standards such companies should disclose in its Profit and Loss
Account and Balance Sheet, the following, namely; a) The deviation from accounting standards
b) The reason for such deviation and
c) The financial effect if any, arising due to such deviation

For this purpose, the expression „Accounting Standards‟ means the Standards of Accounting
recommended by the Institute of Chartered Accountant of Pakistan (ICAP), as may be
prescribed by the Central Government in Constitution with the National Advisory Committee
on Accounting Standards (NACAS).
It has also been provided that until Accounting Standards are prescribed by the Central
Government, the standards of accounting specified by the ICAP shall be deemed to be the
Accounting Standards.
3.2.3 Concept of True and Fair: Generally, the phrase „true and fair‟ view signifies that the
financial statements should truly and fairly represent the actual financial position as at the end
of the accounting period and the profit or loss for that period. However, what is „true and fair
view‟ has not been defined in the Ordinance. It is negatively stated that the Balance Sheet and
the Profit and Loss Account of the Company should be deemed as not showing a true and fair
view, if they do not disclose any matters which are required to be disclosed by virtue of the
provisions or by virtue of a notification or an order of the Central Government notifying the
disclosure requirement. Thus, one of the tests for determining whether or not the financial
statements show a true and fair view is to check whether or not all relevant disclosure as
required under law have been properly made.
The phrase „true and fair‟ signifies that the auditor should give an opinion as to whether the
financial statements represent fairly the actual financial position as at the end of the accounting
period and the profit or loss for that period. In this context, it may be noted that the disclosure
requirements as laid down by law are the minimum requirements. Hence, if certain information
is vital for showing a true and fair view, the financial statements should disclose it, even though
there may not be a specific legal requirement for doing so. What constitutes a true and fair view
is, thus, a matter of an auditor‟s judgment in the particular circumstances of case.
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In effect, thought he Pakistan Companies Ordinance imposes responsibility primarily on the
management to present a true and fair view of accounts, ultimately, it is auditors who are to
judge and opine on the truth and fairness of the accounts.
3.2.4 Disclosure Requirements under the Companies Ordinance: Traditionally, corporate
enterprises in Pakistan have presented financial information through two financial statements,
namely, Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account (Income Statement). These are the two
primary statements that have been prescribed and their contents have been laid down by the
Companies Ordinance in Pakistan. A majority of Pakistan companies are now required to
present a Cash Flow Statement as a principal financial statement and by giving recognition to
accounting standards, the Companies Ordinance, 1984 indirectly endorses such presentation.
The Ordinance requires that at every annual general meeting, the Board of Directors of the
company should place before the companyi.
ii.

A Balance Sheet as at the end of the financial year; and
A Profit and Loss Account for the financial year

Thus, the primary responsibility for preparation of financial statements and the laying of the
same before the company at the annual general meeting is upon the directors of the company.
However, they can entrust this duty to some other competent and reliable person who is in a
position to discharge it
A part form Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Account, a lot of financial and non – financial
information is required to be disclosed by the companies registered under the Companies
Ordinance.
Mandatory information which is required to be disclosed in the corporate annual reports either
by virtue of the provisions contained in the Companies Ordinance, 1984 alone or by virtue of
such provision read with the provision of applicable accounting standards may be grouped
under following heads:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.

Balance Sheet
Statement of Profit and Loss
Narrative Disclosure
Cash Flow Statement
Supplementary Statements
Auditors Report
Directors‟ Report

3.2.4.1 Balance Sheet: The Companies Ordinance requires that every Balance Sheet of a
company shall give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company as at the end of the
financial year. It shall be in the form set out in Part 1 of the Schedule VI, or as near that as the
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circumstances permit. In preparing the Balance Sheet, the prepares should follow the general
instruction for preparations of Balance Sheet under the heading „Notes‟ at the end of the
aforesaid Part.
Part I of Schedule VI to the Companies Ordinance provides the form and contents of the
Balance sheet. The vertical form of Balance Sheet provides for two main heads, namely,
I.
II.

Equity and Liabilities and
Assets.

Four major sub – groups under the head Equity and Liabilities are:
i.
ii.
iii.

iv.

Shareholders‟ Funds requiring details to be given separately in respect of (a) Share
Capital (b) Reserve and Surplus and (c) Money received against share warrants;
Share application money pending allotment;
Non – current liabilities requiring details to be given separately in respect of (a) Lond
term borrowing (b) Deferred tax liabilities (net) (c) Other long term liabilities and (d)
Long term provisions; and
Current liabilities which covers (a) Short term borrowings (b) Trade payables (c) Other
current liabilities and (d) Short term provisions.

Assets has further been classified as
a) Non – current assets with separate details for
i.
Fixed assets (tangibles, intangibles, capital work – in – progress and intangibles
under development)
ii.
Non – current investments
iii.
Deferred tax assets (net)
iv.
Long term loans and advances and
v.
Other non – current assets and
b) Current assets with separate details form
i.
Current investments
ii.
Inventories
iii.
Trade receivables
iv.
Cash and cash equivalents
v.
Short term loans and advances and
vi.
Other current assets.
General instructions for preparation of the Balance Sheet are contained in the „Notes‟ appended
to the form of Balance Sheet. The information required to given under any of the items of the
Balance Sheet may be given separately in notes to accounts to be annexed thereto, which also

Page | 19

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

form a part of the Balance Sheet. The figures of the previous year are required to be shown
along the figures of the current year.
3.2.4.2 Statement of Profit and Loss: Like Balance Sheet, every Profit and Loss Account of a
company is required to exhibit a true and fair view of the profit or loss of the company for the
financial year. The Profit and Loss Account is required to be prepared as per the requirements.
Like Balance Sheet, Profit or loss is also prepared in the vertical form (in which items of income
are shown first and items of expenses are reported as deduction there form) as prescribed. The
main advantage of the vertical form of presentation is that it makes the Balance Sheet and Profit
and Loss Account easily understandable to the users who may not have a basic knowledge of
accounts.
The Profit and Loss Account has to disclose every material feature, including credits or receipts
and debits or expenses in respect of non – recurring transactions or transactions of an
exceptional nature. Accounting Standard 5 on Net Profit or Loss for the Period, Prior Period
Items and changes in Accounting Policies states that when items of income and expense within
profit or loss from ordinary activities are of such size, nature or incidence that their disclosure is
relevant to explain the performance of the enterprise for the period, the nature and amount of
such items should be disclosed separately, also requires earnings per share to be given at the
end of the Statement of Profit and Loss.
The detailed information in respect of various items can be given separately in notes to
accounts, which then form part of Statement of Profit and Loss. As in the case of Balance Sheet,
corresponding amounts for the immediately preceding financial year for all items shown in the
Statement of Profit and Loss should also be given.
3.2.4.3 Narrative Disclosures: The narrative disclosures that are contained in published
company accounts embrace both qualitative and quantitative information. In most cases
narrative disclosure are presented in textual form wherein more emphasis is laid on works than
on figures. Although most of the narratives disclosed in published company accounts relate to
the items of basic financial statements, there are certain narrative disclosure, which focus on
thing that are not related to financial statement items.
In Pakistan requirements as the narrative disclosures stem from the provisions of the
Companies Ordinance and that of the accounting standards. These requirements are discussed
under the following two broad heads:
A. Accounting Policies
B. Notes on Accounts
A. Accounting Policies: Accounting Policies often contain a large volume of narratives that
have a significant bearing on the financial health and performance of the company. Accounting
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Standard 1 on Disclosure of Accounting Policies issued by the ICAP deals with the disclosure of
significant accounting policies followed in the preparation and presentation of financial
statements. The purpose of this standard is to promote better understanding of financial
statements by ensuring the disclosure of significant accounting policies in the financial
statements in an orderly manner. Such disclosure would also facilitate a more meaningful
comparison between financial statements of different enterprises.
According to this standard, going concern, consistency and accrual are fundamental accounting
assumptions that underlie the preparation and presentation of financial statements. It
specifically requires that if a fundamental accounting assumption is not followed, the fact
should be disclosed.
The standard stipulates the following:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

v.

All significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation and presentation of
financial statements should be disclosed.
The disclosure of the significant accounting policies should from part of the financial
statements.
The significant accounting policies should normally be disclosed at one place.
Any change in the accounting policies which has a material effect in the current period
or which is reasonably expected to have a material effect in later periods should be
disclosed in the year of such change.
In the case of change in accounting policies that has a material effect in the current
period, the amount by which any item in the financial statements is affected by such
change should also be disclosed to the extent ascertainable. Where such an amount is
not ascertainable, wholly or in part the fact should be indicated.

Though this standard provides general guidance for disclosure of significant accounting
policies, it has not stated which ones constitute significant accounting policies. However, a
number of accounting standards issued by the ICAP specifically require disclosure of certain
accounting policies. Extracts from an annual report is given in Appendix and that extracts
include disclosure of accounting policies.
B. Notes on Accounts: The section titled “Notes to the Accounts” or “Notes on Accounts”
contains sizeable data. Notes on Accounts are integral part of the financial statements. Some of
the disclosures make under Notes on Accounts are in fact the extensions of the items of the
basic financial statements. While other notes may provide additional information. Disclosure
through notes is done either to comply with statutory requirements or the company may
voluntarily choose to provide details on certain items. Such notes provide information about the
accounting methods, assumptions and estimates used by management to develop the data
reported in the financial statement. Following are the mandatory disclosure requirements,
which may be presented under Notes on Accounts:
Page | 21

Financial and Corporate Reporting

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
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Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitment;
Disclosure related to Small Scale Industrial Undertakings;
Managerial Remuneration;
Statement Showing Computation of Net Profits for Managerial Remuneration;
Payments to the Auditors;
Quantitative Information Relating to Capacity and Production;
Value of Imports etc.;
Earnings and Expenditure in Foreign Currencies;
Prior Period Items;
Extraordinary Items;
Government Grants;
Amalgamation;
Related Party Transaction;
Lease;
Disclosure of Internet in Joint Ventures;
Disclosure of Earning Per Shares;
Disclosure of Taxes on Income;

3.2.4.4 Cash Flow Statement: The Companies Ordinance, 1984 in Pakistan does not make any
specific requirement for the preparation and presentation of a Cash Flow Statement as it does in
the cases of Balance Sheet and Profit and Loss Accounts.
In a cash flow statement, cash flows are required to be classified in terms of the activities
generating them. As prescribes three types of activities that generate cash flows for an
enterprise. These are:
i.
ii.
iii.

Cash flow generated by operating activities;
Cash flows generated by investing activities; and
Cash flows generated by financing activities.

The standard prescribes two alternative methods for presentation of cash flows: direct method
and indirect method. The key difference in these two methods lies in their presentation of „cash
flow from operating activities‟. In the direct method, operating cash receipts and payments are
reported directly. Major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments are disclosed. In
the indirect method, cash flow from operating activities are reported by way of adjustments of
the reporting period‟s net profit disclosed in the Profit and Loss Account. Such adjustments are
made for
i.
ii.
iii.

The effects of transactions of a non – cash nature,
Any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash receipts or payments, and
Items of income or expense associated with investing or financing cash flows.
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Major classes of gross cash receipts and gross cash payments arising from investing and
financing activities are presented separately.
3.2.4.5 Supplementary Statements: Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Ordinance,
1984, holding companies are required to provide certain pieces of information in respect of tis
subsidiary(s) in a supplementary statement in their annual reports.
The following documents must be attached to the Balance Sheet of a holding company: a)
b)
c)
d)

A copy of the recent Balance Sheet of the subsidiary company (or companies);
A copy of the recent Profit and Loss Account of the subsidiary (or subsidiaries);
A copy of the recent report of the Board of Directors of the subsidiary;
A copy of the recent report of the auditors of the subsidiary (or subsidiaries).

The aforesaid documents have to be prepared in accordance with the requirements of this
ordinance. The information to be attached to the Balance Sheet of a holding company in respect
of subsidiary companies cannot be more than 6 months old.
In addition to these documents a holding company is required to provide the following
statements;
i.

A statement showing,
a) The extent of the holding company‟s interest in the subsidiary (or subsidiaries) at
the end of the financial year or of the last financial year of the subsidiary (or
subsidiaries);
b) The net aggregate amount of profits (after deduction of losses) of the subsidiary
(or subsidiaries) so far as they concern the holding company, separately for the
current financial year and for previous financial years. The profits have to be
segregated between profits already dealt with in the books of the holding
company and not so dealt with.

The term „profit‟ means profits of a revenue nature and earned after the date of the acquisition
of the shares by the holding company.
i.
ii.

iii.

Where the financial year of the subsidiary company does not coincide with the financial
year of the holding company, a statement showing the following:
Whether and to what extent there has been a change in the holding company‟s interest
in the subsidiary company between the end of the financial year or of the last financial
year of the subsidiary and the end of the holding company‟s financial year;
Details of any material changes which have occurred between the end of the financial
year or of the last financial year of the subsidiary company and the end of the financial
year of the holding company in respect of: a) The subsidiary‟s fixed assets;
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b) Its investments
c) The money lent by it; and
d) The moneys borrowed by it for any purpose other than that of meeting current
liabilities.
If for any reason the Board of Directors of the holding company is unable to obtain information
on the subject of revenue or capital profits, a report in writing to that effect should also be
furnished.
3.2.5 Disclosure Requirements under Listing Agreement and Other SECP Guidelines: The
disclosure requirements under the Listing Agreement for the presentation of annual reports by
listed companies are discussed below. Though there are some overlapping reporting
requirements for annual reports under the Listing Agreement and under the Companies
Ordinance, many requirements under the Listing Agreement supplement the requirements
under the Companies Ordinance for the listed companies.
3.2.5.1 Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and Directors‟ Report: Unlike the Companies
Ordinance, 1984, Listing Agreement does not provide any guidance for the preparation of
Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and the Director‟s Report to each shareholder. However,
a company may supply a single copy of the complete and full Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss
Account and the Directors‟ Report to shareholders residing in one household. But it must send a
statement containing the salient features of Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss and Auditors‟ Report
to all the shareholders in the same household and on receipt of request it shall supply the
complete and full Balance Sheet, Profit and Loss Account and the Directors‟ Report to any
shareholder residing in such household.
3.2.5.2 Cash Flow Statement: While the Companies Ordinance, 1984 does not make any specific
requirement for presentation of the cash flow statement in the annual reports of companies,
Listing Agreement specifically requires the preparation and supply of such statement. It
stipulates that cash flow statement should be prepared in accordance with the Accounting
Standard on Cash Flow Statement; it shall be presented only under the „Indirect Method‟.
3.2.5.3 Related Party Disclosure: Transaction between related parties may not be at arm‟s
length. Hence, companies are required to make appropriate disclosure in respect of such
transactions so that users of financial statements can make their own assessment. Such
disclosures have to be made in annual reports in compliance with the accounting standards on
Related Party Disclosure.
3.2.5.4 Disclosure to be made by holding Companies and Subsidiary Companies in respect of
Loans, Advances and Investments: Holding companies are required to disclose in their
separate financial statements, the amount at the year end, and the maximum amount during the
year, of loans/advances/investments outstanding in respect of the following. Similarly,
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subsidiary companies are also required to disclose in their financial statements, the amounts at
the year end, and the maximum amount during the year, of loans/advances/investments
outstanding in respect of the following:
a) Loans and advances in the nature of loans to holding company by name and amount
b) Loans and advances in the nature of loans to associates by name and amount
c) Loans and advances in the nature of loans where there is
 No repayment schedule or repayment beyond six years of
 No interest or interest below the rate (i.e., the prevailing bank rate)
d) Loans and advances in the nature of loans to firms/companies in which directors are
interested by name and amount.
3.2.5.5 Corporate Governance:
a) Management Discussion and Analysis Report: Management Discussion and Analysis
(MD&A) report is a very important document through which management of a
company can express its views and opinions on various aspects of a company like
performance, success for failure, future plan of the company, forward looking
information, etc.
The MD&A complements and supplements the financial statements, but does not form
part of the financial statements. The objective in preparing the MD&A should be the
improve the reporting company‟s overall financial disclosure by providing a balanced
discussion of the results of operations and financial conditions. Although originally
devised as a regulatory document to supplement financial statements, the MD&A
report has the potential to be a foundational and integrative business reporting
document that provides „forward – looking information‟.
The MD&A serves the laudable purpose of giving investors important disclosures about
a company‟s operations. Although this section contains useful information, investors
must heed caution, as the section is unaudited.
By virtue of the provisions contained in under the Listing Agreement, the company has
to provide a MD&A report to the shareholders. This report may be presented as part of
the directors‟ report or as an addition thereto. It should include discussion on the
following matters within the limits set by the company‟s competitive position:
i.
Industry structure and developments.
ii.
Opportunities and threats.
iii.
Segment – wise or product – wise performance.
iv.
Outlook.
v.
Risks and concerns.
vi.
Internal control systems and their adequacy.
vii.
Discussion on financial performance with respect to operational performance.
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viii.

Material developments in Human Resources/Industrial front, including number
of people employed.
b) Management‟s Report on Corporate Governance: The listed companies are required to
give a detailed compliance report on corporate governance in the separate section on
„Corporate Governance‟ in their annual reports. The report must specifically highlight
non – compliance of any mandatory requirements with reasons thereof and also the
extent to which the non – mandatory requirements have been adopted.
The company should obtain a certificate from the auditors of the company regarding
the compliance with the conditions of corporate governance as stipulated in this clause
and annex the certificate with the directors‟ report which is sent annually to all the
shareholders of the company.
4. Corporate Reporting Practices in Pakistan: There are few studies that deal with Pakistan
practices of corporate reporting. The Institute of Chartered Accountant of Pakistan has made
survey of corporate reporting practices in Pakistan from time to time. Other notable studies on
financial reporting in Pakistan. An analysis of the findings of these studies reveals that Pakistan
corporate reporting practices are coping with changing needs of the economy and the
compliance with statutory disclosure requirement is a general phenomenon. However, that
there are cases of non – compliance with mandatory disclosure requirements. Thus, there is
scope of improvement in since the ultimate responsibility of providing information to the users
rests on management. It may also be noted that there is a great amount of diversity in corporate
reporting. The quality of information provided by the big companies has improved
considerably and reports of some Pakistani companies are internationally competitive. With this
brief introduction, we discuss in the following section the current reporting practices of
Pakistani companies.
4.1 Published Financial Statement: Annual report is major vehicle through which Pakistani
companies are published their financial statements. Like companies of any developed counties,
Pakistan annual reports now include much more than the legal minimum requirements.
Regarding elements of annual reports, the following are most common:











Notice of annual general meeting
Chairman‟s report*
Summary of financial results*
The financial highlights for a number of years*
Director‟s report
Management discussion & analysis
Corporate governance report
Auditor‟s report on financial statements
Balance sheet
Profit and loss account
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Significant accounting policies
Schedules and notes accounts
Cash flow statement
Supplementary statement
Audited consolidated financial statement s
Information on human resources*
Corporate social report*
Environmental report*
Information on Brand/Intangibles*

The marked elements are provided voluntarily. Regarding last few items disclosure is limited to
large companies only.
4.2 Abridged form Balance Sheet: The Companies Ordinance, 1984 requires that a copy of
every balance sheet (including the profit and loss account, the auditor‟s report and every
documents required by law to be annexed or attached, as the case may be, to the balance sheet)
which is to be laid before a company in general meeting shall, not less than twenty – one days
before date of the meeting, be sent to every member of company (Sec. 158). Such balance sheet
may be called full version balance sheet.
5. Other Reports
5.1 Disclosure of Financial Information in Prospectus: Prospectus is an important offer
documents that is issued by a company for making public issue of securities. There are
requirements to disclosure certain important pieces of financial information relating to the
Issuer Company and group companies. The major aspects of disclosure of financial information
relates to reporting of audited profits and losses and assets and liabilities of the issuer company
for each of the five financial year immediately preceding the issue of the prospectus. The
requirements of the SECP Guidelines on audited financial statements are similar to Companies
Ordinance, 1984. Requirements of Companies Ordinance, 1984 are elaborated separately. Other
financial information that is to be provided in the prospectus includes.
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Capital structure of the company
Utilization of Issue Proceeds
Financial Information of group companies
Promise vis – a – vis performance
Accounting and other ratio to justify the basis of issue price. (Such ratio shall be based
on the financial statements prepared on the basis of Pakistani Accounting Standards)

It may be noted that abovementioned items are disclosed without any audit/review by
independent accountant.
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SECP Guideline, now allow an issuer company, if it so desires, to include in the offer document,
the financial statements prepared on the basis of more than one set of accounting standards
subject to disclosure of the material difference arising because of differences in the accounting
policies of two different accounting standards.
Requirement of the Companies Ordinance, 1984 regarding disclosure of financial information in
prospectus are discussed under two heads:
A. Auditor‟s report in prospectus
B. Accountant‟s report in prospectus
A. Auditor‟s report in prospectus: The Companies Ordinance, 1984 requires a report of
auditors of the company shall be included in prospectus.
If the company has no subsidiaries, the auditor‟s report shalla) So far as regards profits and losses, deal with the profits or losses of the company
(distinguishing items of a non – recurring nature) for each of the five financial years
immediately preceding the issue of the prospectus; and
b) So far as regards assets and liabilities, deal with the assets and liabilities of the company
on the last date to which the accounts of the company were made up.
If the company has subsidiaries, the auditor‟s report shallc) So far as regards profits and losses, deal with the company‟s profits and losses on
standalone basis and in addition deal eitheri.
As a whole with the combined profits and losses of its subsidiaries, so far as they
concern members of the company; or
ii.
Individually with the profits and losses of each subsidiary so far as they concern
members of the company, or, instead of dealing separately with the company‟s
profits and losses, deal as a whole with the profits and losses of the company,
and, so far as they concern members of the company, with the combined profits
or losses of its subsidiaries, and
iii.
So far as regards assets and liabilities, deal separately with the company‟s assets
and liabilities on standalone basis and in addition, deal eitheriv.
As a whole with the combined assets and liabilities of its subsidiaries, with or
without the company‟s assets and liabilities, or
v.
Individually with the assets and liabilities of each subsidiaries and shall indicate
as respects the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries, the allowance to be made
for persons other than members of the company.
B. Accountant‟s report in prospectus: The Companies Ordinance, 1984, specifies that an
accountant should report about the use of proceeds or any part of the proceeds raised by
issuing debentures or shares in his report. Any report by accountants mentioned in this
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schedule shall be made by accountant qualified under the ordinance for appointment as auditor
of a company and shall not be made by any accountant who is an officer or servant, or a partner
or in the employment of officer or servant, of the company or of the company‟s holding
company. However, the expression „officer‟ shall include a proposed director but not an
auditor. So an auditor of the company can make report on the matter of the company.
The accountant named in the prospectus in required reporting if the proceeds or any part of the
proceeds of the issue of shares or debentures are or are to be applied, directly or indirectly, in
the purchase of any business or any interest in any business. Business interest means
entitlement exceeding fifty per cent share either in the capital or in profits or losses or in both.
A report made by the accountant must cover the following:
i.
ii.

The profit or loss of the business for each or the 5 financial years immediately
preceding the issue of prospectus and
The assets and liabilities of the business at the last date to which the accounts of
business were made up, being the date not more than 120 days before the date of
issue of the prospectus.

The accountant is required to report if proceeds or any part there or raised by issue of shares or
debentures are or is to be used, directly or indirectly, in any manner that results in acquisition
or anything done is consequence there of or in connection therewith, that body corporate will
become a subsidiary of the company.
The report made by the accountant must cover;
i.
ii.

The profit or loss of the other body corporate for each of the 5 financial years
immediately preceding the issue of the prospectus and
The assets and liabilities of the other body corporate at the last date to which its accounts
were made up.

The said report shall:
a) Indicate how the profit or loss of the other body corporate dealt with by the report
would, in respect of the shares to be acquired, have concerned members of the company
and what allowance would have fallen to be made, in relation to assets and liabilities so
dealt with for holders of other assets, if the company had at all material times held the
shares to be acquired, and
b) Where the other body corporate as subsidiaries, deal with the profits or losses and the
assets and liabilities of the body corporate and its subsidiaries in the manner provided
in the relation to the company and its subsidiaries.
If the company has no subsidiaries, the report shall:
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a) So far as regards profits and losses, deal with the profits or losses of the company
(distinguishing items of non – recurring nature) for each of the five financial years
immediately preceding the issue of the prospectus; and
b) So far as regards assets and liabilities, deal with assets and liabilities of the company at
the last date to which the accounts of the company were made up.
The report shall either indicate by way of note any adjustments as respects the figures of any
profits or losses, or assets and liabilities dealt with by the report which appear to the persons
making the report necessary or make those adjustments and indicated that adjustments have
been made. If the company carries the business have only to be make up in respect, of 4 such
years, 2 such years or 1 such year, shall have effect as if references to 4 financial years
immediately preceding the issue of the prospectus cover a period of less than 5 years references
to the said 5 financial years shall have effect as if references to a number of preceding the issue
of the prospectus were substituted for references to the 5 financial years.
In nutshell, the accountant named in the prospectus, has to report on profit and loss account
and balance sheet of the company, if the proceeds raised by the issue of shares of debentures are
used or in intended to be used for purchase of any business, for purchase of subsidiary to the
company. The report should ordinarily cover profit or loss, assets and liabilities of such
subsidiaries also. Reporting of the profit or loss of the subsidiaries should be linked up to reveal
how far they concerned members of the company. Reporting of the assets and liabilities should
be lined up to reveal the allowance to be made for persons other than members of the company.
5.2 Unaudited Quarterly Results: All listed companies are now required to furnish unaudited
quarterly results in the prescribed proforma within one month from the end of the quarter to
the stock exchanges on which it is listed and publish the same within 48 hours of the conclusion
of the board meeting in at least one national newspaper and one regional language newspaper.
The quarterly results are to be prepared on the basis of accrual accounting policy and in
accordance with uniform accounting practices for all periods on quarterly basis. It incorporates
a statement of segment wise revenue; results and capital employed on Segment Reporting and
also comply with as on Accounting for Taxes on Income as regards measurement of the
requirements of deferred taxes.
6. The Conceptual Framework
IFRS provides a series of accounting rules that should enhance understandability and
consistency of financial statements. However, these rules cannot possibly cover every type of
accounting transaction that could ever happen.
To give guidance on what to do with situations that are not covered by a standard, the
Framework exists.
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The Framework document does not have the status of an IFRS and if there is any conflict
between the Framework and a specific provision in an IFRS, the IFRS prevails.
The Framework also provides an underlying logic for the development of new IFRS. This means
that each IFRS should define an asset or a gain in the same way, for example. This is a marked
difference from the historical tendency for accounting standards to be developed in a piecemeal
way, sometimes called a “patchwork quilt”.
The Framework document starts by discussing what characteristics financial information needs
to have and defining some of these key concepts.
KEY DEFINITIONS
Qualitative characteristics of financial information
Understandability

An essential quality of the information provided in
financial statements is that it is readily
understandable by users. For this purpose, users are
assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of
business and economic activities and accounting
and a willingness to study the information with
reasonable diligence.
However, information about complex matters that
should be included in the financial statements
because of its relevance to the economic decisionmaking needs of users should not be excluded
merely on the grounds that it may be too difficult
for certain users to understand.

Reliability

Comparability

To be useful, information must also be reliable.
Information has the quality of reliability when it is
free from material error and bias and can be
depended upon by users to represent
Users must be able to compare the financial
statements of an entity through time in order to
identify trends in its financial position and
performance
Users must also be able to compare the financial
statements of different entities in order to evaluate
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their relative financial position, performance and
changes in financial position.
Hence, the measurement and display of the
financial effect of like transactions and other events
must be carried out in a consistent way throughout
an entity and over time for that entity and in a
consistent way for different entities.
Elements of financial statements
All financial information, whether presented in the balance sheet (now called
statement of financial position”, profit statement or wherever is made up of
five elements of financial statements. These definitions are worth knowing
well, as their application comes up again and again in understanding IFRS.

Qualitative characteristics of financial information
Asset

A resource that is both controlled by an entity and is
expected to produce future economic benefits that
will flow to the entity.

Liability

A present obligation of the entity arising from past
events, the settlement of which is expected to result
in an outflow from the entity of resources
embodying economic benefits

Equity

The residual interest in the assets of the entity after
deducting all its liabilities.
Note: Assets – liabilities = equity = capital + reserves
This mathematical identity comes in very handy
when preparing group financial statements.

Income

Expenses

Increases in economic benefits during the accounting
period in the form of inflows or enhancements of
assets or decreases of liabilities that result in
increases in equity, other than those relating to
contributions from equity participants.
Decreases in economic benefits during the
accounting period in the form of outflows or
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depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities that
result in decreases in equity, other than those
relating to distributions to equity participants.
Recognition criteria
For an item to be recognised in the financial statements, it must pass the
recognition criteria (Framework, paragraph 83):




It meets the definition of one of the five elements of financial
statements, and
(If an asset) it is probable that any economic benefit it will generate
will flow to the entity, and
It can be given a monetary value with reasonable reliability.

True and fair view
This phrase is not defined by the IASB in any IFRS or the Framework
document, although it is a core concept. This is probably to allow a little
latitude in its interpretation between companies.
Broadly, it means that if an entity complies with all extant IFRS, then its
financial statements will give a true and fair view.
True tends to be more objective (e.g. did the reported transaction actually
happen?) and fair tends to mean neutral and unbiased. For example, an
allowance for doubtful debts cannot logically be described as true, since it‟s
an estimate and it involves opinion. It can, however, be described as fairly
stated.
Very exceptionally, it may be necessary for a reporting entity to depart from
the rules of IFRS in order to present a true and fair view. This is often called
the “true and fair override”. This is more likely to happen in very specialist
industries. Where this does happen, the reporting entity must report the
particulars, reason and financial effect of the failure to comply with IFRS.
This allows the reader to make up their own mind on whether the departure
from IFRS rules was necessary.
Valuation of assets and profit
For the paper exam, you need only a brief overview of the limitations of
historical cost accounting.
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Historical cost accounting has these principal advantages:




Relatively easy to understand;
Easy to audit;
Simple to apply.

In times of low inflation, this means that historical cost accounting works
well. However, in periods of higher inflation, or for transactions with a long
life (e.g plant with a 40 year life) it has some significant limitations, including:






Matching today‟s revenues with yesterday‟s costs, thus overstating
profit;
Giving out of date asset valuations;
Not recording gains where companies are able to hold net trade
payables (assuming the payables don‟t bear interest);
Comparatives are misleading, since not expressed in a stable
monetary unit;
Long-term apparent growth can be overstated, due to the
compounding effect of inflation.

Possible remedies include:




Inflation adjusting all figures in the SOCI to year-end values. This is
essentially what IAS 29 Hyperinflation requires where inflation
exceeds 100% over a three year period.
Adopting an alternative base of preparation of the financial
statements, such as operating capital maintenance.

Capital maintenance concepts
Capital maintenance means preserving the initial value of an investor‟s
investment. This is done using either the financial capital maintenance
concept, or the operating capital maintenance concept. Historical cost
accounting is the simplest form; being financial capital maintenance with no
adjustment for inflation.
Financial capital maintenance means preserving the general purchasing
power of an investor‟s initial investment. Adjustments will be made using the
general rate of inflation.
Operating capital maintenance means preserving the ability of the business
to continue trading at its current level.
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Inflation adjustments are specific to the industry in which it operates.
Current cost accounting (also known as “replacement cost accounting”) uses
this method of capital maintenance.

7. IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements
IAS 1 is a cornerstone accounting standard that includes:




Components of financial statements;
Core concepts;
True and fair override.

It is virtually certain to be tested in the exam.
Components of financial statements
A full set of IFRS financial statements comprises the following primary
statements (i.e statements that must be shown with equal prominence as each
other):






Statement of financial position (previously called balance sheet);
Statement of comprehensive income (comprising profit and loss
statement and statement of other comprehensive income);
Statement of changes in equity;
Statement of cash flows;
Comparative data for the previous year for each of the above.

In addition, secondary statements are required being notes that explain the
accounting policies and other significant explanations or useful “drill down”
information.
Question 2 of the exam is likely to require presentation of financial
statements from a trial balance with adjustments. A starting point in the
exam is to be able to produce a skeleton set of which financial statements are
required from memory.
It‟s therefore necessary to memorizes the formats on the following pages.
Core concepts
IAS 1 includes a number of core concepts, with some overlap with the
Framework document.


Fair presentation – fair, neutral description of transactions.
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Going concern – entity assumed to continue trading into the
foreseeable future.
Accruals (matching) basis of accounting – match costs with
associated revenues and items to the time period incurred.
Consistency of presentation – present similar transactions the same
way within the current year and year by year.
Materiality and aggregation – no need to present information about
immaterial transactions, but aggregate transactions with similar
characteristics instead.
Offsetting - offset as little as possible.
Frequency of reporting – normally annually but can be shorter if
necessary and certain disclosures made.
Comparative information – comparative information must be
provided and presented in such a way as to make comparison easy
(e.g use the same accounting policies in both years. This is further
developed in IAS 8).

True and fair override
Paragraph 23 of IAS 1 gives details of what to do in the “extremely rare” circumstance when
compliance with IFRS will fail to give a true and fair view.
This requires full disclosure of the particulars, reason and effect of the failure to follow all extant
IFRS.

8. Substance and IAS 18 Revenue
Substance over Form
The Framework document and IAS 1 both state that for information to be reliable, it must be
reported in accordance with its commercial substance, rather than strictly in adherence to its
legal form.
We have already encountered one example of substance over form in the context of finance
leases, where reporting entity records assets held under a finance lease in the SOFP, although
it‟s not owned by them.
In substance, the degree of control means it‟s “their” asset although legally it quite possibly
never is.
There are a wide range of transactions where identifying the true commercial substance may be
difficult. The most common types of transactions in the exam are:
 Inventory sold on a sale or return basis (“consignment inventory”)
 Debt factoring
 Loans secured on assets that will be repurchased.
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In order to reach a sensible conclusion in any substance over form scenario, it is necessary to
identify:
 What assets are in question?
 What are the intrinsic risks and rewards of holding that asset?
 Which party to the transaction is, on balance, more exposed to the risks and rewards of
that asset?
The asset with the greater exposure to risks and rewards recognises the asset on its SOFP.
If it involves initial recognition of an asset, this often generates recognition of a gain also.
IAS 18: Revenue
Revenue recognition is clearly a key issue in preparation of financial statements. The rules are
different depending upon whether a sale is for goods or for services.
This means that the first step in the exam is to identify whether a transaction is for goods or
services. If it‟s for a construction contract, follow the rules specifically of IAS 11.
Recognition of revenue: goods
 Recognise revenue when most of the more important inherent risks and rewards of the
goods have passed from the seller to the buyer.
 This might well be earlier or later than when legal title passes or when payment occurs.
Recognition of revenue: services
Recognise revenue as the costs of providing the service are incurred. Where a service is paid for
up front, revenue often must be deferred as a liability in the SOFP until the revenue is earned.
Valuation of revenue
If sales are made with long-term payment terms, recognise the sale and the receivable at its net
present value using an appropriate discount rate.
This then shows finance income over time.
Bundled sales
Where goods are sold with serviced bundled (e.g after-sales servicing for two years), then
unbundle into separate components.

9. Construction Contracts
Construction contracts
A construction contract is defined by IAS 11 as “a contract specifically negotiated for the
construction of an asset or a combination of assets that are closely interrelated or
interdependent in terms of their design, technology and function or their ultimate purpose or
use”.
Contracts often take a number of accounting periods to complete, with the contractor only being
paid a profit at the completion of the project.
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In the absence of IAS 11, contractors may show years of no profit, or losses, followed by a
bonanza year of profits at the completion of the project.
The aim of IAS 11 is fairly to match activity and profit over the life of the contract.
IAS 11 is focused on the profit and loss figures far more than the statement of financial position
figures.
IAS 11 does not apply to provision of services, nor is there any minimum length of the contact,
as long as it spans an accounting period.
The aim of IAS 11 is to strike an appropriate balance between imprudently recognising profits
before they are reasonably certain to be earned and mismatching costs and revenues with unfair
recognition of profits.
Summary of accounting treatment for construction contacts
The summary diagram below gives the scenarios that are likely to arise in the paper exam.

Estimating stage of completion
IAS 11 allows any reasonable method as an accounting policy choice for estimating the method
of completion. Common methods include:



Work certified
Total expected revenue
Costs incurred
Total expected costs

The most common method in the exam is the work certified basis.
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Approach
Step 1: Identify whether the contract is expected to be profit making or loss making, by looking
at expected total revenues and costs.
Step 2: Work out % completion.
Step 3: Take % completion x expected total revenues = cumulative recognised turnover on
contract
Step 4: Take % completion x expected total costs = cumulative recognised cost of contract
Step 5: For a loss making contract, add a provision for losses to costs to reach total expected
costs
Step 6: Complete SOFP figures, using proforma workings below (which are also disclosure
notes to the financial statements required by IAS 11).

10. Predictive Value
Financial statements are historical, which means that they are backward looking.
Since the return an investor obtains from holding a share (or continuing to hold a share rather
than selling it) comes from future returns rather than past returns, arguably historical data is of
little or no relevance to equity investor users.
A problem with estimates about future performance is that although they may be relevant to
users, they are unreliable. Conversely, historical information may be irrelevant, but it is reliable.
To try to solve this core dilemma in financial reporting, a number of disclosure based
accounting standards exist, which attempt to enhance the predictive value of the financial
statements.
Predictive value is one of the qualitative characteristics that make financial information useful
to users, according to the Framework document.
It is a concept of great importance and hence it silently underpins the logic of a number of
accounting standards.
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IAS 8
KEY CONCEPTS
IAS 8 gives regulation on the circumstances when comparative financial statements must be
restated and when they must not be restated, as well as how this is done and the associated
disclosure notes.
Restatement of previous period financial statements (i.e retrospective application) happens
when either:
 The previous year‟s financial statements are found to have contained a material
accounting error (see definition below), or
 When the reporting entity has changed its accounting policy.
Prospective application (i.e. no restatement of the previous period‟s financial statements)
applies where there is no accounting error, but instead a change to the accounting estimates.
KEY DEFINITIONS
An accounting estimate is an adjustment of the carrying amount of an asset or a liability, or the
amount of the periodic consumption of an asset, that results from the assessment of the present
status of, and expected future benefits and obligations associated with, assets and liabilities.
Changes in accounting estimates result from new information or new developments and,
accordingly, are not corrections of errors.
An accounting error is omissions from, and misstatements in, the entity‟s financial statements
for one or more prior periods arising from a failure to use, or misuse of, reliable information
that:
 Was available when financial statements for those periods were authorized for issue;
and
 Could reasonably be expected to have been obtained and taken into account in the
preparation and presentation of those financial statements.
Explanation to be provided
The disclosure requirements of IAS 8 are somewhat extensive, but at their core, the standard
requires transparent disclosure of the particulars, reason and effect of the restatement or
correction.
Financial statements presentation: retrospective application
IAS 8 requires that for both errors and changes in accounting policy, the previous period‟s
financial statements are restated.
This is done by restating the opening balances of assets, liabilities and equity for the earliest
prior period presented, or for the first period affected by an accounting error if it occurred
before the earliest period presented.

Page | 40

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

For example, companies may present two years of comparative financial statements rather than
the minimum of one. If there is a change in accounting policy, both comparative years will be
restated.
If there was an accounting error in the immediately preceding year, only that one year will be
restated.
IFRS 5: NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
KEY CONCEPTS
Purpose
Where an entity has discontinued part of its activities, then the value of those assets will not be
recovered through its own use, but rather from sale to a third party.
This means that the accounting rules for non-current assets become less suitable for those assets
than the accounting rules for inventory and current assets.
In order to maximise predictive value, it is necessary to separately identify the results that will
be expected to be disposed of, as well as separately show the profit or loss arising in the current
year from use of those assets.
IFRS 5 covers two largely different matters:



Disposal groups of non-current assets
Discontinued activities, e.g subsidiaries sold.

Disposal groups
 Paragraph 6: An entity shall classify a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for
sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather
than through continuing use.
 Paragraph 7: For this to be the case, the asset (or disposal group) must be available for
immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such assets (or disposal groups) and its sale must be highly
probable.
 Paragraph 8: For the sale to be highly probable, the appropriate level of management
must be committed to a plan to sell the asset (or disposal group), and an active
programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been initiated. Further,
the asset (or disposal group) must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is
reasonable in relation to its current fair value. In addition, the sale should be expected to
qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification
(unless circumstances beyond the entity‟s control extend this period to longer than one
year).
 Paragraph 15: An entity shall measure a non-current asset (or disposal group) classified
as held for sale at the lower of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
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Paragraph 17: When the sale is expected to occur beyond one year, the entity shall
measure the costs to sell at their present value. Any increase in the present value of the
costs to sell that arises from the passage of time shall be presented in profit or loss as a
financing cost.
Paragraph 25: An entity shall not depreciate (or amortise) a non-current asset while it is
classified as held for sale or while it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale.

Discontinued activities
Paragraph 32: A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been
disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and
 Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations,
 Is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations or
 Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale?
The effect of the above test is that not all discontinued activities are disclosed as discontinued
activities in the financial statements.
Minor discontinuations will normally simply be subsumed within the entity‟s continuing
activities.
Disclosures required (paragraph 33):
An entity shall disclose:
a) A single amount on the face of the income statement comprising the total of:
 the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations and
 the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or
on the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation.
b) An analysis of the single amount in (a) in the financial statements into a summarised
statement of comprehensive income for the discontinued activity:
 Revenue
 Expenses
 Pre-tax profit
 Income tax, split between current and deferred tax
 Gain or loss on measurement to fair value less cost to sell
 Net cash flows of the discontinued activity, split between operating, investing and
financing activities.
Comparatives (paragraph 34)
An entity shall re-present the disclosures in paragraph 33 for prior periods presented in the
financial statements so that the disclosures relate to all operations that have been discontinued
by the balance sheet date for the latest period presented.
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KEY KNOWLEDGE
EARNINGS PER SHARE
Many investors choose to value companies using techniques that include the price to earnings
(“PE”) ratio. This values a company‟s shares as a multiple of its current year earnings. It‟s
therefore necessary to have a standard methodology between companies for calculating
earnings per share.
Listed companies are required to disclose an EPS figure in their financial statements. Other
companies that choose to disclose an EPS figure must also follow the rules of IAS 33.
The basic calculation takes the maximum profit earned in the year that could be distributed to
ordinary shareholders and divides it by the number of shares.
This measures profit as the profit earned by the period after everything except ordinary
dividend.
In other words, profit after tax, non-controlling interests, and preference dividends.

Basic EPS =

Earnings before ordinary dividend
Ordinary shares in issue

Changes to ordinary shares in issue
This requires an adjustment to the number of shares in issue before calculating EPS.
A key concept to understand here is that there will normally be a link between the number of
shares in issue, the resources (net assets) available to management and the profits that can be
expected to be made from those assets.
Another key concept to understand is that profits are made throughout a year, where the
number of shares in the SOFP is a snapshot moment in time.
If shares were issued towards the end of the year, this would increase the denominator in the
EPS calculation, but would have little chance to increase profit. This needs to be adjusted for.
Only an issue of shares at full market price on the first day of the year would preserve the link
between profit and assets from which that profit is generated.
Adjustments to the number of shares in issue are therefore required for:
 Issues of shares part way through the year;
 Issue of shares at below full market price, since the assets per share (from which profit
is made) would be reduced compared with previous period. This may arise from a
bonus issue or a rights issue.
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The good news in the exam is that it‟s possible to be very mechanical in the calculation of EPS
figures. You are unlikely to have to explain them, though it helps to remember the technique if
you remember the reason why.
Weighted average number of shares
The weighted average number of shares is calculated for the year. This allows for adjustment of
the fact that if shares are issued half way through the year (for example), it would be impossible
for profits per share to increase before that date.
This is best worked out using a table with columns:
Date

Number of
ordinary
shares

Time

Inflation

Average

Devise your own mnemonic to remember these headings – it will save you time in the exam.
Rights issues
For commercial reasons, rights issues are priced below current market price. In large
companies, virtually all large new issues of shares will be rights issues rather than issues at full
market price.
A rights issue brings in some cash, but will still reduce the assets per share. To work out the
inflation effect of shares/ assets, it‟s necessary to work out the assets behind each share before
and after the rights issue. This is referred to as the theoretical ex-rights price (TERP). This works
out the net assets (including goodwill) of each share before and after the rights issue, since the
rights issue will reduce the net assets, and therefore earnings potential, of each share.
DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Diluted EPS is a warning to investors of what might happen to EPS in the future, based upon
what might happen to the number of shares in issue.
At the year end, the company may have created obligations for itself to have to issue ordinary
shares at a future date. These are called “potential ordinary shares”. They exist where there is
an obligating event at the year end to issue ordinary shares to a third party in the future, if the
third party demands them. Examples of potential ordinary shares are:
 Directors‟ share warrants/ options;
 Convertible bonds;
 Preference shares that the holder can convert to ordinary shares.
In each case, a warning needs to be given to investors of what effect the issue of new shares
might have on EPS, assuming that future year‟s EPS is the same as the current year‟s EPS. If
diluted EPS is worse than basic EPS, it must be disclosed.
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Method:
 Calculate basic EPS as normal, as this is the foundation for the diluted EPS figure;
 Identify all obligations at the year-end that could give potential ordinary shares (this is
easy in the exam as they are always given to you);
 Calculate the effect on earnings and the effect on the number of ordinary shares if the
potential ordinary share is actually issued;
 Work out diluted EPS as the “worst case outcome” using all potential ordinary shares.
Diluting factor
Warrants

Impact on earnings
None

Convertible bonds

Increases profits by
the post-tax interest
saved by the bonds
no longer existing
Saves
the
preference Increases the number of ordinary shares in
dividend (which is not tax issue by the number of ordinary shares
deductible).
created on the conversion

Convertible
preference shares

Impact on number of shares
Calculates the number of free shares
issued.
These are infinitely diluting. Uses the logic
that shares issued below market price are
in
substance two things:
 Shares at full market price, which
give no unusual features, and
 Free shares attached to the shares
issued at full market price. These
free shares will be infinitely
diluting.
Increases number of shares in issue by the
number that will be issued upon
conversion

11. IAS 16, 20, 23, 38, 40 Non-Current Assets
Non-current assets are assets that give benefits over more than one period. Before studying this
chapter, ensure that you are happy with the Framework definition of an asset and the
recognition criteria, as they will make all of these rules easier to remember.
Pay particular attention to the definition of an asset including:
 Control of that asset
 An inflow of benefit to the reporting entity being expected.
If no inflow can be reasonably proven, no asset exists (or the asset has an impaired value).
IAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment comprise tangible non-current assets that a business uses in the
course of its own business. It excludes investment property.
As a non-current asset, it also excludes any assets that are expected to be realised for cash
within the current accounting period. This would be inventory or assets held as part of a
disposal group (IFRS 5).
Page | 45

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

Initial recognition/ classification
Recognise when an entity has control over the asset, not necessarily ownership. This complies
with the Framework definition of an asset and also enables assets held under finance leases to
be shown as property, plant and equipment.
It is common for sub-components of a single non-current asset to be unbundled into separate
non-current assets where each has a materially different useful life.
Initial valuation
All costs directly attributable. This includes site preparation, irrecoverable import taxes,
inwards delivery charges, professional fees, attributable borrowing costs (IAS 23, below). It
excludes training costs, any abnormal costs in installation.
Include in initial valuation
(Dr Non-current asset)




they will
capacity

Transaction costs on purchase, e.g
legal fees
Borrowing costs incurred, if this is
the policy under IAS 23
Inwards delivery costs



Import
duties,
purchase taxes



NPV
of
unavoidable
future
decommissioning costs under IAS 37

irrecoverable

not

enhance

earning



Installation and assembly costs,
including site preparation costs



Any costs that will maintain current
earning capacity of the asset rather
than
improve
its
intrinsic
characteristics (e.g. maintenance
costs)

Exclude from initial valuation
(Dr Expenses)


Training costs



Initial inefficiencies and losses
during “run in”
Administration or general overhead
costs
Costs giving benefit for one year or
less only






Any costs due to abnormal losses in
purchase, delivery or production as
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Write-off period
Depreciate the asset so that the pattern of depreciation charges match the income stream
generated.
Review useful life periodically. Depreciation is not aimed at showing market value of assets in
the SOFP, but only at matching costs and benefits as closely as possible.
Any change in depreciation method (e.g. from straight line to diminishing balance or sum of
digits depreciation) is treated as a change in accounting estimates rather than a change in
accounting policy (IAS 16:51).
Impairments
Recognise any losses in profit, unless to reverse any previous upwards revaluation shown in
equity. See notes on IAS 36 impairments.
Revaluation
The default accounting policy is simple historical costs. If choose to revalue a non-current asset:
 Must revalue all property, plant and equipment in the same class
 Must keep up to date, generally annually
 Must disclose details of valuation, which may be done by the directors
 Cannot return to historical costs later
 Will charge depreciation on the higher revalued figure
 Common to make an annual transfer from revaluation reserve to retained earnings of
the difference between deprecation on revalued amount and depreciation on historical
costs.
 Eventual gain on disposal likely to be lower, as carrying value on derecognition will be
higher (see below).
Enhancements
Further costs must be added to the asset‟s value if the cost enhances the earnings generating
potential of the asset above its original specification, e.g. upgrade of a server‟s memory
capacity. Other cost (e.g. repair of hardware) must be expensed immediately.
Disclosures (IAS 16:73)
The financial statements shall disclose, for each class of property, plant and equipment require
a reconciliation for each major class of assets for the start of year figure to end of year figure,
including:
 Cost/ valuation of each class of assets
 Accumulated depreciation
 Carrying value.
This will explain all movements between opening and closing carrying value of each major class
of assets.
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Borrowing costs: IAS 23
Finance costs must be added to the initial value of the asset if directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset.
This can include a fair weighted average of general company finance costs.
Must write off finance costs incurred during periods of extended stoppage when no
construction work takes place
Must write off once the asset is ready for use, even if not brought into use on that date
Other borrowing costs must be written off as an expense.
Profit or loss on disposal of any non-current asset
Proceeds (what is coming into the SOFP in the transaction)
Less: Carrying value derecognised (what leaves the SOFP)
Profit or loss on disposal (the increase or decrease in net assets)

X
(X)
X

IAS 38: Intangible Assets
There are broadly three categories of intangible non-current asset covered by IAS 38, each of
which has its own accounting rules.
Summary of accounting treatments of three types of asset:
Research &
Goodwill
development
Initial recognition Research costs always Internally generated
written off as incurred.
goodwill (positive
Development
costs or negative) never
capitalized if reasonably recognised.
certain of future benefits Purchased goodwill
using
RAT
PIE recognised as an
mnemonic (see below).
asset.
Negative
goodwill written off
immediately as a
credit to profit.
Initial valuation
Costs
incurred, See
goodwill
including
transaction calculation.
costs.
Based on fair value
of
consideration
paid less fair value
of
net
assets
acquired.
Transaction
costs
written
off

Other intangible
non-current assets
If expected to give an
inflow of benefit and
separately identifiable
from goodwill. Key test
is whether the entity has
control
over
the
purported asset.

Costs
including
costs.

incurred,
transaction
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Amortisation
period

Expected useful life,
which must be revised
annually.
Costs
to
match
period
of
expected benefit.

Upward
revaluation
possible?

No, unless reversing a
previously recognised
impairment loss (see

Impairment loss
recognition

Recognise impairment
losses using normal
rules of IAS 36, i.e. if an
event
suggests
impairment.
Possible,
if
can
demonstrate
the
estimates
of
the
impairment loss are
now not likely to
happen.
None.

Reversal of
impairment losses

Allowed
alternative
presentations

ICPAP

immediately
to
profit or loss.
Do not amortise.
Instead,
test
annually
for
impairment.
Goodwill has a finite
but indefinite life.
Never.

Over period of expected
benefit to residual value.
May not be straight line.

Yes, but only if revalued
amount is reliable, by
obtaining the valuation
from an “active market”
(see below).
Test for impairment Recognise impairment
annually.
losses using normal
rules of IAS 36, i.e if an
event
suggests
impairment.
Never.
Possible,
if
can
demonstrate
the
estimates
of
the
impairment loss are
now not likely to
happen.
Can elect to present None.
as
gross
or
proportionate
goodwill.

Initial recognition/ classification
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance. This can
include the right to use a tangible asset. So premiums paid to acquire services of a person (e.g.
transfer price of a sports player) are intangible assets.
Goodwill is an example of an intangible asset. Identifiable means that the asset can be seen as
separate from the business as a whole, in contrast to goodwill.
An intangible is recognised once it meets the definition of an asset, which means that it‟s
controlled by the entity and it‟s reasonably expected to generate a positive inflow of benefit.
So intellectual property (knowledge generally known) is not controlled by an entity and is not
an intangible. Intellectual property rights are controlled by the entity (e.g. patent) and so may
be recognised. It includes development costs, brands, licenses, patents, etc.
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Research costs are written off as incurred as they either are not controlled by the entity or are
not sufficiently certain to generate future benefits.
Paragraph 57 of IAS 38 gives the test for deciding if an expenditure is research (write off) or
development (treat as an asset). Expenditure is development cost if (mnemonic RAT PIE):







Resources are adequate to complete the project
Ability to complete
Technically feasible
Probable economic benefit (i.e. expected to be profitable)
Intend to complete the project
Expenditure on the project can be separately recorded.

An intangible asset may be acquired by an entity individually, or may arise as a result of a
business combination (i.e goodwill in group accounting).
Initial valuation
All costs directly attributable. Similar rules to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment.
If negative goodwill arises on a business combination, first check all the figures in the
calculation. If all the figures appear to be correct, recognise immediately in profit as income.
Note the different treatment of transaction costs in the determination of goodwill‟s initial value
(i.e. write them off) and other intangibles (i.e. include them in the initial value).
Write-off period
For intangible assets with a definite (i.e. known) life, such as patents: similar rules to IAS 16,
Property, Plant and Equipment.
For intangible assets with an indefinite (i.e. unknown) life, such as goodwill, do not amortise,
but test annually for impairment.
All intangible assets have a finite (i.e limited) useful life.
Impairments
Recognise any losses in profit, unless to reverse any previous upwards revaluation shown in
equity. See notes on IAS 36 impairments.
Revaluation
The default accounting policy is simple historical costs. If an entity chooses to revalue a noncurrent asset, there are similar consequences as for IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.
Intangible assets can be revalued upwards only by reference to a market value in an active
market. Paragraph 8 of IAS 38 defines an active market as:
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The items traded in the market are homogeneous
Willing buyers and sellers can normally be found at any time; and
Prices are available to the public.

It is common for intangible assets to be unique or at least very distinctive (i.e. not homogenous)
or for the market in them to be shallow.
Active markets in intangibles are therefore rare so it is rare for intangibles to be revalued
upwards. Goodwill relating to a business is unique, so can never be revalued upwards.
Enhancements
Further costs must be added to the asset‟s value if the cost enhances the earningsgenerating
potential of the asset above its original specification, e.g. upgrade of some software so that it is
now able to generate revenues that previously would not previously have been accessed by the
entity. Other cost (e.g. repair of hardware) must be expensed immediately.
IAS 40: Investment Property
An investment property is a physical property owned by the entity, where the principal
purpose of holding it is to generate a return from rental yield or appreciation in value over time.
It can include part of a building as well as an entire building.
It may include assets held under both finance leases or operating leases. For example, a long
lease on freehold land will presently be classified as an operating lease, but may have been
taken out with the expectation of making a long-term gain when the lease is assigned to a third
party or subleased to a third party.
Self-constructed assets may qualify as investment property, if the intention is to hold onto that
building for longer-term investment return.
If the intention is to sell the asset upon completion, it is long-term inventory.
Investment property cannot include any properties that are occupied by the reporting entity
itself, whether for production, supply of services or administrative purposes.
The recognition criteria are those of the Framework and the initial valuation is much the same
as for IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment.
The initial valuation is cost, including transaction costs necessarily incurred. Costs must exclude
any startup costs, initial operating losses or abnormal losses during construction.
It may include borrowing costs capitalised under IAS 23.
Investment property held under finance leases may be capitalised at the lower of:
 NPV of minimum lease payments and
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 Fair value at the recognition date.
This is consistent with the asset recognition rules of IAS 17 Leases.

Where an entity chooses the fair value model as its accounting policy, this must be applied to all
investment properties. If a particular investment property‟s fair value cannot be measured
reliably, then these treatments must be followed:
 If during period of construction: recognise the costs incurred until complete, when
revalue to open market “exit value”.
 If complete: It should be exceptional that a fair value cannot be determined. This is
normally open market value in an active market. If this is not possible, the NPV of net
cash inflows expected from the property.
If this is impossible, then for this particular property, the cost model is used until the
derecognition of the property, but the entity must assume the investment property‟s residual
value to be zero (IAS 40:53).
If the accounting policy for all investment properties is the cost model, the zero residual value
assumption does not need to be made.
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IAS 20: Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance
Government grants are infrequently examined, but when they are, they tend to arise in the
context of acquisition of non-current assets so IAS 20 is included in this chapter of these
ExPedite notes.
Government grants may relate to other transactions however.
Where government or a quasi-government body, grants assistance to an entity, it will be
necessary to disclose this government assistance so that the true cost of assets and expenses is
transparently disclosed.
Failure to show the gross presentation (true cost, less government grant to reduce true cost) will
give a misleading impression of sustainable profit and so compromise predictive value.
IAS 20 allows the net presentation on the financial statements for either grant to assist with
purchase of assets or to assist with current period expenses, but a gross-up disclosure must then
be made in the notes to the financial statements.
Recognition of government grants
Grants are recognised when it is reasonably certain that the benefits they embody will be
received by the reporting entity. Until they are reasonably certain, they are contingent assets.
The core logic is this: government grants shall be recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the entity recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate (IAS 20:12).

Note that grants received will always pass through profit or loss. It is not permissible to treat
government grants received as directly through equity.
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Changes to recognition of grants
If it appears likely that a grant will become repayable (e.g. such as by the entity changing plans
so that the business no longer qualifies for the grant), then repayment of the grant will be
shown in the year when it becomes apparent that it will be repaid.
The recognition of this liability to repay the grant will normally be recognised in profit or loss.
Conversely, if an entity becomes entitled to receipt of a grant after completing a period of
qualifying expenditure, it will normally be recognised in profit in full once the reporting entity
qualifies for its receipt.
In other words, changes to estimates of the right to receive a grant will normally be presented as
a change in accounting estimates rather than an accounting error (IAS 8).

12. IAS 36 Impairment of Assets
An asset cannot be shown in the SOFP at a valuation greater than the economic benefits it‟s
expected to generate, since this would violate the Framework definition of an asset.
Most assets only have to be reviewed for impairment losses when there is specific evidence of
impairment, but some such as purchased goodwill must be actively assessed for impairment
each period, even if there are no impairment indicators.
Recoverable value of assets
The recoverable value of any asset, or any group of assets, is given below.
IAS 36 assumes that a business will always take the most rational course of action and sell any
asset where the net sales proceeds is greater than the benefit from attempting to recover the
value of the asset by its own use.
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This means that if either the FVCS or VIU exceeds the current carrying value of the asset, there
will be no impairment loss recognised in the current period.
Indicators of impairment
IAS 36 lists a number of factors which might indicate impairment, though this list is not
exhaustive:
External indicators
of impairment

Unexpected fall in market value of the asset.
Significant adverse changes in the business environment using
PESTEL factors (political, economic, sociological, technological,
environmental or legal) making the asset at least partially redundant
Interest rate rises in the periods which are expected to remain in place
for a long time, reducing the asset‟s NPV.
Internally generated negative goodwill of the organisation (market
capitalisation becoming lower than the book value of its net assets).

Internal indicators
of impairment

Obsolescence of the asset.
Physical damage to the asset.
Significant changes to the reporting entity‟s business plan in the
period or near future making the asset at least partially redundant.
Poor performance of the asset itself.
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Determination of value
Selling price less cost to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or cash
generating unit in an arm‟s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties, less the
costs of disposal.
It is substantially the same idea as net realisable value for inventory.
Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or
cash generating unit.
It is calculated using the NPV of expected future net cash flows (profit before interest and tax)
from the asset, normally to a maximum period of five years.
Key workings/ methods
Cash generating unit
In practice, many assets do not generate any cash flows in their own right, as they only exist as a
component in an income generating enterprise.
It is therefore practically impossible to value individual assets, so instead groups of assets are
valued together.
A cash generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows
that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. In
practical terms, it‟s the smallest group of assets which together could be a going concern.
Reporting impairment losses: individual assets
Reverse any prior revaluation gain in equity (other comprehensive income), then charge to
profit.
Reporting impairment losses: cash generating unit
 Any assets physically damaged or otherwise specifically impaired, then
 Goodwill attributable to the CGU, to a minimum value of zero, i.e do not recognise
internally generated negative goodwill, then
 Other assets pro rata to value but never impair an asset below its individual recoverable
value (which will logically be sales price less costs to sell if an asset is part of a CGU, as
it is unlikely to have an individual value in use), as the rational thing would be to sell an
asset if it appears to have a higher value to somebody else than it does to the current
owner.
Reversal of impairments
This is possible if the circumstances creating the impairment no longer exist.
The reversal would be reported wherever the initial impairment had been recorded, which is
normally as a credit to profit.
BUT impaired goodwill can never be reversed.
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13. IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Provisions are a form of liability, simply one of uncertain timing or amount.
If requires an obligation (something that is legally or constructively impossible to avoid by any
means).
An intention is never an obligation, so an intention to incur an expense can never generate a
provision.
Historically, provisions were rather abused with companies using “big bath” provisions to
smooth profits. This allowed companies to set aside profits in good years by creating a
provision that would be released when profits were poorer.
This is creative accounting and is no longer possible under IAS 37.
Also, some acquiring companies made provisions for intended reorganisation costs in the books
of subsidiary companies as a fair value adjustment.
This was then occasionally reversed in following years through group profit.
Initial valuation (provisions)
 For a series of events (e.g. multiple goods sold under guarantee), use the expected value
of the outflow and discount if the time value of money is material.
 For a one-off event (e.g. a single litigation), use the single most probable outcome and
discount if the time value of money is material.
Initial valuation (contingent liabilities)
Given a value of zero, unless on a fair value adjustment on acquisition by another company. See
group‟s notes for how a contingent liability may be a fair value adjustment on consolidation.
This results in contingent liabilities presently not appearing in individual company financial
statements, but may appear in group financial statements.
Contingent assets
A contingent asset is one where the existence of the right to receive cash is insufficiently certain
for recognition.
Valuation of the contingent asset is not the issue. Since the existence of the right to exist is
uncertain, contingent assets are never recognised in financial statements, unless their existence
is virtually certain (i.e. there is no contingency!)
Disclosures
Since provisions have historically been used as a place to hide things, the disclosure
requirements of IAS 37 enforce considerable transparency both about the uncertainties behind
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the provision, the existence of the provision and all movements on the provisions during the
year.
For each class of provision, an entity shall disclose
 The carrying amount at the beginning and end of the period;
 Additional provisions made in the period, including increases to existing provisions;
 Amounts used (i.e. incurred and charged against the provision) during the period;
 Unused amounts reversed during the period; and
 The increase during the period in the discounted amount arising from the passage of
time and the effect of any change in the discount rate.
Comparative information is not required.
Probable:
Possible:
Remote:
Reliable:
Provide:

Greater than 50% estimated probability
Greater than 5% and up to 50% estimated probability
5% of lower probability
Any estimate which is more reliable than making no estimate
Provide expected value and discount at an appropriate rate.

Discounting and unwinding of provisions
IAS 37 requires that where there is a material difference in time between creation of an
obligating event and its settlement, this must be reflected in the financial statements by
discounting the provision back to its net present value on recognition.
This discounted value is then compound back up (also known as “unwound”) using the same
discount rate used to initially discount it.
The discount rate used must be a pre-tax reflect the risks associated with the obligating event
itself (IAS 37, paragraph 47).
Care needs to be taken not to:
 Use a risk-adjusted discount rate if the cash flows themselves have already been
prudently set to allow for worse than expected outflows, and
 Mix incompatible assumptions about inflation, mixing “real” discount rates with
“money” cash flows and vice versa. This means that if the expected cost of settlement is
estimated at today‟s prices, it must be discounted using a discount rate that has had the
effect of inflation removed.
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14. IAS 17: Leases
A lease is a right to use something in return for payment. Some are very short term in nature
and others can be longer-term, such that they are similar to buying an asset on hire purchase
terms.
Where a company has a long-term lease (e.g for rental of plant for most of its useful life), the
company has control of that asset, even though it may not be owned by the entity.
As the plant is controlled by the lessee, it should be recognised on the lessee‟s SOFP.
Similarly, the lessee has an obligation to pay known amounts on the lease, so the lessee has a
liability, which must be recognised on its SOFP.
IAS 17 categorises leases into two distinct, but somewhat arbitrary categories:
 Finance leases: leases which substantially transfer the risks and returns incident to
ownership from the lessor to the lessee.
 Operating leases: leases that are not finance leases.
The distinction is critical.
Although the characteristics of a lease may make it hard to distinguish between the two, the
accounting presentation of finance leases and operating leases is very different.
We‟ll focus on finance leases initially, as they come up far more frequently in the exam, are
worth more marks and are also the “future” of the accounting for leases, since it‟s likely that the
definition of finance lease will soon be widened to include virtually all longer-term leases.
Accounting for finance leases
Committing to a finance lease meets the Framework definition of a liability, since:
 It creates an obligating event
 The obligation results in an outflow of resources
 The outflows can be measured accurately.
The time value of money is material, so must be discounted to present value at an appropriate
discount rate. An appropriate discount rate is the “rate implicit in the lease” with is the IRR of
the lessor‟s cash flows.
In the exam, it‟s almost certain that you would be given the rate implicit in the lease, since
calculating the actual implicit rate is difficult to achieve.
If it is impractical to determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, IAS 17 allows the lessee
instead to use the lessee‟s incremental borrowing cost for borrowing money with a similar term
and similar security.
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Finance leased assets are presented on the balance sheet including:
 The net present value of the liability to pay future finance lease rentals (split between
current and non-current liabilities), and
 The carrying value of the asset, which is initially capitalised at the same value as the
liability.
This means that finance leases have a major impact on the lessee‟s SOFP.
Operating Leases
Most operating leases are short in duration and the NPV of the liability would be small relative
to the value of the asset.
IAS 17 uses a much simpler accounting presentation for operating leases, which is simply to
show operating rentals as liabilities as they fall due for payment.
The asset under an operating lease is not capitalised, nor is any obligation for future operating
lease rentals recognised until the rental payment falls due.
The only significant complication can be if there is an uneven pattern of rentals falling due, such
as an initial rent free period. In this case, the total amounts payable over the life of the operating
lease are averaged.
In the exam, it‟s fairly likely that you would be told that a lease is a finance lease or an operating
lease. IAS 17 gives five situations when a lease is likely to transfer risks and returns incident to
ownership to the lessee from the lessor:
1. The lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee at the end of the lease term;
2. The lessee has the option to purchase the asset at a price sufficiently below fair value at
exercise date, that it is reasonably certain the option will be exercised;
3. The lease term is for a major part of the asset‟s economic life even if title is not
transferred;
4. Present value of minimum lease payments amounts to substantially all of the asset‟s fair
value at inception;
5. The leased asset is so specialised that it could only be used by the lessee without major
modifications being made.
In practice, the third condition is the most common one to apply. A benchmark figure not in
IAS 17 but often used in practice is that if the net present value of the obligation is 90% or more
of the fair value of the asset, it is a finance lease.
In addition to these criteria, it‟s common to look at the length of the lease relative to the
remaining life of the asset. If a lease is for 75% or more of the remaining life of the asset, it is
likely to be classified as a finance lease.
In the exam, presume a lease is a finance lease until you are satisfied that it does not meet the
definition of a finance lease, so is an operating lease.
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15. Financial Instruments
Financial instruments in practice can be very complicated and have a reputation for being
tough. In the paper syllabus, the level of knowledge required is basic.
The most commonly tested item within the exam is convertible bonds, which has been a
frequent visitor to the paper for some years!
The best way to approach study is to know:
 The four different classifications of all financial instruments;
 The difference in fair value and amortised cost accounting;
 The accounting treatment for convertible bonds in particular.
More complicated areas of financial instruments, such as hedging, are exceptionally unlikely to
appear in the exam.
Categories of financial instrument and core accounting treatment
Held-to-maturity financial
Loans and receivables
assets
When used...
When have the ability and When have loaned third party
positive intention to hold a money (to a maturity date) or
security to its stated maturity have an amount receivable
date.
(e.g. trade receivables).
Example...
Investment in corporate bonds Originated loan to a third
or government bonds.
party (e.g. a bank lending a
loan to a homebuyer).
Example
that
can‟t
be Ordinary
shares,
as
no
categorised this way
maturity date. Nothing can be
HTMFA if the entity has
reclassified any investment out
of HTMFA in the preceding
two years.
Initial recognised
Cost
paid,
including Initial cash advanced, plus
value
transaction costs.
transaction costs.
Year-end valuation
Amortised
cost,
less Amortised
cost,
less
method
impairments.
impairments.
Impaired
value
estimated Impaired
value
estimated
using revised cash flows, using revised cash flows,
discounted at the original discounted at the original
discount rate when the discount rate when the
investment was purchased.
investment was purchased.
Gains or losses reported in...
Profit or loss
Profit or loss
Financial asset or liability
Available-for-sale financial
held at fair value through
assets
profit or loss
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When used...

Almost anything can be
categorised as FVPL at its
initial recognition (notably not
debt issued by the entity itself).
Securities held for “trading”
will be classified as FVPL.

Example....

Shares held for trading.

Example that can‟t be
categorised this way
Initial recognised
value
Year-end valuation
method

Gains or losses reported in...

Cash paid to acquire.
Transaction costs immediately
written off to profit or loss.
Fair value.
Best achievable market price,
not deducting anticipated
selling costs (though at the
lower end of the bid – ask
spread).
Profit or loss

ICPAP

A catch-all category. Anything
not in either of the other
categories will be AFSFA.
Typically,
where
investor
stands ready to sell the
security but has no immediate
plans to.
Shares held for intermediate
term investment.

Cash paid to acquire.
Transaction costs added to
initial value of investment.
Fair value.
Best achievable market price,
not deducting anticipated
selling costs (though at the
lower end of the bid – ask
spread).
Initially gain or loss reported
in equity until sold, when the
gain or loss is “recycled” (i.e.
reported again) in profit.
This relatively complicated
accounting treatment on
derecognition is unlikely to
feature in the exam in detail,
though you need to know that
gains are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Recognition and derecognition
The recognition criteria for financial instruments are slightly different to the recognition criteria
in many other IASs/ IFRSs.
The intention is to ensure that as many as recognised as possible, for as long as possible. They
are recognised when the entity becomes party to the contract rather than when control is
obtained.
They are derecognised only when it‟s virtually certain that all the risks of a financial instrument
have expired or have been transferred to another party.
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Fair value accounting
“Fair value” essentially means market value. So if the market is acting irrationally, then fair
value may lead to dysfunctional financial reporting. This is a recent criticism of fair value
accounting techniques.
Fair values are determined as:
 Best achievable market value (but not deducting expected transaction costs), or
 Valuation using discounted cash flows that consider all matters relevant (e.g expected
cash flows, timing of cash flows, credit risk, market interest rates, or
 Exceptionally if no reliable DCF valuation is possible, historical cost.
Amortised cost
For held-to-maturity financial assets, both the issuer and the holder of the financial instrument
(e.g. bond) know all the cash flows and the timing of those cash flows.
The market value at its issue is known, as is its market value at maturity, since a bond that pays
$1,000 on a known date is worth $1,000 on that date!
Any changes in market value in between the date of issue and the maturity date is therefore
irrelevant as that gain or loss will not be realised.
The easiest treatment is therefore to spread the total return over the bond over its total life. This
is done using the effective rate, which is the total return on the bond.
This is the internal rate of return of all the cash flows.
In the exam, you would be given the effective rate and be asked to calculate the figures in the
financial statements.
Impairments
All financial assets held at fair value are automatically revalued for impairments. If a held tomaturity asset appears to be impaired (e.g. if the credit risk increases a great deal), then the new
impaired value must be calculated using:
 The revised expected cash flows and expected timing;
 At the original discount rate.
Note that discounting the revised cash flows at the new rate (which would be higher, as the risk
has increased) would double count the risk factor and result in undervaluation of the asset.
Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds are one of the few transactions that the syllabus allows the examiner to test
in some detail in the exam.
Accordingly, the examiner tests it fairly frequently.
A convertible bond is a bond that upon its maturity date may be repaid in cash, or converted
into shares, at the option of the holder (buyer) of the bond.
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Convertible bonds will always sell for a higher price than non-convertible bonds, as the
existence of the option to convert into shares will always have a positive value.
Alternatively, for bonds sold at the same price, a convertible bond will be able to pay lower cash
interest (“coupon”) than a non-convertible bond.
A convertible bond contains a series of obligations, only some of which meet the definition of
liabilities.

16. IAS 12: Taxation
Taxation in company accounts is made up of two components, both of which are liabilities in
the SOFP and affect the tax charge in the SOCI:
Current tax:

The amount demanded by the tax authority in respect of taxable gains/
losses subject to tax in the current period. This is generally an estimate at the
year-end and is accounted for in the same way as provisions under IAS 37.

Deferred tax:

Future tax due on gains recognised in the current period but not assessed for
tax by the tax authority until some future period. Deferred tax is generally a
net liability, but can very occasionally be a net asset.

Current tax
At the end of the year, the reporting company will make an estimate of what tax will be
demanded by the tax authority in respect of profits for that year.
This will most probably be an estimate, as there is often some negotiation over the tax treatment
of some items that is completed after the year end.
Current tax is therefore the estimate of what tax will be demanded based on gains and losses
recognised within the tax computation for the current year.
Deferred Tax
Deferred tax is pervasive in financial statements, though it is generally examined as either a
part of a question or as a standalone question on its own.
Normally, questions instruct you to ignore deferred tax.
In practice, you will need to consider the deferred tax position of every transaction where the
accounting policy and the tax base (tax accounting policy – see below) are not the same.
Deferred tax arises because the IFRS accounting rule for a transaction may not be the same as
the rule used to calculate tax and the timing of payment of tax, on that transaction.
Wherever a transaction has different rules for IFRS reporting and for tax computation, there is
probably a deferred tax implication.
Deferred tax is an accounting concept, which applies the concept of matching.
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It means nothing to the tax authority.
KEY KNOWLEDGE
These are ExP‟s definitions, which are simplified for exam preparation purposes.
Tax base
The carrying value of the asset as it would be in the statement of financial
position if the tax policy were used as the accounting policy, e.g. using taxable
capital allowances instead of depreciation.
Temporary
The difference between the IFRS carrying value of an asset/ liability and its
difference
tax base. Both tax base and IFRS value start with purchase price and both will
become zero when the asset is scrapped.
Permanent
This is not a phrase used in IAS 12, but it‟s helpful in forming an
difference
understanding.
This is where the tax base and the IFRS value of an asset or liability are always
different, as a matter of principle.
E.g. government grant income received may never be taxable, though it‟s
income in profit.
Goodwill gives a permanent difference since impairment losses on goodwill
are never a tax deductible expense. The tax base of an investment in a
subsidiary is historical cost of purchase, so goodwill never appears at all in
the tax computation. The fact that it never appears makes it a permanent
difference.
EXAM APPROACH
Calculation of deferred tax liability and SOCI effect
1. Go through the accounting policies of the entity and identify each one where the
accounting policy (IFRS) is not the same as the tax base.
2. Identify which of these differences are permanent differences, e.g.:
 Business entertaining expenditure
 Government grants receivable
State in your exam answer that this is a permanent difference, so has no future tax
effects
3. For each difference (other than permanent difference) and calculate the temporary
difference at the period end using the working above.
4. Multiply the temporary difference by the tax rate expected to be in force when the item
becomes taxable (when it “reverses”).
Note:

Cr temporary differences produce Dr deferred tax assets
Dr temporary differences produce Cr deferred tax liabilities
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5. Look at all the deferred tax assets for evidence of impairment. Offset deferred tax
liabilities against deferred tax assets with the same tax authority.
6. Calculate the movement on the deferred tax liability. This will be the total charge to the
statement of comprehensive income for deferred tax.
7. Split the movement on deferred tax liability in the year into the element reported in
other comprehensive income and the rest that will be reported as part of the profit and
loss charge for taxation in the period.
This is done by matching the movement on deferred tax (e.g. caused by a property
upward revaluation) with where the gain or loss causing that movement in deferred tax
was reported.
7A Work out the movement in deferred tax 7B Show the movement in deferred tax
due to items reported in equity, e.g.:
that isn‟t shown as gains taken to equity
(step 7A) and show this as the deferred tax
 Property revaluation gains
 Movements in value on available- movement in profit.
for-sale financial assets
Take the proportion of deferred tax
movement on equity gains to equity.

17. Group Financial Statements
Revising groups is very difficult to do without lots of numerical examples. These ExPress notes
are very unlikely to be sufficient as a means of studying groups – they are intended to be used
for revision only. The key to success in the groups question in the exam is lots of practice of past
exam questions.
Substance over Form
Companies often trade through a group of companies. This might be due to acquisition of other
pre-existing companies (the most common situation in the exam) or by setting up separate legal
entities to ring-fence business risks.
Legally, each company exists separately and must produce separate (“individual” or “entity”)
financial statements.
Investors in the parent company, however, will be interested to see all the assets, liabilities and
profits that their company has controlled. This is achieved by the process of consolidation,
which presents the financial statements of all entities under the parent company‟s control as if it
were one single entity.
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The parent company will record its investments in its subsidiaries as a financial asset, initially at
cost.
The process of consolidation is one of replacement of data in the parent‟s financial statements
with information that is more useful to investors. Group accounting is principally covered in
IFRS by IAS 27 and IFRS 3.
The process of consolidation in the statement of financial position (“SOFP”) involves
replacement of cost of investment with the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary controlled.
Consolidation in the statement of comprehensive income is the process of replacing dividends
received from the subsidiary with each item of income and expenditure controlled.

Investment in S
Other investments
Property, plant & equipment
Inventory
Cash
Capital
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Peter
$000
140
90
1,200
200
80
1,710
200
150
760
1,110
400
200
1,710

Sam
$000
35
55
40
70
200
30
20
100
150
20
30
200
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In order to consolidate Sam into the SOFP of Peter to show the net assets Peter‟s investor‟s
control, the investment in Sam is removed and replaced by each individual asset and liability
that Peter controls, as well as recognising that proportion of total equity that isn‟t held by Peter
(called “non-controlling interests”). The final balancing item will be goodwill.
Goodwill

An asset representing the future economic benefits arising
from other assets acquired in a business combination that are
not individually identified and separately recognised.

Non-controlling interests

The equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly,
to a parent.

Consolidated statement of financial position 1 January 20X1
$’000
Goodwill
20
Property, plant & equipment
1,255
Inventory
240
Cash
150
1,790
Capital
200
Revaluation reserve
150
Retained earnings
760
1,110
Non-controlling interests
30
1,140
Net current liabilities
420
Current liabilities
230
1,790
The process of consolidation in double entry terms has been:
Dr Investments
Dr Property, plant & equipment
Dr Inventory
Dr Cash
Cr Non-current liabilities
Cr Current liabilities
Cr Investment in S
Cr Non-controlling interests (150 x 20%)
=> Dr Goodwill (balancing item)

35
55
40
70
20
30
140
30
20

Goodwill is thus the residual of amount paid to acquire control of the new subsidiary, less net
assets acquired (after deducting non-controlling interests).
Net assets = equity = capital + reserves
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This identity means we can use a short cut when calculating net assets to get to good will, using
the method below:
Fair value of consideration transferred to seller of S
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired Capital
Reserves @ acquisition date:
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Net assets acquired at book value
Fair value adjustments (see later)
Net assets acquired @ fair value
Effective interest x 80%
Goodwill

140
30
20
100
150
0
150
(120)
20

Goodwill is thus the residual of amount paid to acquire control of the new subsidiary, less net
assets acquired (after deducting non-controlling interests).
Net assets = equity = capital + reserves. This identity means we can use a short cut when
calculating net assets to get to goodwill, using the method below:
Subsequent periods
One period later both P and S have traded a profit, so that each company net assets and reserves
have increased.
Controlled by
Owned by
Reported
Gains made since
acquisition:
By company P
By company S
.

P
P

P
P

In full
in full, less NCI‟s share. In
effect the parent the parent
Company‟s effective interest

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
The statement of comprehensive income shows gains and losses under a company‟s control
during a period. Consequently, a group statement of comprehensive income shows all income
and expenditure around the group since the date of acquisition.
The full amount controlled is consolidated, with these totals then analyzed out between owners
of the parent company and non-controlling interests.
The core approach to consolidation of statements of comprehensive income we suggest in the
exam is:
 Determine group structure, including date of passage of control.
 Identify omissions and errors in the individual company financial statements and
correct these first.
 Add together 100% of each item of income, expenditure and other comprehensive
income for each company from the date of acquisition to the period end.
 Add/ remove consolidation adjustments (see below).
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Split profit and total comprehensive income between non-controlling interests and the
owners of the parent company.

Goodwill impairments
Purchased positive goodwill has an uncertain (“indefinite”) but finite life. This means that it
must be tested each year for impairments in value. If goodwill were found to have been
impaired in the year by 4 this would cause an expense and reduction in goodwill asset.
Dr Expense of parent (=> retained earnings of parent)
Cr Goodwill asset

4
4

Cumulative goodwill impairments are an expense in group retained earnings.
Fair values
IFRS 3 requires that both the amount paid to acquire a subsidiary and net assets acquired are
recorded at their fair values. By recording all the transaction at fair value, goodwill will be
given an accurate value.
It is unlikely that the acquired company will show all its assets and liabilities at a fair value
through the eyes of the acquirer. To correct for this, fair value adjustments on acquisition and
consolidation will need to be made.
Illustration 2
P acquired 70% of S on 1 April 20X1. At the time of the passage of control to P, the consideration
payable to the former owners of S comprised:
 $10 million in cash, payable immediately and a further $4 million payable in two years
from the acquisition date.
 100,000 shares in P at a fair value of $9.20 each.
 $6 million in cash payable in two years‟ time if gross profit % of S exceeded 30% over
the next two years.
At the purchase date the gross profit % of S is 35% and thus is not expected to charge.
P paid its investment bankers $0.5m to administer the purchase. An appropriate pre-tax
discount rate is 10%.
Required:
Calculate the cost of P‟s investment in S that will be used to calculate goodwill on acquisition of
S.
Solution to illustration 2
Cash
Shares at fair value: 100,000 x $9.20
Deferred cash: $4m x 0.826

$‟000
10,000
920
3,304
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Contingent cash payable $6m x 0.826
Investment bank fees
Total

ICPAP

4,956
0
19,180

Fair value of net assets acquired
To Mach fair value in the goodwill calculation, it is necessary to estimate fair value to the
acquirer of the net assets acquired.
Key logic
It helps understand the workings that follow if you‟re first happy with these ideas:
 Increasing the recognised value of the net assets of the subsidiary increases the
subsidiary‟s equity/reserves.
 Additional assets may require extra depreciation.
 Any pre-acquisition revaluations are a fair value adjustment. Any post acquisition
changes in value will be reported in group profit as a group revaluation reserve.
 Fair values are estimate. It‟s possible to adjust fair value estimates for 12 months by
adjusting goodwill. After that adjustments will be shown in group profit or loss.
Pre-acquisition dividends
The parent company is likely to receive dividends from its subsidiary after the acquisition date
– sometimes very shortly the acquisition date.
The parent company will record dividends received from any company as dividend income.
Dr Receivables/bank
Cr Dividend income (=> retained earnings of P)

1,200
1,200

However, supposed this dividend was declared the day after P acquired control. This presents
two problems:
-

It results in the group financial statements showing $1,200 as earned income , when it‟s
clearly unearned, and
- It is likely there will be impairment in the value of the investment in S, as S‟s net assets
will be depleted.
Adjustments
To correct for this, the pre-acquisition element of a dividend received may be removed from
both income of the parent and the cost of the investment in S.
So if the example above were a dividend declared for the year ended 31.12.X2 and P acquired
control of S on 30.6.X2, the appropriate adjustment would be in the records of P:
Dr Investment income received (6/12 x 1,200)
Cr Cost of investment in S

600
600
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Mid period acquisition
Where P acquires its controlling interest in S part way through S‟s reporting period it will be
necessary in the exam to determine what the net assets and pre-acquisition reserves where at
this date (in practice it is likely that interim financial statements would be used). This is a
relatively simple task.
Intra-group transactions
At a group level transactions between parents and subsidiaries should be eliminated, as:
 They represent the group trading with itself.
 They may result in profits that are not proven by trading with independent third
parties.
 They provide scope for manipulation of key ratios.
Some will result in adjustments to net assets (and thus their profits) and others are simply
cosmetic with no adjustment to profit.
Approach
1. Identify intra-group transactions (ie transactions between parent and subsidiaries that
have happened since the parent acquired control).
2. Work through any items in transit to ensure intra-group balances agree in each
company‟s records.
3. Add together the individual company financial statements to produce the group
financial statements as normal.
4. Eliminate intra-group transactions and balances.
5. Work together any items in transit to ensure intra-group balance agree.
Note: Reducing the value of year-end inventory increases cost of sales. This is called an
allowance for unrealized profits (AUP).
Also eliminate in full any intra-group trading that is recorded in sales and purchases.
Dr Group revenue
Cr Group purchases/cost of sales
Intra-group receivables/payables
Cancellation of a group level of intra-group payables and receivables is a cosmetic exercise in
the group financial statements that does not affect net assets. This does not affect profit, so does
not affect retained profits/ net assets.
Dr Intra-group loan payable
Cr Intra-group loan receivable
Dr Intra-group trade payable
Cr Intra-group trade receivable
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Affects
assets?
Yes

Intra-group sale and purchase
No
Cash in transit
No
Intra-group loan
No
Intra-group trade payable/receivables No

group

net

Affects
retained
earnings?
Yes. Reduce retained
earnings of the seller.
No
No
No
No

Intra-group adjustments are very common in the exam and you must ensure that you are
comfortable both with the adjustments and the reasons for the adjustments.
Transfer of non-current assets
Where there is an intra-group transfer of non-current assets there will also be depreciation
adjustments.
The technique is to work out the allowance for unrealized profit, then depreciate it over its
useful life, as if it were an additional new asset.
Then, as with AUP on inventory, remove the remaining AUP from the retained earnings of the
seller.
Goodwill again
We consolidate all of the net assets in the SOFP of subsidiaries, since they are controlled by the
parent.
The accounting treatment we have taken for goodwill so far logically only calculates the
parent‟s share of the goodwill (since it arises by “decomposing” the parent‟s interest into its
sub-components).
This proportionate goodwill approach is allowed by the IFRS, but an alternative is to gross up
goodwill to show the full goodwill controlled by the ultimate parent, rather than just the
amount that the parent owns.
This involves additional recognition of that tranche of goodwill that relates to the no controlling
interests‟ share of goodwill in the subsidiary.
As the non-controlling interests don‟t have control of S, the goodwill per share is likely to be
smaller than the goodwill per share of the parent‟s controlling interest.
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18. Associates
There are three possible levels of investment that one company may have in another:
Type of investment

Level of influence

Available for sale asset (i.e. Little or none
trade investment)
Subsidiary

Control, normally by holding
>50% of the voting shares

Accounting treatment in
group financial statements
Historical cost or market
value in accordance with IAS
39 / IFRS 9.
Line-by-line consolidation of
all items under parent‟s
control, plus goodwill and
non-controlling interests.

We now introduce a third category that sits between the two above:
Associate

Significant influence,
normally by holding between
20% and 50% of the voting
shares

“Equity accounting”, which is
a
simplified
form
of
consolidation.

Significant influence
This fairly self-explanatory concept means that the parent cannot consolidate each item of the
investee‟s assets, liabilities, income and gains, since the parent does not have control of them.
However, there is a close relationship between the parent and the associate of significant
influence.
Normally, this is obtained by holding 20% to 50% of the voting shares in the investee company,
but other factors may be taken into account, such as:






Representation on the investee‟s board of directors
Evidence that the investee company is used to accepting the investor as having
significant influence
Whether the investee is part of the supply chain of the investor
Sharing key personnel
Sharing key information.

Accounting treatment in the group financial statements
In the SOFP, the investee (called “associate”) is automatically revalued each year, allowing for
post-acquisition growth in the associate‟s assets.
There are two ways to calculate this, though the former is probably to be preferred, since it
follows the disclosure notes required by IAS 28.
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19. Statement of Cash Flows
Statements of cash flows are a primary financial statement, meaning that they have to be shown
with equal prominence as the statements of financial position and comprehensive income. They
provide important additional information to investors and investment analysts.
Key benefits of presenting a statement of cash flows include:
Information on the entity's ability to generate net cash from its operating activities and how
such net cash is used in investing and/or financing activities
Perceived objectivity of cash, i.e. less open to manipulation than profit
Cash flow is vital to going concern and commercial success, regardless of profitability.
Very useful in discounted cash flow valuation of a business.
The statement of cash flow pro-forma has three sections, corresponding to the three types of
activities that any entity undertakes, though in reality it may be easier to think of this as five, as
two are presented in a mezzanine presentation between cash flow from operations and
investing.
Operating:
Financing:
Taxation:
Investing:
Financing:

Cash flow from trading activities
Cash paid on interest
Actual cash paid during the year
Cash flows on purchase or sale of non-current assets
Cash flows on raising or redeeming long-term finance such as shares or
debentures.

What is cash?
Cash comprises both cash and bank deposits payable on demand and also cash equivalents
which are defined as “short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value”.
Short-term is not defined, though three months is a typical benchmark.
Direct or Indirect?
There are two alternative presentations of the operating section of the statement of cash flows:
the direct method and the indirect method.
Under the indirect method (the most frequent method of preparing and presenting the cash
flows from operating activities, and the examinable one), you calculate the net cash flows from
operating activities by reconciling the profit before tax figure to the operating cash flow figure.
Any item that appears in operating profit (i.e. profit before interest and taxation) but which is
not a cash flow, and vice versa, will appear in this reconciliation.
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The direct method omits this reconciliation, instead presenting operating cash flow as simply:
Cash received from customers
X
Cash paid to suppliers
X
Other cash payments
X
Operating cash flow
X
Proforma statement of cash flows
This is a proforma under the indirect method.
Knowing this proforma is the way to start a question in the exam, since lots of figures can be
added in there straight away.
Operating cash flows
Profit before tax
Add back: Finance costs
Less: Finance income
Profit before interest and taxation

X
X
(X)
X

Adjustments for:
Depreciation
X
Amortisation of intangibles
X
Impairment losses
X
Gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-current assets
(X)/X
Gain/ (loss) on revaluation of investment property
(X)/X
Operating profit/ (loss) before working capital changes
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in receivables
Increase/ (decrease) in payables
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Tax paid
Net operating cash flows
Investing cash flows
Payments to acquire non-current assets
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets
Net investing cash flows
Financing cash flows
New share capital issued
Dividends paid
New loans raised
Repayments of borrowings
Government grants received

X/(X)
(X)/X
(X)/X
X/(X)
X/(X)
(X)
(X)
X/(X)
(X)
X
X/(X)
X
(X)
X
(X)
X
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Net financing cash flows
Net increase/ (decrease) in cash & cash equivalents
Cash & cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash & cash equivalents at end of the period

ICPAP

X/(X)
X/(X)
X
X

Note that we have slightly amended the proforma in IAS 7 to include a separate section that
reconciles profit before tax to profit before interest and tax.
This is not required by IAS 7, but it makes it easier to take a structured approach to the exam
question.
Start the reconciliation with the depreciation figure.
This will be in the exam question and is the easiest to remember.
If you get the direction of this right, i.e. add it instead of take away, you are likely to get the
direction of all the other adjustments right.
Cash operating profits (operating cash flow) – depreciation = Accounting operating profits
(PBIT)
Therefore:
PBIT + depreciation = Operating cash flow.
We are working back from profit to operating cash flow, so the direction of these adjustments is
often the opposite way to what you would think.



Any adjustment which decreases net assets will be added back.
Any adjustment which increases net assets will be deducted.

Suggested approach to statement of cash flow preparation questions
Questions requiring preparation of a statement of cash flows always follow the same format,
with a SOFP for this period, last period and SOCI for this period, as well as some additional
information.
This means that it is possible to adopt a formulaic approach to these questions:




Read the question in full. As you read the question note in the margin of the question
paper which bits of additional information will give a reconciling item between PBIT
and operating cash flow.
Produce a skeleton proforma, using a full page. Spread out the space between headings
approximately as laid out in the proforma above.
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Slot in as many of the numbers as you can directly from the question (e.g. PBT, cash and
cash equivalents this year, last year and so movement in the year).
Work through the reconciliation section of the statement.
Once you have completed the reconciliation as far as you can, work down the SOFP this
year and last year, using T accounts to find the missing figures, which will be the cash
flows.
As you run out of time, ensure that you have included as many of the easy marks as
you can (e.g. depreciation in the reconciliation is easy to forget).
Don‟t add it up to see if you have the right balance unless you have lots of time to spare
– it will only put you off if it‟s out by a long way.
Do a final 20 second reasonableness check – e.g. make sure that things that are
obviously cash outflows have brackets around them and obvious cash inflows don‟t.
Move on to the next question when you run out of time. Cash flow questions are
particularly tempting to over-run on time.

20. Interpretation of Accounts and Ratio
Analysis
Interpretation of financial statements is a core skill for accountants, so is a frequent topic in the
exam.
You may be required to calculate a series of ratios and make comments, or you may be given
ratios pre-calculated for you and then asked to make comments on the apparent performance of
the company.
Ratios are only useful as a comparator against something else. They are of little value on their
own. Comparison one year against another or between companies gives an indication of the
relative performance and the trend in performance.
Calculating a series of ratios on their own will not earn a pass.
Try to get the big picture of what‟s going on first, then use the ratios to investigate further or
illustrate points that you mean.
There is a substantial overlap in syllabus, where ratio analysis is particularly common when
looking at working capital management.
Use a “drill down” approach to make sure that the points you make are relevant and give a
cover of different aspects of business performance.
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In each case, you need to calculate ratios that are meaningful in the particular circumstances of
the question.
Profitability
Typical ratios to measure relative profitability include:
Gross margin

Net margin

Gross profit
Revenue
Profit before interest and tax
Revenue

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

Asset turnover

Profit before interest and tax
Equity + interest bearing debt
Revenue
Equity + interest bearing debt

Capital employed may be calculated either using equity (capital plus reserves) plus interest
bearing debt, or as total assets less current liabilities.
If the company has an overdraft that has been there for a long time, this might properly be
added to long-term debt, even though it‟s technically repayable on demand.
Liquidity
If a business runs out of cash and cannot refinance in a hurry, it goes out of business. It‟s
possible for companies to focus excessively on profitability at the expense of liquidity
management. Hence it‟s wise to make a breadth of good comments about liquidity in the exam.
Current ratio

Current assets
Current liabilities
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Quick ratio (“Acid test”)

Current assets, except inventory
Current liabilities

Inventory days

Average inventory x 365
Purchases

Receivables collection period

Payables payment period

ICPAP

Average receivables x 365
Credit sales
Average payables x 365
Credit sales

The aim here is to ensure that the total period between cash leaving the business is not
significantly longer than the period in which cash is recovered. This is called the working
capital cycle.
Working capital cycle:
Inventory days + receivables days – payables days
The longer a positive working capital cycle, the greater the chance of “overtrading”. This is
where the business expands faster than its financing is able to support.
So although it may be profitable, it may be heading into serious working capital problems and
potentially going concern problems.

Gearing
This is of considerable topical relevance at the moment, as many companies are criticized for
having taken on excessive amounts of debt, which they felt were cheap at the time. However,
this has provided a high amount of interest to pay off as revenues have fallen.
Debt/ equity

Interest bearing debt
Capital + reserves

Interest cover

Profit before interest and tax
Interest expense

Investor return ratios
These largely give an indication of the risk to investors of putting money into the company, i.e.
what is the chance that the money may not come back to them?
As the greater the risk of investing in a business, the greater the return investors will want, it is
important to look at profitability ratios against the backdrop of investor returns as well.
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Dividend cover

Profit before ordinary dividend
Ordinary dividend

Dividend yield

Dividend
Market price of shares

Total investor yield

Dividend + growth in share price
Purchase price of shares

Price/ earnings ratio

Market price of shares
Earnings per share

ICPAP

Suggested approach to interpretation questions
 Read all the information given. Before calculating ratios, try to summarize the big
picture of the company‟s position and performance in just a few words, e.g.
“expanding”, “over geared”, “losing profitability”, etc. If there‟s a clear “big picture”
you need to make sure that you give this to the examiner.
 Determine who the reader of the report is that you are writing. If it‟s an investor, they
will care about profits and investor returns. If it‟s a bank, they will only care about
profit to the extent that it will cover their interest payments and enable the company to
repay loans. Tailor your interest in the company to your reader‟s interests.
 Calculate a breadth of ratios. Be willing to use any information given to calculate other
ratios that might be of interest. For example, a retailer is likely to be very interested in
revenue per m2 of shop floor space, or sales per employee.
 Make comments about the ratios. If you can link them together, do so. For example, if
plant has increased, this should increase depreciation and so initially reduce gross
profit margin. If it‟s been revalued, there will be a reduction in profitability this year
against last year.
 Briefly state any limitations on the analysis you‟re able to perform, or any doubts about
the data you‟re given (e.g. if it‟s two companies, do they have the same accounting
policies?)

21. Limitations on Ratios
The generally recognised potential problems of using ratios for comparison purposes are:
 Inconsistent definitions of ratios
 Financial statements may have been deliberately manipulated (creative accounting)
 Different companies may adopt different accounting policies (e.g. use of historical costs
compared to current values)
 Different managerial policies (e.g. different companies offer customers different
payment terms)
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Statement of financial position figures may not be representative of average values
throughout the year (this can be caused by seasonal trading or a large acquisition of
non-current assets near the year-end)
The impact of price changes over time/distortion caused by inflation.

22. Deconsolidation
There has never been a paper in the exam that requires a deconsolidation from group financial
statements from entity financial statement, though it‟s a great way to review your knowledge of
paper group accounting and the standard workings.
Substance over Form
Normally, the approach for consolidation of a simple group is:
 Parent + subsidiary = Group financial statements
So it therefore follows that standard group workings may be used to determine:
 Group financial statements – subsidiary = Parent‟s financial statements.
The process of consolidation normally replaces the available-for-sale financial asset (carrying
value of the investment in subsidiary) with goodwill, net assets at acquisition and noncontrolling interests. Deconsolidation does the opposite.
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Question and Answer
Question No 1:On 1 October 2006 Pervaiz acquired the following non-current investments:
-

-

3 million equity shares in Shehzad by an exchange of one share in Pervaiz for
every two shares in Shehzad plus Rs.1 per acquired Shehzad share in cash. The
market price of each Pervaiz share at the date of acquisition was Rs.6.
30% of the equity shares of Aqeel at a cost of Rs.7·50 per share in cash.

Only the cash consideration of the above investments has been recorded by Pervaiz.
The summarised draft balance sheets of the three companies at 30 September 2007 are:
Pervaiz
Rs.‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments in Shehzad and Aqeel
Available-for-sale investments
Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity shares of Rs.1 each
Retained earnings – at 30 September 2006
– for year ended 30 September 2007
Non-current liabilities
7% Loan notes
Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Shehzad
Rs.‟000

Aqeel
Rs.‟000

18,400
12,000
6,500
36,900

10,400
Nil
Nil
10,400

18,000
Nil
Nil
18,000

6,900
3,200
47,000

6,200
1,500
18,100

3,600
2,400
24,000

10,000
16,000
8,000
34,000

4,000
6,500
2,400
12,900

4,000
11,000
5,000
20,000

5,000
8,000
47,000

1,000
4,200
18,1000

1,000
3,000
24,000

The following information is relevant:
i. At the date of acquisition the fair values of Shehzad‟s assets were equal to their
carrying amounts with the exception of Shehzad‟s land which had a fair value of
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Rs.500, 000 below its carrying amount; it was written down by this amount
shortly after acquisition and has not changed in value since then.
ii. On 1 October 2006, Pervaiz sold an item of plant to Shehzad at its agreed fair
value of Rs.2·5 million. Its carrying amount prior to the sale was Rs.2 million.
The estimated remaining life of the plant at the date of sale was five years
(straight-line depreciation).
iii. During the year ended 30 September 2007 Shehzad sold goods to Pervaiz for
Rs.2·7 million. Shehzad had marked up these goods by 50% on cost. Pervaiz had
a third of the goods still in its inventory at 30 September 2007. There were no
intra-group payables/receivables at 30 September 2007.
iv.
Impairment tests on 30 September 2007 concluded that the value of the
investment in Aqeel was not impaired, but consolidated goodwill was impaired
by Rs.900, 000.
v. The available-for-sale investments are included in Pervaiz‟s balance sheet
(above) at their fair value on 1 October 2006, but they have a fair value of Rs.9
million at 30 September 2007
vi. No dividends were paid during the year by any of the companies.
Required:
a) Prepare the consolidated balance sheet for Pervaiz as at 30 September 2007.
b) A financial assistant has observed that the fair value exercise means that a
subsidiary‟s net assets are included at acquisition at their fair (current) values in
the consolidated balance sheet. The assistant believes that it is inconsistent to
aggregate the subsidiary‟s net assets with those of the parent because most of the
parent‟s assets are carried at historical cost.
Required:
Comment on the assistant‟s observation and explain why the net assets of acquired
subsidiaries are consolidated at acquisition at their fair values.
Answer No 1:a) Consolidated balance sheet of Pervaiz as at 30 September 2007
Rs.‟000
Assets
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment (18,400 + 10,400 – 400
(w (i)))
Goodwill (w (ii))
Investments – associate (w (iii))
– other available for sale

Rs.‟000

28,400
3,600
10,500
9,000
51,500

Current assets
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Inventory (6,900 + 6,200 – 300 URP (w (iv)))
Trade receivables (3,200 + 1,500)
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity shares of Rs.1 each (w (v))
Reserves:
Share premium (w (v))
Retained earnings (w (vi))
Minority interest (w (vii))
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
7% Loan notes (5,000 + 1,000)
Current liabilities (8,000 + 4,200)
Total equity and liabilities

i.

ii.

ICPAP

12,800
4,700

17,500
69,000
11,500

7,500
28,650

36,150
47,650
3,150
50,800
6,000
12,200
69,000

Workings (figures in brackets are in Rs.‟000)
Property, plant and equipment
The transfer of the plant creates an initial unrealized profit (URP) of Rs.500, 000.
This is reduced by Rs.100, 000 for each year (straight-line depreciation over five
years) of depreciation in the post-acquisition period. Thus at 30 September 2007
the net unrealized profit is Rs.400, 000. This should be eliminated from Pervaiz‟s
retained profits and from the carrying amount of the plant. The fall in the fair
value of the land has already been taken into account in Shehzad‟s balance sheet.
Goodwill in Shehzad:
Investment at cost:
Rs.‟000
Rs.‟000
Shares issued (3,000/2 x Rs.6)
9,000
Cash (3,000 x Rs.1)
3,000
12,000
Less – equity shares of Shehzad
(3,000)
– pre-acquisition reserves (6,000 x 75% (see below))
(4,500)
(7,500)
Goodwill on consolidation
4,500
Goodwill is impaired by Rs.900, 000 thus has a carrying amount at 30 September
2007 of Rs.3·6 million.
Shehzad‟s pre-acquisition reserves of Rs.6.5 million require an adjustment for a
write down of Rs.500, 000 in respect of the fair value of its land being below its
carrying amount. Thus the adjusted pre-acquisition reserves of Shehzad are Rs.6
million. A consequent effect is that the post-acquisition reserves which are
reported as Rs.2.4 million in Shehzad‟s balance sheet will become Rs.2.9 million.
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This is because the fall in the value of the land has effectively been treated by
Shehzad as a post-acquisition loss.
iii.
Carrying amount of Aqeel at 30 September 2007
Cost (4,000 x 30% x Rs.7·50)
Share post-acquisition profit (5,000 x 30%)

Rs.‟000
9,000
1,500
10,500

iv.

The unrealized profit (URP) in inventory is calculated as:
Intra-group sales are Rs.2·7 million on which Shehzad made a profit of Rs.900,
000 (2,700 x 50/150). One third of these are still in the inventory of Pervaiz, thus
there is an unrealized profit of Rs.300, 000.

v.

The 1.5 million shares issued by Pervaiz in the share exchange at a value of Rs.6
each would be recorded as Rs.1 per share as capital and Rs.5 per share as share
premium giving an increase in share capital of Rs.1.5 million and a share
premium of Rs.7.5 million.

vi.
Consolidated retained earnings:
Pervaiz‟s retained earnings
Shehzad‟s post-acquisition ((2,900 – 300 URP) x 75%)
Aqeel‟s post-acquisition profits (5,000 x 30%)
URP in plant (see (i))
Gain on available-for-sale investment (9,000 – 6,500) see below
Impairment of goodwill

Rs.‟000
24,000
1,950
1,500
(400)
2,500
(900)
28,650

The gain on available-for-sale investments must be recognised directly in equity.
vii.

Minority interest
Adjusted equity at 30 September 2007: (12,900 – 300 URP) = 12,600 x 25% 3,150

b) IFRS 3 Business Combinations requires the purchase consideration for an
acquired entity to be allocated to the fair value of the assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities acquired (henceforth referred to as net assets and ignoring
contingent liabilities) with any residue being allocated to goodwill. This also
means that those net assets will be recorded at fair value in the consolidated
balance sheet. This is entirely consistent with the way other net assets are
recorded when first transacted (i.e. the initial cost of an asset is normally its fair
value). The purpose of this process is that it ensures that individual assets and
liabilities are correctly classified (and valued) in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Whilst this may sound obvious, consider what would happen if say a property
had a carrying amount of Rs.5 million, but a fair value of Rs.7 million at the date
it was acquired. If the carrying amount rather than the fair value was used in the
consolidation it would mean that tangible assets (property, plant and equipment)
would be understated by Rs.2 million and intangible assets (goodwill) would be
overstated by the same amount (note: in the consolidated balance sheet of
Pervaiz the opposite effect would occur as the fair value of Shehzad‟s land is
below its carrying amount at the date of acquisition). There could also be a
„knock on‟ effect with incorrect depreciation charges in the years following an
acquisition and incorrect calculation of any goodwill impairment. Thus the use of
carrying amounts rather than fair values would not give a „faithful
representation‟ as required by the Framework.
The assistant‟s comment regarding the inconsistency of value models in the
consolidated balance sheet is a fair point, but it is really a deficiency of the
historical cost concept rather than a flawed consolidation technique. Indeed the
fair values of the subsidiary‟s net assets are the historical costs to the parent. To
overcome much of the inconsistency, there would be nothing to prevent the
parent company from applying the revaluation model to its property, plant and
equipment.
Question No 2:On 1 August 2007 Philips purchased 18 million of a total of 24 million equity shares in
Sony. The acquisition was through a share exchange of two shares in Philips for every
three shares in Sony. Both companies have shares with a par value of Rs1 each. The
market price of Philips‟s shares at 1 August 2007 was Rs5.75 per share. Philips will also
pay in cash on 31 July 2009 (two years after acquisition) Rs2.42 per acquired share of
Sony. Philips‟s cost of capital is 10% per annum. The reserves of Sony on 1 April 2007
were Rs69 million.
Philips has held an investment of 30% of the equity shares in Acer for many years.
The summarised income statements for the three companies for the year ended 31
March 2008 are:

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross Profit
Distribution costs

Philips
Rs‟000
150,000
(94,000)
56,000
(7,400)

Sony
Rs‟000
78,000
(51,000)
27,000
(3,000)

Acer
Rs‟000
80,000
(60,000)
20,000
(3,500)
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Finance costs (note (ii))
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the period

ICPAP

(12,500)
(2,000)
34,100
(10,400)
23,700

(6,000)
(900)
17,100
(3,600)
13,500

(6,500)
Nil
10,000
(4,000)
6,000

The following information is relevant:
i.

The fair values of the net assets of Sony at the date of acquisition were equal to
their carrying amounts with the exception of property and plant. Property and
plant had fair values of Rs4.1 million and Rs2.4 million respectively in excess of
their carrying amounts. The increase in the fair value of the property would
create additional depreciation of Rs200,000 in the consolidated financial
statements in the post-acquisition period to 31 March 2008 and the plant had a
remaining life of four years (straight-line depreciation) at the date of acquisition
of Sony. All depreciation is treated as part of cost of sales.
The fair values have not been reflected in Sony‟s financial statements.
No fair value adjustments were required on the acquisition of Acer.

ii.
iii.

iv.

v.
vi.

The finance costs of Philips do not include the finance cost on the deferred
consideration.
Prior to its acquisition, Sony had been a good customer of Philips. In the year to
31 March 2008, Philips sold goods at a selling price of Rs1.25 million per month
to Sony both before and after its acquisition. Philips made a profit of 20% on the
cost of these sales. At 31 March 2008 Sony still held inventory of Rs3 million (at
cost to Sony) of goods purchased in the post-acquisition period from Philips.
An impairment test on the goodwill of Sony conducted on 31 March 2008
concluded that it should be written down by Rs2 million. The value of the
investment in Acer was not impaired.
All items in the above income statements are deemed to accrue evenly over the
year.
Ignore deferred tax.

Page | 88

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

Required:
a) Calculate the goodwill arising on the acquisition of Sony at 1 August 2007.
b) Prepare the consolidated income statement for the Philips Group for the year
ended 31 March 2008.
Note: assume that the investment in Acer has been accounted for using the
equity method since its acquisition.
c) At 31 March 2008 the other equity shares (70%) in Acer were owned by many
separate investors. Shortly after this date Spekulate (a company unrelated to
Philips) accumulated a 60% interest in Acer by buying shares from the other
shareholders. In May 2008 a meeting of the board of directors of Acer was held at
which Philips lost its seat on Acer‟s board.
Required:
Explain, with reasons, the accounting treatment Philips should adopt for its
investment in Acer when it prepares its financial statements for the year
ending 31 March 2009.
Answer No 2:a)
Cost of control in Sony:
Consideration
Shares (18,000 x 2/3 x Rs5.75)
Deferred payment (18,000 x 2.42/1.21 (see below))
Less
Equity Shares
Pre-acquisition reserves:
At 1 April 2007
To date of acquisition (13,500 x 4/12)
Fair value adjustments (4,100 + 2,400)

Goodwill

Rs‟000

Rs‟000
69,000
36,000
105,000

24,000
69,000
4,500
6,500
104,000 x (78,000)
75%
27,000

Rs1 compounded for two years at 10% would be worth Rs1.21.
The acquisition of 18 million out of a total of 24 million equity shares is a 75% interest.
b) Philips Group
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2008
Revenue (150,000 + (78,000 x 8/12) – (1,250 x 8 months intra group))
Cost of sales (w (i))

Rs‟000
192,000
(119,100)
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Gross profit
Distribution costs (7,400 + (3,000 x 8/12))
Administrative expenses (12,500 + (6,000 x 8/12))
Finance costs (w (ii))
Impairment of goodwill
Share of profit from associate (6,000 x 30%)
Profit before tax
Income tax expense (10,400 + (3,600 x 8/12))
Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interest (w (iii))

ICPAP

72,900
(9,400)
(16,500)
(5,000)
(2,000)
1,800
41,800
(12,800)
29,000

26,900
2,100
29,000
c) An associate is defined by IAS 28 Investments in Associates as an investment
over which an investor has significant influence. There are several indicators of
significant influence, but the most important are usually considered to be a
holding of 20% or more of the voting shares and board representation. Therefore
it was reasonable to assume that the investment in Acer (at 31 March 2008)
represented an associate and was correctly accounted for under the equity
accounting method.
The current position (from May 2008) is that although Philips still owns 30% of
Acer‟s shares, Acer has become a subsidiary of Spekulate as it has acquired 60%
of Acer‟s shares. Acer is now under the control of Spekulate (part of the
definition of being a subsidiary), therefore it is difficult to see how Philips can
now exert significant influence over Acer. The fact that Philips has lost its seat on
Acer‟s board seems to reinforce this point. In these circumstances the investment
in Acer falls to be treated under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. It will cease to be equity accounted from the date of loss of
significant influence. Its carrying amount at that date will be its initial
recognition value under IAS 39 and thereafter it will be carried at fair value.
Workings
i.
Cost of sales
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Philips
94,000
Sony (51,000 x 8/12)
34,000
Intra group purchases (1,250 x 8 months)
(10,000)
Additional depreciation: plant (2,400/ 4 years x 8/12)
400
property (per question)
200
600
Unrealized profit in inventories (3,000 x 20/120)
500
119,100
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Note: for both sales revenues and cost of sales, only the post-acquisition intra
group trading should be eliminated.
ii.
Finance costs
Philips per question
Unwinding interest – deferred consideration (36,000 x 10% x 8/12)
Sony (900 x 8/12)

Rs‟000
2,000
2,400
600
5,000

iii.
Minority interest
Sony‟s post-acquisition profit (13,500 x 8/12)
Less post-acquisition additional depreciation (w (i))

9,000
(600)
8,400
x 25% = 2,100

Question No 3:On 1 April 2008, Picaso acquired 60% of the equity share capital of Sophistic in a share
exchange of two shares in Picaso for three shares in Sophistic. The issue of shares has
not yet been recorded by Picaso. At the date of acquisition shares in Picaso had a market
value of Rs6 each. Below are the summarised draft financial statements of both
companies.
Income statements for the year ended 30 September 2008

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Finance costs
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Statements of financial position as at 30 September 2008

Picaso
Rs‟000
85,000
(63,000)
22,000
(2,000)
(6,000)
(300)
13,700
(4,700)
9,000

Sophistic
Rs‟000
42,000
(32,000)
10,000
(2,000)
(3,200)
(400)
4,400
(1,400)
3,000

Assets
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Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Current assets
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities
10% loan notes
Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
The following information is relevant:
i.

ii.

iii.
iv.

v.

ICPAP

40,600
16,000
56,600

12,600
6,600
19,200

10,000
35,400
45,400

4,000
6,500
10,500

3,000
8,200
56,600

4,000
4,700
19,200

At the date of acquisition, the fair values of Sophistic‟s assets were equal to their
carrying amounts with the exception of an item of plant, which had a fair value
of Rs2 million in excess of its carrying amount. It had a remaining life of five
years at that date [straight-line depreciation is used]. Sophistic has not adjusted
the carrying amount of its plant as a result of the fair value exercise.
Sales from Sophistic to Picaso in the post-acquisition period were Rs8 million.
Sophistic made a mark up on cost of 40% on these sales. Picaso had sold Rs5.2
million (at cost to Picaso) of these goods by 30 September 2008.
Other than where indicated, income statement items are deemed to accrue
evenly on a time basis.
Sophistic‟s trade receivables at 30 September 2008 include Rs600, 000 due from
Picaso which did not agree with Picaso‟s corresponding trade payable. This was
due to cash in transit of Rs200, 000 from Picaso to Sophistic. Both companies
have positive bank balances.
Picaso has a policy of accounting for any non-controlling interest at fair value.
For this purpose the fair value of the goodwill attributable to the non-controlling
interest in Sophistic is Rs1.5 million. Consolidated goodwill was not impaired at
30 September 2008.

Required:
a) Prepare the consolidated income statement for Picaso for the year ended 30
September 2008.
b) Prepare the consolidated statement of financial position for Picaso as at 30
September 2008.
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Note: a statement of changes in equity is not required.
Answer No 3:a) Picaso
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 September 2008
Rs‟000
98,000
(72,000)
26,000
(3,000)
(7,600)
(500)
14,900
(5,400)
9,500

Revenue (85,000 + (42,000 x 6/12) – 8,000 intra-group sales)
Cost of sales (w (i))
Gross profit
Distribution costs (2,000 + (2,000 x 6/12))
Administrative expenses (6,000 + (3,200 x 6/12))
Finance costs (300 + (400 x 6/12))
Profit before tax
Income tax expense (4,700 + (1,400 x 6/12))
Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interest (((3,000 x 6/12) – (800 URP + 200 depreciation)) x 40%)

b) Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2008
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (40,600 + 12,600 + 2,000 – 200 depreciation
adjustment (w (i)))
Goodwill (w (ii))
Current assets (w (iii))
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Equity shares of Rs1 each ((10, 000 + 1,600) w (ii))
Share premium (w (ii))
Retained earnings (w (iv))

9,300
200
9,500

55,000
4,500
59,500
21,400
80,900

11,600
8,000
35,700
55,300
6,100
61,400

Non-controlling interest (w (v))
Total equity
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Non-current liabilities
10% loan notes (4,000 + 3,000)
Current liabilities (8,200 + 4,700 – 400 intra-group balance)
Total equity and liabilities

7,000
12,500
80,900

Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.
Cost of sales
Picaso
Sophistic (32,000 x 6/12)
Intra-group sales
URP in inventory
Additional depreciation (2,000/5 years x 6/12)

Rs‟000
63,000
16,000
(8,000)
800
200
72,000

The unrealized profit (URP) in inventory is calculated as (Rs8 million – Rs5.2
million) x 40/140 = Rs800, 000.
ii.
Goodwill in Sophistic
Investment at cost
Shares (4,000 x 60% x 2/3 x Rs6)
Less – Equity shares of Sophistic (4,000 x 60%)
– pre-acquisition reserves (5,000 x 60% see below)
– fair value adjustment (2,000 x 60%)
Parent‟s goodwill
Non-controlling interest‟s goodwill (per question)
Total goodwill
The pre-acquisition reserves are:
At 30 September 2008
Earned in the post-acquisition period (3,000 x 6/12)
Alternative calculation for goodwill in Sophistic
Investment at cost (as above)
Fair value of non-controlling interest (see below)
Cost of the controlling interest
Less fair value of net assets at acquisition (4,000 + 5,000 +
2,000)
Total goodwill
Fair value of non-controlling interest (at acquisition)

Rs‟000
(2,400)
(3,000)
(1,200)

Rs‟000
9,600

(6,600)
3,000
1,500
4,500
6,500
(1,500)
5,000
9,600
5,900
15,500
(11,000)
4,500
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Share of fair value of net assets (11,000 x 40%)
Attributable goodwill per question

4,400
1,500
5,900

The 1.6 million shares (4,000 x 60% x 2/3) issued by Picaso would be recorded as
share capital of Rs1.6 million and share premium of Rs8 million (1,600 x Rs5).
iii.
Current assets
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Picaso
16,000
Sophistic
6,600
URP in inventory
(800)
Cash in transit
200
Intra-group balance
(600)
21,400
iv.
Retained earnings
Picaso per statement of financial position
35,400
Sophistic‟s post-acquisition profit
(((3,000 x 6/12) – (800 URP + 200 depreciation)) x 60%)
300
35,700
v.
Non-controlling interest (in statement of financial
position)
Net assets per statement of financial position
10,500
URP in inventory
(800)
Net fair value adjustment (2,000 – 200)
1,800
11,500 x 4,600
40%=
Share of goodwill (per question)
1,500
6,100
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Question No 4:Below are the summarised statements of financial position for three companies as at 31
March 2009:
Assets

Pacemaker
Rs
Rs
million million

Rs
Rs
million million

Video Tech
Rs
Rs
million million

520

280

240

345
865

40
320

Nil
240

Non-current assets
Property, plant and
equipment
Investments
Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Cash and bank
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Share premium
Retained earnings
Non – current liabilities
10% loan notes
Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

142
95
8

245
1,110

Shield

160
88
22

500
100
130

230
730
180
200
1,110

270
590

120
50
10

145
Nil
260

260
405

180
420
100

Nil
240

20
165
590

240
340
Nil
80
420

Notes:
Pacemaker is a public listed company that acquired the following investments:
i.

Investment in Shield
On 1 April 2007 Pacemaker acquired 116 million shares in Shield for an
immediate cash payment of Rs210 million and issued at par one 10% Rs100 loan
note for every 200 shares acquired. Shield‟s retained earnings at the date of
acquisition were Rs120 million.

ii.

Investment in Video Tech
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On 1 October 2008 Pacemaker acquired 30 million shares in Video Tech in
exchange for 75 million of its own shares. The stock market value of Pacemaker‟s
shares at the date of this share exchange was Rs1.60 each. Pacemaker has not yet
recorded the investment in Video Tech.
iii.

Pacemaker‟s other investments, and those of Shield, are available-for-sale
investments which are carried at their fair values as at 31 March 2008. The fair
value of these investments at 31 March 2009 is Rs82 million and Rs37 million
respectively.

Other relevant information:
iv.

Pacemaker‟s policy is to value non-controlling interests at their fair values. The
directors of Pacemaker assessed the fair value of the non-controlling interest in
Shield at the date of acquisition to be Rs65 million.
There has been no impairment to goodwill or the value of the investment in
Video Tech.

v.

At the date of acquisition of Shield owned a recently built property that was
carried at its (depreciated) construction cost of Rs62 million. The fair value of this
property at the date of acquisition was Rs82 million and it had an estimated
remaining life of 20 years.
For many years Shield has been selling some of its products under the brand
name of „Kyklop‟. At the date of acquisition the directors of Pacemaker valued
this brand at Rs25 million with a remaining life of 10 years. The brand is not
included in Shield‟s statement of financial position.
The fair value of all other identifiable assets and liabilities of Shield were equal to
their carrying values at the date of its acquisition.

vi.

vii.

The inventory of Shield at 31 March 2009 includes goods supplied by Pacemaker
for Rs56 million (at selling price from Pacemaker). Pacemaker adds a mark-up of
40% on cost when selling goods to Shield. There are no intra-group receivables or
payables at 31 March 2009.
Video Tech‟s profit is subject to seasonal variation. Its profit for the year ended
31 March 2009 was Rs100 million. Rs20 millions of this profit was made from 1
April 2008 to 30 September 2008.
Page | 97

Financial and Corporate Reporting

viii.

ICPAP

None of the companies have paid any dividends for many years.
Required:
Prepare the consolidated statement of financial position of Pacemaker as at 31
March 2009.
Answer No 4:Consolidated statement of financial position of Pacemaker as at 31 March 2009:
Rs
million
Non-current assets
Tangible
Property, plant and equipment (w (i))
Intangible
Goodwill (w (ii))
Brand (25 – 5 (25/10 x 2 years post acq amortization))
Investments
Investment in associate (w (iii))
Other available-for-sale investments (82 + 37)
Current assets
Inventory (142 + 160 – 16 URP (w (iv)))
Trade receivables (95 + 88)
Cash and bank (8 + 22)
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to the parent
Equity shares (500 + 75 (w (iii)))
Share premium (100 + 45 (w (iii))
Retained earnings (w (iv))
Non-controlling interest (w (v))
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
10% loan notes (180 + 20)
Current liabilities (200 + 165)
Total equity and liabilities

Rs
million

818
23
20
144
119
1,124
286
183
30

499
1,623

575
145
247

392
967
91
1,058
200
365
1,623
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Workings (all figures in Rs million)
The investment in Shield represents 80% (116/145) of its equity and is likely to give
Pacemaker control thus Shield should be consolidated as a subsidiary. The
investment in Video Tech represents 30% (30/100) of its equity and is normally
treated as an associate that should be equity accounted.
i.
Property, plant and equipment
Pacemaker
Shield
Fair value property (82-62)
Post – acquisition depreciation (2 year) (20 ×2/20 years)

520
280
20
(2)
818

ii.
Goodwill in Shield:
Investment at cost – cash
– loan note (116/200 x Rs100)
Cost of the controlling interest
Fair value of non-controlling interest (from question)
Equity shares
Pre-acquisition profit
Fair value adjustments – property (w (i))
– brand
Fair value of net assets at acquisition
Goodwill
iii. Investment in associate:

210
58
268
65
145
120
20
25
(310)
23

Rs million
Investment at cost (75 x Rs1.60)
120
Share of post-acquisition profit (100 – 20) x 30%
24
144
The purchase consideration by way of a share exchange (75 million shares in
Pacemaker for 30 million shares in Video Tech) would be recorded as an increase
in share capital of Rs75 million (Rs1 nominal value) and an increase in share
premium of Rs45 million (75 million x Rs0.60).
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iv.
Consolidated retained earnings:
Pacemaker‟s retained earnings
Shield‟s post-acquisition profits (130 x 80% see below)
Gain on investments – Pacemaker (see below)
Video Tech‟s post-acquisition profits (w (iii))
URP in Inventories (56 x 40/140)

130
104
5
24
(16)
247

Shield‟s retained earnings:
Post-acquisition (260 – 120)
Additional depreciation/Amortisation (2 + 5)
Loss on available-for-sale investments (40 – 37)
Adjusted post-acquisition profits

140
(7)
(3)
130

Gain on the value of Pacemaker‟s available-for-sale investments:
Carrying amount at 31 March 2008 (345 – 210 cash – 58 loan note)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2009
Gain to retained earnings (or other components of equity)

77
82
5

v.
Non-controlling interest
Fair value on acquisition (from question)
Share of adjusted post-acquisition profit (130 x 20% (w (iv)))

65
26
91

Question No 5:On 1 April 2009 Philips purchased 80% of the equity shares in Sony. The acquisition
was through a share exchange of three shares in Philips for every five shares in Sony.
The market prices of Philips‟s and Sony‟s shares at 1 April 2009 were Rs6 per share and
Rs3.20 respectively.
On the same date Philips acquired 40% of the equity shares in Acer paying Rs2 per
share.
The summarised income statements for the three companies for the year ended 30
September 2009 are:
Philips

Sony

Acer
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Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross Profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Investment income (interest and dividends)
Finance costs
Profit (loss) before tax
Income tax (expense) relief
Profit (loss) for the year

ICPAP

Rs‟000
210,000
(126,000)
84,000
(11,200)
(18,300)
9,500
(1,800)
62,200
(15,000)
47,200

Rs‟000
150,000
(100,000)
50,000
(7,000)
(9,000)

Rs‟000
50,000
(40,000)
10,000
(5,000)
(11,000)

(3,000)
31,000
(10,000)
21,000

Nil
(6,000)
1,000
(5,000)

The following information for the equity of the companies at 30 September 2009 is
available:
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Share premium
Retained earnings 1 October 2008
Profit (loss) for the year ended 30 September 2009
Dividends paid (26 September 2009)

200,000
300,000
40,000
47,200
Nil

120,000
Nil
152,000
21,000
(8,000)

40,000
Nil
15,000
(5,000)
Nil

The following information is relevant:
i.

The fair values of the net assets of Sony at the date of acquisition were equal to
their carrying amounts with the exception of an item of plant which had a
carrying amount of Rs12 million and a fair value of Rs17 million. This plant had
a remaining life of five years (straight-line depreciation) at the date of acquisition
of Sony. All depreciation is charged to cost of sales.
In addition Sony owns the registration of a popular internet domain name. The
registration, which had a negligible cost, has a five year remaining life (at the
date of acquisition); however, it is renewable indefinitely at a nominal cost. At
the date of acquisition the domain name was valued by a specialist company at
Rs20 million.
The fair values of the plant and the domain name have not been reflected in
Sony‟s financial statements.
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No fair value adjustments were required on the acquisition of the investment in
Acer.
ii.

iii.
iv.

v.

vi.

vii.

Immediately after its acquisition of Sony, Philips invested Rs50 million in an 8%
loan note from Sony. All interest accruing to 30 September 2009 had been
accounted for by both companies. Sony also has other loans in issue at 30
September 2009.
Philips has credited the whole of the dividend it received from Sony to
investment income.
After the acquisition, Philips sold goods to Sony for Rs15 million on which
Philips made a gross profit of 20%. Sony had one third of these goods still in its
inventory at 30 September 2009. There are no intra-group current account
balances at 30 September 2009.
The non-controlling interest in Sony is to be valued at its (full) fair value at the
date of acquisition. For this purpose Sony‟s share price at that date can be taken
to be indicative of the fair value of the shareholding of the non-controlling
interest.
The goodwill of Sony has not suffered any impairment; however, due to its
losses, the value of Philips‟s investment in Acer has been impaired by Rs3
million at 30 September 2009.
All items in the above income statements are deemed to accrue evenly over the
year unless otherwise indicated.

Required:
(a)
i.
ii.

Calculate the goodwill arising on the acquisition of Sony at 1 April 2009;
Calculate the carrying amount of the investment in Acer to be included within
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2009.

b) Prepare the consolidated income statement for the Philips Group for the year
ended 30 September 2009.
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Answer: - (a)
i.
Goodwill in Sony at 1 April 2009:
Controlling interest
Shares issued (120 million x 80% x 3/5 x Rs6)
Non-controlling interest (120 million x 20% x Rs3·20)

Rs‟000

Rs‟000
345,600
76,800
422,400

Equity shares
120,000
Pre-acquisition reserves:
At 1 October 2008
152,000
To date of acquisition (see below)
11,500
Fair value adjustments (5,000 + 20,000)
25,000
308,500
Goodwill arising on acquisition
113,900
The interest on the 8% loan note is Rs2 million (Rs50 million x 8% x 6/12). This is
included in Sony‟s income statement in the post-acquisition period. Thus Sony‟s profit
for the year of Rs21 million has a split of Rs11.5 million pre-acquisition ((21 million + 2
million interest) x 6/12) and Rs9.5 million post-acquisition.
ii.
Carrying amount of investment in Acer at 30 September 2009
Cost (40 million x 40% x Rs2)
Share of post-acquisition losses (5,000 x 40% x 6/12)
Impairment charge

Rs‟000
32,000
(1,000)
(3,000)
28,000

(b) Philips Group
Consolidated income statement for the year ended 30 September
2009
Revenue (210,000 + (150,000 x 6/12) – 15,000 intra-group sales)
Cost of sales (w (i))
Gross profit
Distribution costs (11,200 + (7,000 x 6/12))
Administrative expenses (18,300 + (9,000 x 6/12))
Investment income (w (ii))
Finance costs (w (iii))
Share of loss from associate (5,000 x 40% x 6/12)
Impairment of investment in associate
Profit before tax

Rs‟000

Rs‟000
270,000
(162,500)
107,500
(14,700)
(22,800)
1,100
(2,300)

(1,000)
(3,000)

(4,000)
64,800
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Income tax expense (15,000 + (10,000 x 6/12))
Profit for the year
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest (w (iv))

ICPAP

(20,000)
44,800
43,000
1,800
44,800

Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.
Cost of sales
Philips
Sony (100,000 x 6/12)
Intra-group purchases
Additional depreciation: plant (5,000/5 years x 6/12)
Unrealized profit in inventories (15,000/3 x 20%)

Rs‟000
126,000
50,000
(15,000)
500
1,000
162,500
As the registration of the domain name is renewable indefinitely (at only a nominal
cost) it will not be amortised.
ii.
Investment income
Per income statement
Intra-group interest (50,000 x 8% x 6/12)
Intra-group dividend (8,000 x 80%)

9,500
(2,000)
(6,400)
1,100

iii.
Finance costs
Philips
Sony post-acquisition ((3,000 – 2,000) x 6/12 + 2,000)
Intra-group interest (w (ii))

Rs‟000
1,800
2,500
(2,000)
2,300

Rs‟000

iv.
Non-controlling interest
Sony‟s post-acquisition profit (see (i) above)
Less: post-acquisition additional depreciation (w (i))

9,500
(500)
9,000
x 20%

= 1,800

Page | 104

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

Question No 6:On 1 April 2009 Pervaiz acquired 75% of Salman‟s equity shares in a share exchange of
three shares in Pervaiz for every two shares in Salman. The market prices of Pervaiz‟s
and Salman‟s shares at the date of acquisition were Rs3.20 and Rs4.50 respectively.
In addition to this Pervaiz agreed to pay a further amount on 1 April 2010 that was
contingent upon the post-acquisition performance of Salman. At the date of acquisition
Pervaiz assessed the fair value of this contingent consideration at Rs4.2 million, but by
31 March 2010 it was clear that the actual amount to be paid would be only Rs2.7
million (ignore discounting). Pervaiz has recorded the share exchange and provided for
the initial estimate of Rs4.2 million for the contingent consideration.
On 1 October 2009 Pervaiz also acquired 40% of the equity shares of Aqeel paying Rs4
in cash per acquired share and issuing at par one Rs100 7% loan note for every 50 shares
acquired in Aqeel. This consideration has also been recorded by Pervaiz.
Pervaiz has no other investments.
The summarised statements of financial position of the three companies at 31 March
2010 are:

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Pervaiz
Rs‟000

Salman
Rs‟000

Aqeel
Rs‟000

37,500
45,000

24,500
Nil

21,000
Nil

82,500

24,500

21,000

Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables

10,000
6,500

9,000
1,500

5,000
3,000

Total assets

99,000

35,000

29,000

Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Share premium
Retained earnings – at 1 April 2009

25,000
19,800
16,200

8,000
Nil
16,500

5,000
Nil
15,000
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– for the year ended 31 March 2010
Non-current liabilities
7% loan notes
Current liabilities
Contingent consideration
Other current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

ICPAP

11,000

1,000

6,000

72,000

25,500

26,000

14,500

2,000

Nil

4,200
8,300

Nil
7,500

Nil
3,000

99,000

35,000

29,000

The following information is relevant:
i.

At the date of acquisition the fair values of Salman‟s property, plant and
equipment was equal to its carrying amount with the exception of Salman‟s
factory which had a fair value of Rs2 million above its carrying amount. Salman
has not adjusted the carrying amount of the factory as a result of the fair value
exercise. This requires additional annual depreciation of Rs100, 000 in the
consolidated financial statements in the post-acquisition period.
Also at the date of acquisition, Salman had an intangible asset of Rs500, 000 for
software in its statement of financial position. Pervaiz‟s directors believed the
software to have no recoverable value at the date of acquisition and Salman
wrote it off shortly after its acquisition.

ii.

iii.

iv.

v.

At 31 March 2010 Pervaiz‟s current account with Salman was Rs3·4 million
(debit). This did not agree with the equivalent balance in Salman‟s books due to
some goods-in-transit invoiced at Rs1·8 million that were sent by Pervaiz on 28
March 2010, but had not been received by Salman until after the year end.
Pervaiz sold all these goods at cost plus 50%.
Pervaiz‟s policy is to value the non-controlling interest at fair value at the date of
acquisition. For this purpose Salman‟s share price at that date can be deemed to
be representative of the fair value of the shares held by the non-controlling
interest.
Impairment tests were carried out on 31 March 2010 which concluded that the
value of the investment in Aqeel was not impaired but, due to poor trading
performance, consolidated goodwill was impaired by Rs3·8 million.
Assume all profits accrue evenly through the year.
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Required:
a) Prepare the consolidated statement of financial position for Pervaiz as at 31
March 2010.
b) Pervaiz has been approached by a potential new customer, Trilby, to supply it
with a substantial quantity of goods on three months credit terms. Pervaiz is
concerned at the risk that such a large order represents in the current difficult
economic climate, especially as Pervaiz‟s normal credit terms are only one
month‟s credit. To support its application for credit, Trilby has sent Pervaiz a
copy of Takaful‟s most recent audited consolidated financial statements. Trilby is
a wholly-owned subsidiary within the Takaful group. Takaful‟s consolidated
financial statements show a strong statement of financial position including
healthy liquidity ratios.
Required:
Comment on the importance that Pervaiz should attach to Takaful‟s
consolidated financial statements when deciding on whether to grant credit
terms to Trilby.
Answer No 6:a) Consolidated statement of financial position of Pervaiz as at 31 March 2010
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment (37,500 + 24,500 + 2,000 –
63,900
100)
Goodwill (16,000 – 3,800 (w (i)))
12,200
Investment in associate (w (ii))
13,200
89,300
Current assets
Inventory (10,000 + 9,000 + 1,800 GIT – 600 URP (w (iii)))
20,200
Trade receivables (6,500 + 1,500 – 3,400 intra-group (w
4,600
24,800
(iii)))
Total assets
114,100
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Equity shares of Rs1 each
25,000
Share premium
19,800
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Retained earnings (w (iv))
Non-controlling interest (w (v))
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
7% loan notes (14,500 + 2,000)
Current liabilities
Contingent consideration
Other current liabilities (8,300 + 7,500 – 1,600 intragroup (w (iii)))
Total equity and liabilities

ICPAP

27,500

47,300
72,300
8,400
80,700
16,500

2,700
14,200

16,900
114,100

Workings (figures in brackets are in Rs‟000)
i.

Good will in Salman
Rs‟000
Controlling interest
Share exchange (8,000 x 75% x 3/2 x Rs3·20)
Contingent consideration
Non-controlling interest (8,000 x 25% x Rs4·50)
Equity shares
Pre-acquisition reserves:
At 1 April 2009
Fair value adjustments – factory
– software (see below)
Goodwill arising on acquisition

Rs‟000
28,800
4,200
9,000
42,000

8,000
16,500
2,000
(500)

(26,000)
16,000

Goodwill is impaired by Rs3.8 million and therefore has a carrying amount at 31
March 2010 of Rs12.2 million. The goodwill impairment is charged against
Salman‟s retained earnings (see working (iv)), thus ensuring it is allocated
between the controlling and non-controlling interests in proportion to their share
ownership in Salman.
The effect of the software having no recoverable amount is that its write-off in
the post-acquisition period should be treated as a fair value adjustment at the
date of acquisition for consolidation purposes. The consequent effect is that this
will increase the post-acquisition profit for consolidation purposes by Rs500, 000.
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Carrying amount of Aqeel at 31 March 2010
Cash consideration (5,000 x 40% x Rs4)
7% loan notes (5,000 x 40% x Rs100/50)
Share of post-acquisition profits (6,000 x 6/12 x 40%)

Rs‟000
8,000
4,000
1,200
13,200

iii.

Goods in transit and unrealized profit (URP)
The intra-group current accounts differ by the goods-in-transit sales of Rs1.8
million on which Pervaiz made a profit of Rs600,000 (1,800 x 50/150). Thus
inventory must be increased by Rs1.2 million (its cost), Rs600, 000 is eliminated
from
Pervaiz‟s profit, Rs3.4 million is deducted from trade receivables and Rs1.6
million (3,400 – 1,800) is deducted from trade payables (other current liabilities).

iv.

Consolidated retained earnings
Pervaiz‟s retained earnings
Salman‟s post-acquisition losses (2,400 x 75% see below)
Gain from reduction of contingent consideration (4,200 – 2,700 see
below)
URP in inventory (w (iii))
Aqeel‟s post-acquisition profits (6,000 x 6/12 x 40%)

Rs‟000
27,200
(1,800)
1,500
(600)
1,200
27,500

The adjustment to the provision for contingent consideration due to events
occurring after the acquisition is reported in income (goodwill is not
recalculated).
Post-acquisition adjusted losses of Salman are:
Profit as reported
1,000
Add back write off software (treated as a pre-acquisition fair value
500
adjustment)
Additional depreciation on factory
(100)
Goodwill written off (w (i))
(3,800)
(2,400)
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v.

Non – controlling interest
Fair value on acquisition (w (i))
Post-acquisition losses (2,400 x 25% (w (iv)))

ICPAP

9,000
(600)
8,400

b) Although the concept behind the preparation of consolidated financial
statements is to treat all the members of the group as if they were a single
economic entity, it must be understood that the legal position is that each
member is a separate legal entity and therefore the group itself does not exist as a
separate legal entity. This focuses on a criticism of group financial statements in
that they aggregate the assets and liabilities of all the members of the group. This
can give the impression that all of the group‟s assets would be available to
discharge all of the group‟s liabilities. This is not the case.
Applying this to the situation in the question, it would mean that any liability of
Trilby to Pervaiz would not be a liability of any other member of the Takaful
group. Thus the fact that the consolidated statement of financial position of
Takaful shows a strong position with healthy liquidity is not necessarily of any
reassurance to Pervaiz. Any decision on granting credit to Trilby must be based
on Trilby‟s own (entity) financial statements (which Pervaiz should obtain), not
the group financial statements. The other possibility, which would take
advantage of the strength of the group‟s statement of financial position, is that
Pervaiz could ask Takaful if it would act as a guarantor to Trilby‟s (potential)
liability to Pervaiz. In this case Takaful would be liable for the debt to Pervaiz in
the event of a default by Trilby.
Question No 7:On 1 June 2010, Premier acquired 80% of the equity share capital of Sanford. The
consideration consisted of two elements: a share exchange of three shares in Premier for
every five acquired shares in Sanford and the issue of an Rs100 6% loan note for every
500 shares acquired in Sanford. The share issue has not yet been recorded by Premier,
but the issue of the loan notes has been recorded. At the date of acquisition shares in
Premier had a market value of Rs5 each and the shares of Sanford had a stock market
price of Rs3.50 each. Below are the summarised draft financial statements of both
companies.
Statements of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 September 2010
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Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Finance costs
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Gain on revaluation of land (note (i))
Total comprehensive income

ICPAP

Premier
Rs‟000
92,500
(70,500 )
22,000
(2,500 )
(5,500 )
(100 )
13,900
(3,900 )
10,000

Sanford
Rs‟000
45,000
(36,000 )
9,000
(1,200 )
(2,400 )
Nil
5,400
(1,500 )
3,900

500
10,500

Nil
3,900

25,500
1,800
27,300
12,500
39,800

13,900
Nil
13,900
2,400
16,300

12,000
2,000
500
12,300
26,800

5,000
Nil
Nil
4,500
9,500

3,000
10,000
39,800

Nil
6,800
16,300

Statements of financial position as at 30 September 2010
Assets
Non – current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments
Current assets
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Land revaluation reserve – 30 September 2010 (note (i))
Other equity reserve – 30 September 2009 (note (iv))
Retained earnings
Non – current liabilities
6% loan notes
Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
The following information is relevant:
i.

At the date of acquisition, the fair values of Sanford‟s assets were equal to their
carrying amounts with the exception of its property. This had a fair value of
Rs1.2 million below its carrying amount. This would lead to a reduction of the
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depreciation charge (in cost of sales) of Rs50, 000 in the post-acquisition period.
Sanford has not incorporated this value change into its entity financial
statements.
Premier‟s group policy is to revalue all properties to current value at each year
end. On 30 September 2010, the value of Sanford‟s property was unchanged from
its value at acquisition, but the land element of Premier‟s property had increased
in value by Rs500, 000 as shown in other comprehensive income.
ii.

iii.

iv.

v.

vi.

Sales from Sanford to Premier throughout the year ended 30 September 2010 had
consistently been Rs1 million per month. Sanford made a mark-up on cost of 25%
on these sales. Premier had Rs2 million (at cost to Premier) of inventory that had
been supplied in the post-acquisition period by Sanford as at 30 September 2010.
Premier had a trade payable balance owing to Sanford of Rs350,000 as at 30
September 2010. This agreed with the corresponding receivable in Sanford‟s
books.
Premier‟s investments include some available-for-sale investments that have
increased in value by Rs300, 000 during the year. The other equity reserve relates
to these investments and is based on their value as at 30 September 2009. There
were no acquisitions or disposals of any of these investments during the year
ended 30 September 2010.
Premier‟s policy is to value the non-controlling interest at fair value at the date of
acquisition. For this purpose Sanford‟s share price at that date can be deemed to
be representative of the fair value of the shares held by the non-controlling
interest.
There has been no impairment of consolidated goodwill.

Required:
a) Prepare the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for Premier
for the year ended 30 September 2010.
b) Prepare the consolidated statement of financial position for Premier as at 30
September 2010.
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Answer No 7:a) Premier
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30
September 2010.
Rs‟000
Revenue (92,500 + (45,000 x 4/12) – 4,000 intra-group sales)
103,500
Cost of sales (w (i))
(78,850 )
Gross profit
24,650
Distribution costs (2,500 + (1,200 x 4/12))
(2,900 )
Administrative expenses (5,500 + (2,400 x 4/12))
(6,300 )
Finance costs
(100 )
Profit before tax
15,350
Income tax expense (3,900 + (1,500 x 4/12))
(4,400 )
Profit for the year
10,950
Other comprehensive income:
Gain on available-for-sale investments
300
Gain on revaluation of property
500
Total other comprehensive income for the year
800
Total comprehensive income
11,750
Profit for year attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent
10,760
Non-controlling interest ((1,300 see below – 400 URP + 50 reduced
190
depreciation) x 20%)
10,950
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (10,760 + 300 + 500)
11,560
Non-controlling interest
190
11,750
Sanford‟s profits for the year ended 30 September 2010 of Rs3.9 million are Rs2.6
million (3,900 x 8/12) pre-acquisition and Rs1.3 million (3,900 x 4/12) postacquisition.
b) Consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September 2010.
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (w (ii))
Goodwill (w (iii))

38,250
9,300
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Available-for-sale investments (1,800 – 800 consideration + 300
gain)
Current assets (w (iv))
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Equity shares of Rs1 each ((12,000 + 2,400) w (iii))
Share premium (w (iii))
Land revaluation reserve
Other equity reserve (500 + 300)
Retained earnings (w (v))
Non-controlling interest (w (vi))
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
6% loan notes
Current liabilities (10,000 + 6,800 – 350 intra group balance)
Total equity and liabilities
Workings in Rs‟000

ICPAP

1,300
48,850
14,150
63,000

14,400
9,600
2,000
800
13,060
39,860
3,690
43,550
3,000
16,450
63,000

i.
Cost of sales
Premier
Sanford (36,000 x 4/12)
Intra-group purchases
URP in inventory
Reduction of depreciation charge

70,500
12,000
(4,000 )
400
(50 )
78,850
The unrealized profit (URP) in inventory is calculated as Rs2 million x 25/125 = Rs400,
000.
ii.
Non-current assets
Premier
Sanford
Fair value reduction at acquisition
Reduced depreciation

25,500
13,900
(1,200 )
50
38,250
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iii.
Goodwill in Sanford
Investment at cost
Shares (5,000 x 80% x 3/5 x Rs5)
6% loan notes (5,000 x 80% x 100/500)
Non-controlling interest (5,000 x 20% x Rs3·50)

12,000
800
3,500
16,300

Net assets (equity) of Sanford at 30 September 2010
(9,500 )
Less: post-acquisition profits (see above)
1,300
Less: fair value adjustment for property
1,200
Net assets at date of acquisition
(7,000 )
Goodwill
9,300
The 2.4 million shares (5,000 x 80% x 3/5) issued by Premier at Rs5 each would be
recorded as share capital of Rs2.4 million and share premium of Rs9.6 million.
iv.
Current assets
Premier
Sanford
URP in inventory
Intra-group balance

12,500
2,400
(400)
(350)
14,150

v.
Retained earnings
Premier
Sanford‟s post-acquisition adjusted profit
((1,300 – 400 URP + 50 reduced depreciation) x 80%)

12,300
760
13,060

vi.
Non-controlling interest in statement of financial position
At date of acquisition
Post-acquisition profit from income statement

3,500
190
3,690
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Question No 8:The following trial balance relates to LUX, a listed company, at 30 September 2007:
Land and buildings – at valuation 1 October 2006 (note (i))
Plant – at cost (note (i))
Accumulated depreciation of plant at 1 October 2006
Investments – at fair value through profit and loss (note (i))
Investment income
Cost of sales (note (i))
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Loan interest paid
Inventory at 30 September 2007
Income tax (note (ii))
Trade receivables
Revenue
Equity shares of 50 Paisa each fully paid
Retained earnings at 1 October 2006
2% loan note 2009 (note (iii))
Trade payables
Revaluation reserve (arising from land and buildings)
Deferred tax
Suspense account (note (iv))
Bank

Rs‟000
130,000
128,000

Rs‟000

32,000
26,500
2,200
89,200
11,000
12,500
800
37,900
400
35,100

471,000

180,400
60,000
25,500
80,000
34,700
14,000
11,200
24,000
6,600
471,000

The following notes are relevant:
i.

LUX has a policy of revaluing its land and buildings at each year end. The
valuation in the trial balance includes a land element of Rs30 million. The
estimated remaining life of the buildings at that date (1 October 2006) was 20
years. On 30 September 2007, a professional valuer valued the buildings at Rs92
million with no change in the value of the land. Depreciation of buildings is
charged 60% to cost of sales and 20% each to distribution costs and
administrative expenses.
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During the year LUX manufactured an item of plant that it is using as part of its
own operating capacity. The details of its cost, which is included in cost of sales
in the trial balance, are:
Rs‟000
Materials cost
6,000
Direct labour cost
4,000
Machine time cost
8,000
Directly attributable overheads
6,000
The manufacture of the plant was completed on 31 March 2007 and the plant was
brought into immediate use, but its cost has not yet been capitalised.
All plant is depreciated at 121/2% per annum (time apportioned where relevant)
using the reducing balance method and charged to cost of sales. No non-current
assets were sold during the year.
The fair value of the investments held at fair value through profit and loss at 30
September 2007 was Rs27.1 million.
ii.

iii.

iv.

The balance of income tax in the trial balance represents the under/over
provision of the previous year‟s estimate. The estimated income tax liability for
the year ended 30 September 2007 is Rs18·7 million. At 30 September 2007 there
were Rs40 million of taxable temporary differences. The income tax rate is 25%.
Note: you may assume that the movement in deferred tax should be taken to the
income statement.
The 2% loan note was issued on 1 April 2007 under terms that provide for a large
premium on redemption in 2009. The finance department has calculated that the
effect of this is that the loan note has an effective interest rate of 6% per annum.
The suspense account contains the corresponding credit entry for the proceeds of
a rights issue of shares made on 1 July 2007. The terms of the issue were one
share for every four held at 80 Paisa per share. LUX‟s share price immediately
before the issue was Rs1. The issue was fully subscribed.

Required:
Prepare for LUX:
a) An income statement for the year ended 30 September 2007.
b) A balance sheet as at 30 September 2007.
c) A calculation of the earnings per share for the year ended 30 September 2007.
Note: a statement of changes in equity is not required.
Page | 117

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

Answer No 8:a) LUX – Income statement – Year ended 30 September 2007
Rs‟000
Revenue
Cost of sales (w (i))
Gross profit
Distribution costs (11,000 + 1,000 depreciation)
Administrative expenses (12,500 + 1,000 depreciation)
Investment income
Gain on fair value of investments (27,100 – 26,500)
Finance costs (w (ii))
Profit before tax
Income tax expense (18,700 – 400 – (11,200 – 10,000)
deferred tax)
Profit for the period

(12,000)
(13,500)
2,200
600

Rs‟000
180,400
(81,700)
98,700
(25,500)
2,800
(2,400)
73,600
(17,100)
56,500

b) LUX – Balance sheet as at 30 September 2007
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (w (iv))
Investments at fair value through profit and loss
Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity shares of 50 Paisa each ((60,000 + 15,000) w (iii))
Share premium (w (iii))
Revaluation reserve (14,000 – 3,000 (w (iv)))
Retained earnings (56,500 + 25,500)
Non-current liabilities
2% loan note (80,000 + 1,600 (w (ii)))
Deferred tax (40,000 x 25%)
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Bank overdraft

Rs‟000

228,500
27,100
255,600
37,900
35,100

73,000
328,600

75,000
9,000
11,000
82,000

81,600
10,000

102,000
177,000

91,600

34,700
6,600
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Total equity and liabilities
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18,700

60,000
328,600

Workings (monetary figures in brackets are in Rs‟000)
i.
Cost of sales:
Per question
Plant capitalised (w (iv))
Depreciation (w (iv)) – buildings
– plant
ii.

iii.

iv.

Rs‟000
89,200
(24,000)
3,000
13,500
81,700
The loan has been in issue for six months. The total finance charge should
be based on the effective interest rate of 6%. This gives a charge of Rs2.4
million (80,000 x 6% x 6/12). As the actual interest paid is Rs800,000 an
accrual (added to the carrying amount of the loan) of Rs1.6 million is
required.
The rights issue was 30 million shares (60 million/50 Paisa is 120 million
shares at 1 for 4) at a price of 80 Paisa this would increase share capital by
Rs15 million (30 million x 50 Paisa) and share premium by Rs9 million (30
million x 30 Paisa).
Non-current assets/depreciation:
Land and buildings:
On 1 October 2006 the value of the buildings was Rs100 million (130,000 –
30,000 land). The remaining life at this date was 20 years, thus the annual
depreciation charge will be Rs5 million (3,000 to cost of sales and 1,000
each to distribution and administration). Prior to the revaluation at 30
September 2007 the carrying amount of the building was Rs95 million
(100,000 – 5,000). With a revalued amount of Rs92 million, this gives a
revaluation deficit of Rs3 million which should be debited to the
revaluation reserve. The carrying amount of land and buildings at 30
September 2007 will be Rs122 million (92,000 buildings + 30,000 land
(unchanged)).
Plant
The existing plant will be depreciated by Rs12 million ((128,000 – 32,000) x
121/2%) and have a carrying amount of Rs84 million at 30 September
2007.
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The plant manufactured for internal use should be capitalised at Rs24
million (6,000 + 4,000 + 8,000 + 6,000). Depreciation on this will be Rs1.5
million (24,000 x 121/2% x 6/12). This will give a carrying amount of
Rs22.5 million at 30 September 2007. Thus total depreciation for plant is
Rs13.5 million with a carrying amount of Rs106.5 million (84,000 + 22,500)
Rs‟000
Summarizing the carrying amounts:
Land and buildings
122,000
Plant
106,500
Property, plant and equipment
228,500
c) Earnings per share (eps) for the year ended 30 September 2007
Theoretical ex rights value
Holding (say)
100 at Rs1
Issue (1 for 4)
25 at 80 Paisa
New holding
125 ex rights price is 96 Paisa
Weighted average number of
shares
120,000,000
x 9/12 x 100/96
150,000,000 (120 x 5/4)
x 3/12

Rs
100
20
120

93,750,000
37,500,000
131,250,000

Earnings per share (Rs56, 500,000/131,250,000) 43 Paisa
Question No 9:Below is the summarised draft statement of financial position of Dawlance, a publicly
listed company, as at 31 March 2008.
Rs‟000

Rs‟000

Assets
Non-current assets
Property at valuation (land Rs20,000; buildings
Rs165,000 (note (ii))
Plant (note (ii))
Investments at fair value through profit and loss at 1
April 2007 (note (iii))

Rs‟000

185,000
180,500
12,500
378,000

Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables (note (iv))

84,000
52,200
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Bank
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Ordinary shares of Rs1 each
Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings – at 1 April 2007
– for the year ended 31 March 2008

ICPAP

3,800

140,000
518,000

250,000
40,000
18,000
12,300
96,700

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax – at 1 April 2007 (note (v))
Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

109,000

167,000
417,000
19,200
81,800
518,000

The following information is relevant:
i.

ii.

Dawlance‟s income statement includes Rs8 million of revenue for credit sales
made on a „sale or return‟ basis. At 31 March 2008, customers who had not paid
for the goods had the right to return Rs2.6 million of them. Dawlance applied a
markup on cost of 30% on all these sales. In the past, Dawlance‟s customers have
sometimes returned goods under this type of agreement.
The non-current assets have not been depreciated for the year ended 31 March
2008.
Dawlance has a policy of revaluing its land and buildings at the end of each
accounting year. The values in the above statement of financial position are as at
1 April 2007 when the buildings had a remaining life of fifteen years. A qualified
surveyor has valued the land and buildings at 31 March 2008 at Rs180 million.
Plant is depreciated at 20% on the reducing balance basis.

iii.

iv.

The investments at fair value through profit and loss are held in a fund whose
value changes directly in proportion to a specified market index. At 1 April 2007
the relevant index was 1,200 and at 31 March 2008 it was 1,296.
In late March 2008 the directors of Dawlance discovered a material fraud
perpetrated by the company‟s credit controller that had been continuing for
some time. Investigations revealed that a total of Rs4 million of the trade
receivables as shown in the statement of financial position at 31 March 2008 had
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v.

vi.

vii.

viii.

ICPAP

in fact been paid and the money had been stolen by the credit controller. An
analysis revealed that Rs1·5 million had been stolen in the year to 31 March 2007
with the rest being stolen in the current year. Dawlance is not insured for this
loss and it cannot be recovered from the credit controller, nor is it deductible for
tax purposes.
During the year the company‟s taxable temporary differences increased by Rs10
millions of which Rs6 million related to the revaluation of the property. The
deferred tax relating to the remainder of the increase in the temporary
differences should be taken to the income statement. The applicable income tax
rate is 20%.
The above figures do not include the estimated provision for income tax on the
profit for the year ended 31 March 2008. After allowing for any adjustments
required in items (i) to (iv), the directors have estimated the provision at Rs11.4
million (this is in addition to the deferred tax effects of item (v)).
On 1 September 2007 there was a fully subscribed rights issue of one new share
for every four held at a price of Rs1.20 each. The proceeds of the issue have been
received and the issue of the shares has been correctly accounted for in the above
statement of financial position.
In May 2007 a dividend of 4 Paisa per share was paid. In November 2007 (after
the rights issue in item (vii) above) a further dividend of 3 Paisa per share was
paid. Both dividends have been correctly accounted for in the above statement of
financial position.

Required:
Taking into account any adjustments required by items (i) to (viii) above
a) Prepare a statement showing the recalculation of Dawlance‟s profit for the year
ended 31 March 2008.
b) Prepare the statement of changes in equity of Dawlance for the year ended 31
March 2008.
c) Redraft the statement of financial position of Dawlance as at 31 March 2008.
Note: notes to the financial statements are NOT required.
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Answer No 9:a)
Rs‟000
Retained profit for period per question
Dividends paid (w (i))
Draft profit for year ended 31 March 2008
Discovery of fraud (w (ii))
Goods on sale or return (w (iii))
Depreciation (w (iv)) – buildings (165,000/15 years)
– plant (180,500 x 20%)
Increase in investments ((12,500 x 1,296/1,200) – 12,500)
Provision for income tax
Increase in deferred tax (w (v))
Recalculated profit for year ended 31 March 2008

Rs‟000
96,700
15,500
112,200
(2,500)
(600)

11,000
36,100

(47,100)
1,000
(11,400)
(800)
50,800

b) Dawlance – Statement of Changes in Equity – Year ended 31 March 2008
Ordinary
Share
Revaluation
Shares premium
reserve
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
200,000
30,000
18,000

Retained
earnings
Rs‟000
12,300
(1,500)

Total
Rs‟000
260,300
(1,500)

At 1 April 2007
Prior period adjustment (w
(ii))
Restated earnings at 1 April
10,800
2007
Rights issue (see below)
50,000
10,000
60,000
Total
comprehensive
income
(from (a) and (w (iv))
4,800
50,800
55,600
Dividends paid (w (i))
(15,500) (15,500)
At 31 March 2008
250,000
40,000
22,800
46,100 358,900
Rights issue: 250 million shares in issue after a rights issue of one for four would
mean that 50 million shares were issued (250,000 x 1/5). As the issue price was
Rs1.20, this would create Rs50 millions of share capital and Rs10 millions of
share premium.
c) Dawlance – Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2008:
Rs‟000
Non-current assets
Property (w (iv))

Rs‟000
180,000
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Plant (180,500 – 36,100 depreciation see (a))
Investments at fair value through profit and loss (12,500 +
1,000 see (a))

144,400
13,500
337,900

Current assets
Inventory (84,000 + 2,000 (w (iii)))
Trade receivables (52,200 – 4,000 – 2,600 (w (ii) and (iii)))
Bank
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity (from (b))
Ordinary shares of Rs1 each
Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax (19,200 + 2,000 (w (v)))
Current liabilities (81,800 + 11,400 income tax)
Total equity and liabilities

86,000
45,600
3,800

135,400
473,300

250,000
40,000
22,800
46,100

108,900
358,900
21,200
93,200
473,300

Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.
Dividends paid
The dividend in May 2007 would be Rs8 million (200 million shares at 4
Paisa) and in November 2007 would be Rs7.5 million (250 million shares x
3 Paisa). Total dividends would therefore have been Rs15.5 million.
ii.
The discovery of the fraud means that Rs4 million should be written off
trade receivables. Rs1.5 million debited to retained earnings as a prior
period adjustment (in the statement of changes in equity) and Rs2.5
written off in the income statement for the year ended 31 March 2008.
iii.
Goods on sale or return
The sales over which customers still have the right of return should not be
included in Dawlance‟s recognised revenue. The reversing effect is to
reduce the relevant trade receivables by Rs2.6 million, increase inventory
by Rs2 million (the cost of the goods (2,600 x 100/130)) and reduce the
profit for the year by Rs600, 000.

Page | 124

Financial and Corporate Reporting

i.

ii.

ICPAP

Property
The carrying amount of the property (after the year‟s depreciation) is
Rs174 million (185,000 – 11,000). A valuation of Rs180 million would
create a revaluation surplus of Rs6 millions of which Rs1.2 million (6,000 x
20%) would be transferred to deferred tax.
Deferred tax
An increase in the taxable temporary differences of Rs10 million would
create a transfer (credit) to deferred tax of Rs2 million (10,000 x 20%). Of
this Rs1.2 million relates to the revaluation of the property and is debited
to the revaluation reserve. The balance, Rs800, 000, is charged to the
income statement.

Question No 10:The following trial balance relates to Coca Cola at 30 September 2008:
Leasehold property – at valuation 1 October 2007 (note (i))
Plant and equipment – at cost (note (i))
Plant and equipment – accumulated depreciation at 1 October 2007
Capitalised development expenditure – at 1 October 2007 (note (ii))
Development expenditure – accumulated amortization at 1 October
2007
Closing inventory at 30 September 2008
Trade receivables
Bank
Trade payables and provisions (note (iii))
Revenue (note (i))
Cost of sales
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses (note (iii))
Preference dividend paid
Interest on bank borrowings
Equity dividend paid
Research and development costs (note (ii))
Equity shares of 25 Paisa each
8% redeemable preference shares of Rs1 each (note (iv))
Retained earnings at 1 October 2007
Deferred tax (note (v))
Leasehold property revaluation reserve

Rs‟000
50,000
76,600

Rs‟000

24,600
20,000
6,000
20,000
43,100
1,300
23,800
300,000
204,000
14,500
22,200
800
200
6,000
8,600

466,000

50,000
20,000
24,500
5,800
10,000
466,000

The following notes are relevant:
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Non-current assets – tangible:
The leasehold property had a remaining life of 20 years at 1 October 2007. The
company‟s policy is to revalue its property at each year end and at 30 September 2008 it
was valued at Rs43 million. Ignore deferred tax on the revaluation.
On 1 October 2007 an item of plant was disposed of for Rs2.5 million cash. The proceeds
have been treated as sales revenue by Coca Cola. The plant is still included in the above
trial balance figures at its cost of Rs8 million and accumulated depreciation of Rs4
million (to the date of disposal).
All plant is depreciated at 20% per annum using the reducing balance method.
Depreciation and amortization of all non-current assets is charged to cost of sales.

ii.

Non-current assets – intangible:
In addition to the capitalised development expenditure (of Rs20 million), further
research and development costs were incurred on a new project which commenced on 1
October 2007. The research stage of the new project lasted until 31 December 2007 and
incurred Rs1.4 million of costs. From that date the project incurred development costs of
Rs800, 000 per month. On 1 April 2008 the directors became confident that the project
would be successful and yield a profit well in excess of its costs. The project is still in
development at 30 September 2008.
Capitalised development expenditure is amortised at 20% per annum using the straightline method. All expensed research and development is charged to cost of sales.

iii.

iv.
v.

Coca Cola is being sued by a customer for Rs2 million for breach of contract over a
cancelled order. Coca Cola has obtained legal opinion that there is a 20% chance that
Coca Cola will lose the case. Accordingly Coca Cola has provided Rs400, 000 (Rs2
million x 20%) included in administrative expenses in respect of the claim. The
unrecoverable legal costs of defending the action are estimated at Rs100, 000. These have
not been provided for as the legal action will not go to court until next year.
The preference shares were issued on 1 April 2008 at par. They are redeemable at a large
premium which gives them an effective finance cost of 12% per annum.
The directors have estimated the provision for income tax for the year ended 30
September 2008 at Rs11.4 million. The required deferred tax provision at 30 September
2008 is Rs6 million.
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Required:
a) Prepare the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 September
2008.
b) Prepare the statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 September 2008.
c) Prepare the statement of financial position as at 30 September 2008.
Note: notes to the financial statements are not required.
Answer No 10:a) Coca Cola – Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 September 2008
Rs‟000
Revenue (300,000 – 2,500)
297,500
Cost of sales (w (i))
(225,400)
Gross profit
72,100
Distribution costs
(14,500)
Administrative expenses (22,200 – 400 + 100 see note below)
(21,900)
Finance costs (200 + 1,200 (w (ii)))
(1,400)
Profit before tax
34,300
(Income tax expense (11,400 + (6,000 – 5,800 deferred tax))
(11,600)
Profit for the year
22,700
Other comprehensive income
Loss on leasehold property revaluation (w (iii))
(4,500)
Total comprehensive income for the year
18,200
Note: as it is considered that the outcome of the legal action against Coca Cola is
unlikely to succeed (only a 20% chance) it is inappropriate to provide for any damages.
The potential damages are an example of a contingent liability which should be
disclosed (at Rs2 million) as a note to the financial statements. The unrecoverable legal
costs are a liability (the start of the legal action is a past event) and should be provided
for in full.
b) Coca Cola – Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 September 2008
Equity
Revaluation Retained
Total
shares
reserve
earnings
equity
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Balances at 1 October 2007
50,000
10,000
24,500
84,500
Dividend
(6,000)
(6,000)
Comprehensive income
(4,500)
22,700
18,200
Balances at 30 September 2008
50,000
5,500
41,200
96,700
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c) Coca Cola – Statement of financial position as at 30 September 2008
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets (w (iii))
Property, plant and equipment (43,000 + 38,400)
Development costs
Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Total assets
Equity and liabilities:
Equity (from (b))
Equity shares of 25 Paisa each
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax
8% redeemable preference shares (20,000 + 400 (w (ii)))
Current liabilities
Trade payables (23,800 – 400 + 100 – re legal action)
Bank overdraft
Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities

20,000
43,100

Rs‟000
81,400
14,800
96,200

63,100
159,300

50,000
5,500
41,200

6,000
20,400
23,500
1,300
11,400

46,700
96,700

26,400

36,200
159,300

Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.
Cost of sales:
Per trial balance
Depreciation (w (iii)) – leasehold property
– plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of plant (4,000 – 2,500)
Amortisation of development costs (w (iii))
Research and development expensed (1,400 + 2,400 (w (iii)))
ii.

Rs‟000
204,000
2,500
9,600
1,500
4,000
3,800
225,400
The finance cost of Rs1.2 million for the preference shares is based on the
effective rate of 12% applied to Rs20 million issue proceeds of the shares for the
six months they have been in issue (20m x 12% x 6/12). The dividend paid of
Rs800, 000 is based on the nominal rate of 8%. The additional Rs400, 000 (accrual)
is added to the carrying amount of the preference shares in the statement of
financial position. As these shares are redeemable they are treated as debt and
their dividend is treated as a finance cost.
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Non-current assets:
Leasehold property
Valuation at 1 October 2007
Depreciation for year (20 year life)
Carrying amount at date of revaluation
Valuation at 30 September 2008
Revaluation deficit

50,000
(2,500)
47,500
(43,000)
4,500
Rs‟000
52,000
(4,000)
48,000
(9,600)
38,400

Plant and equipment per trial balance (76,600 – 24,600)
Disposal (8,000 – 4,000)
Depreciation for year (20%)
Carrying amount at 30 September 2008
Capitalised/deferred development costs
Carrying amount at 1 October 2007 (20,000 – 6,000)
Amortised for year (20,000 x 20%)
Capitalised during year (800 x 6 months)
Carrying amount at 30 September 2008

14,000
(4,000)
4,800
14,800

Note: development costs can only be treated as an asset from the point where
they meet the recognition criteria in IAS 38 Intangible assets. Thus development
costs from 1 April to 30 September 2008 of Rs4.8 million (800 x 6 months) can be
capitalised. These will not be amortised as the project is still in development. The
research costs of Rs1.4 million plus three months‟ development costs of Rs2.4
million (800 x 3 months) (i.e. those incurred before 1 April 2008) are treated as an
expense.
Question No 11:The following trial balance relates to Pricewell at 31 March 2009:
Leasehold property – at valuation 31 March 2008 (note (i))
Plant and equipment (owned) – at cost (note (i))
Plant and equipment (leased) – at cost (note (i))
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2008
Owned plant and equipment
Leased plant and equipment
Finance lease payment (paid on 31 March 2009) (note (i))
Obligations under finance lease at 1 April 2008 (note (i))
Construction contract (note (ii))
Inventory at 31 March 2009
Trade receivables
Bank

Rs‟000
25,200
46,800
20,000

Rs‟000

12,800
5,000
6,000
15,600
14,300
28,200
33,100
5,500
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Trade payables
Revenue (note (iii))
Cost of sales (note (iii))
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Preference dividend paid (note (iv))
Equity dividend paid
Equity shares of 50 Paisa each
6% redeemable preference shares at 31 March 2008 (note (iv))
Retained earnings at 31 March 2008
Current tax (note (v))
Deferred tax (note (v))

ICPAP

33,400
310,000
234,500
19,500
27,500
2,400
8,000
40,000
41,600
4,900
700
471,700

8,400
471,700

The following notes are relevant:
i.

Non-current assets:
The 15 year leasehold property was acquired on 1 April 2007 at cost Rs30 million. The
company policy is to revalue the property at market value at each year end. The
valuation in the trial balance of Rs25.2 million as at 31 March 2008 led to an impairment
charge of Rs2.8 million which was reported in the income statement of the previous year
(i.e. year ended 31 March 2008). At 31 March 2009 the property was valued at Rs24.9
million.
Owned plant is depreciated at 25% per annum using the reducing balance method.
The leased plant was acquired on 1 April 2007. The rentals are Rs6 million per annum
for four years payable in arrears on 31 March each year. The interest rate implicit in the
lease is 8% per annum. Leased plant is depreciated at 25% per annum using the straightline method.
No depreciation has yet been charged on any non-current assets for the year ended 31
March 2009. All depreciation is charged to cost of sales.

ii.

On 1 October 2008 Pricewell entered into a contract to construct a bridge over a river.
The agreed price of the bridge is Rs50 million and construction was expected to be
completed on 30 September 2010. The Rs14.3 million in the trial balance is:

Rs‟000
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materials, labour and overheads
specialist plant acquired 1 October 2008
payment from customer

iii.

iv.

v.

ICPAP

12,000
8,000
(5,700)
14,300

The sales value of the work done at 31 March 2009 has been agreed at Rs22 million and
the estimated cost to complete (excluding plant depreciation) is Rs10 million. The
specialist plant will have no residual value at the end of the contract and should be
depreciated on a monthly basis. Pricewell‟s recognises profits on uncompleted contracts
on the percentage of completion basis as determined by the agreed work to date
compared to the total contract price.
Pricewell‟s revenue includes Rs8 million for goods it sold acting as an agent for Trilby.
Pricewell earned a commission of 20% on these sales and remitted the difference of Rs6.4
million (included in cost of sales) to Trilby.
The 6% preference shares were issued on 1 April 2007 at par for Rs40 million. They have
an effective finance cost of 10% per annum due to a premium payable on their
redemption.
The directors have estimated the provision for income tax for the year ended 31 March
2009 at Rs4.5 million.
The required deferred tax provision at 31 March 2009 is Rs5.6 million; all adjustments to
deferred tax should be taken to the income statement. The balance of current tax in the
trial balance represents the under/over provision of the income tax liability for the year
ended 31 March 2008.

Required:
a) Prepare the statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2009.
b) Prepare the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2009.
Note: a statement of changes in equity and notes to the financial statements are not
required.
Answer No 11:a) Pricewell – Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2009:
Rs‟000
Revenue (310,000 + 22,000 (w (i)) – 6,400 (w (ii)))
325,600
Cost of sales (w (iii))
(255,100)
Gross profit
70,500
Distribution costs
(19,500)
Administrative expenses
(27,500)
Finance costs (4,160 (w (v)) + 1,248 (w (vi)))
(5,408)
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Profit before tax
Income tax expense (4,500 +700 – (8,400 – 5,600 deferred tax)
Profit for the year

18,092
(2,400)
15,692

b) Pricewell – Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2009:
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (24,900 + 41,500 w (iv))
Current assets
Inventory
28,200
Amount due from customer (w (i))
17,100
Trade receivables
33,100
Bank
5,500
Total assets
Equity and liabilities:
Equity shares of 50 Paisa each
Retained earnings (w (vii))
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax
Finance lease obligation (w (vi))
6% Redeemable preference shares (41,600 + 1,760 (w (v)))
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Finance lease obligation (10,848 – 5,716) (w (vi)))
Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities
Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)

Rs‟000
66,400

83,900
150,300
40,000
12,592
52,592

5,600
5,716
43,360

54,676

33,400
5,132
4,500

43,032
150,300

i.
Rs'000
Construction contract:
Selling price
Estimated cost
To date
To complete
Plant
Estimated profit
Work done is agreed at Rs22 million so the contract is 44% complete (22,000/50,000).

Revenue
Cost of sales (= balance)

50,000
(12,000)
(10,000)
(8,000)
20,000

22,000
(13,200)
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Profit to date (44% x 20,000)
Cost incurred to date materials and labour
Plant depreciation (8,000 x 6/24 months)
Profit to date

8,800
12,000
2,000
8,800
22,800
Cash received
(5,700)
Amount due from customer
17,100
ii.
Pricewell is acting as an agent (not the principal) for the sales on behalf of Trilby.
Therefore the income statement should only include Rs1.6 million (20% of the sales of
Rs8 million). Therefore Rs6.4 million (8,000 – 1,600) should be deducted from revenue
and cost of sales. It would also be acceptable to show agency sales (of Rs1.6 million)
separately as other income.
iii.
Cost of sales
Per question
Contract (w (i))
Agency cost of sales (w (ii))
Depreciation (w (iv)) – leasehold property
– owned plant ((46,800 – 12,800) x 25%)
– leased plant (20,000 x 25%)
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold property (w (iv))

234,500
13,200
(6,400)
1,800
8,500
5,000
(1,500)
255,100

iv.
Rs'000
Non-current assets
Leasehold property
valuation at 31 March 2008
depreciation for year (14 year life remaining)
carrying amount at date of revaluation
valuation at 31 March 2009
revaluation surplus (to income statement – see below)

25,200
(1,800)
23,400
(24,900)
1,500

The Rs1.5 million revaluation surpluses is credited to the income statement as this is the partial
reversal of the Rs2.8 million impairment loss recognised in the income statement in the previous
period (i.e. year ended 31 March 2008).
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Plant and equipment
– owned (46,800 – 12,800 – 8,500)
25,500
– leased (20,000 – 5,000 – 5,000)
10,000
– contract (8,000 – 2,000 (w (i)))
6,000
Carrying amount at 31 March 2009
41,500
v.
The finance cost of Rs4, 160,000 for the preference a share is based on the effective rate of
10% applied to Rs41.6 million balances at 1 April 2008. The accrual of Rs1, 760,000 (4,160
– 2,400 dividend paid) is added to the carrying amount of the preference shares in the
statement of financial position. As these shares are redeemable they are treated as debt
and their dividend is treated as a finance cost.
vi.
Finance lease liability
balance at 31 March 2008
interest for year at 8%
lease rental paid 31 March 2009
total liability at 31 March 2009
interest next year at 8%
lease rental due 31 March 2010
total liability at 31 March 2010

15,600
1,248
(6,000)
10,848
868
(6,000)
5,716

Retained earnings
balance at 1 April 2008
profit for year
equity dividend paid
balance at 31 March 2009

4,900
15,692
(8,000)
12,592

vii.

Question No 12:The following trial balance relates to Sandown at 30 September 2009:
Rs‟000
Revenue (note (i))
Cost of sales
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses (note (ii))
Loan interest paid (note (iii))
Investment income
Profit on sale of investments (note (iv))
Current tax (note (v))
Freehold proper ty – at cost 1 October 2000 (note (vi))
Plant and equipment – at cost (note (vi))

Rs‟000
380,000

246,800
17,400
50,500
1,000
1,300
2,200
2,100
63,000
42,200
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Brand – at cost 1 October 2005 (note (vi))
Accumulated depreciation – 1 October 2008 – building
– plant and equipment
Accumulated amortization – 1 October 2008 – brand
Available-for-sale investments (note (iv))
Inventory at 30 September 2009
Trade receivables
Bank
Trade payables
Equity shares of 20 Paisa each
Equity option
Other reserve (note (iv))
5% convertible loan note 2012 (note (iii))
Retained earnings at 1 October 2008
Deferred tax (note (v))

ICPAP

30,000
8,000
19,700
9,000
26,500
38,000
44,500
8,000

570,000

42,900
50,000
2,000
5,000
18,440
26,060
5,400
570,000

The following notes are relevant:
i.

ii.
iii.

iv.

v.

Sandown‟s revenue includes Rs16 million for goods sold to Pending on 1
October 2008. The terms of the sale are that Sandown will incur ongoing service
and support costs of Rs1.2 million per annum for three years after the sale.
Sandown normally makes a gross profit of 40% on such servicing and support
work. Ignore the time value of money.
Administrative expenses include an equity dividend of 4.8 Paisa per share paid
during the year.
The 5% convertible loan note was issued for proceeds of Rs20 million on 1
October 2007. It has an effective interest rate of 8% due to the value of its
conversion option.
During the year Sandown sold an available-for-sale investment for Rs11 million.
At the date of sale it had a carrying amount of Rs8.8 million and had originally
cost Rs7 million. Sandown has recorded the disposal of the investment. The
remaining available-for-sale investments (the Rs26.5 million in the trial balance)
have a fair value of Rs29 million at 30 September 2009. The other reserve in the
trial balance represents the net increase in the value of the available-for-sale
investments as at 1 October 2008. Ignore deferred tax on these transactions.
The balance on current tax represents the under/over provision of the tax
liability for the year ended 30 September 2008. The directors have estimated the
provision for income tax for the year ended 30 September 2009 at Rs16.2 million.
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vi.
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At 30 September 2009 the carrying amounts of Sandown‟s net assets were Rs13
million in excess of their tax base. The income tax rate of Sandown is 30%.
Non-current assets:
The freehold property has a land element of Rs13 million. The building element
is being depreciated on a straight-line basis.
Plant and equipment is depreciated at 40% per annum using the reducing
balance method.
Sandown‟s brand in the trial balance relates to a product line that received bad
publicity during the year which led to falling sales revenues. An impairment
review was conducted on 1 April 2009 which concluded that, based on estimated
future sales, the brand had a value in use of Rs12 million and a remaining life of
only three years. However, on the same date as the impairment review, Sandown
received an offer to purchase the brand for Rs15 million. Prior to the impairment
review, it was being depreciated using the straight-line method over a 10-year
life.
No depreciation/amortizations have yet been charged on any non-current asset
for the year ended 30 September 2009. Depreciation, amortization and
impairment charges are all charged to cost of sales.

Required:
a) Prepare the statement of comprehensive income for Sandown for the year
ended 30 September 2009.
b) Prepare the statement of financial position of Sandown as at 30 September
2009. Notes to the financial statements are not required.
A statement of changes in equity is not required.
Answer No 11:a) Sandown – Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30
September 2009
Rs‟000
Revenue (380,000 – 4,000 (w (i)))
376,000
Cost of sales (w (ii))
(265,300)
Gross profit
110,700
Distribution costs
(17,400)
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Administrative expenses (50,500 – 12,000 (w (iii)))
Investment income
Profit/gain on sale of available-for-sale investments (w (iv))
Finance costs (w (v))
Profit before tax
Income tax expense (16,200 + 2,100 – 1,500 (w (vi)))
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Gain on available-for-sale investments (w (iv))
Realised profit reclassified (recycled) to income on available-for-sale
investment
Total other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
b) Sandown – Statement of financial position as at 30 September 2009
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (w (vii))
Intangible – brand (15,000 – 2,500 (w (ii)))
Available-for-sale investments (at fair value)
Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Bank
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity shares of 20 Paisa each
Equity option
Other reserve (w (viii))
Retained earnings (26,060 + 41,825 – 12,000 dividend (w
(iii)))

38,000
44,500
8,000

(38,500)
1,300
4,000
(1,475)
58,625
(16,800)
41,825
2,500
(1,800)
700
42,525

Rs‟000
67,500
12,500
29,000
109,000

90,500
199,500

50,000
2,000
5,700
55,885
113,585

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax (w (vi))
Deferred income (w (i))
5% convertible loan note (w (v))
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Deferred income (w (i))

3,900
2,000
18,915

24,815

42,900
2,000
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Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities
Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.

ICPAP

16,200

61,100
199,500

IAS 18 Revenue requires that where sales revenue includes an amount for after
sales servicing and support costs then a proportion of the revenue should be
deferred. The amount deferred should cover the cost and a reasonable profit (in
this case a gross profit of 40%) on the services. As the servicing and support is for
three years and the date of the sale was 1 October 2008, revenue relating to two
years‟ servicing and support provision must be deferred: (Rs1.2 million x 2/0.6)
= Rs4 million. This is shown as Rs2 million in both current and non-current
liabilities.

ii.
Cost of sales
Per question
Depreciation – building (50,000/50 years – see below)
– plant and equipment (42,200 – 19,700) x 40%))
Amortisation – brand (1,500 + 2,500 – see below)
Impairment of brand (see below)

246,800
1,000
9,000
4,000
4,500
265,300
The cost of the building of Rs50 million (63,000 – 13,000 land) has accumulated
depreciation of Rs8 million at 30 September 2008 which is eight years after its
acquisition. Thus the life of the building must be 50 years.
The brand is being amortised at Rs3 million per annum (30,000/10 years). The
impairment occurred half way through the year, thus amortization of Rs1.5
million should be charged prior to calculation of the impairment loss. At the date
of the impairment review the brand had a carrying amount of Rs19.5 million
(30,000 – (9,000 + 1,500)). The recoverable amount of the brand is its fair value of
Rs15 million (as this is higher than its value in use of Rs12 million) giving an
impairment loss of Rs4.5 million (19,500 – 15,000). Amortisation of Rs2.5 million
(15,000/3 years x 6/12) is required for the second-half of the year giving total
amortization of Rs4 million for the full year.

iii.

iv.

A dividend of 4.8 Paisa per share would amount to Rs12 million (50 million x 5
(i.e. shares are 20 Paisa each) x 4.8 Paisa). This is not an administrative expense
but a distribution of profits that should be accounted for through equity.
The profit reported on the sale of the available-for-sale investment has two parts:
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gain in current year (11,000 proceeds – 8,800 carrying amount)
reclassified past revaluation gains (from other equity reserve):
(8,800 carrying amount – 7,000 original cost)

2,200

1,800
4,000
The remaining investments of Rs26.5 million have a fair value of Rs29 million at
30 September 2009 which gives a fair value increase (credited to other reserve) of
Rs2.5 million.
v. The finance cost of the convertible loan note is based on its effective rate of 8%
applied to Rs18, 440,000 carrying amount at 1 October 2008 = Rs1, 475,000
(rounded). The accrual of Rs475, 000 (1,475 – 1,000 interest paid) is added to the
carrying amount of the loan note giving a figure of Rs18, 915,000 (18,440 + 475) in
the statement of financial position at 30 September 2009.
vi. Deferred tax
credit balance required at 30 September 2009 (13,000 x 30%)
3,900
balance at 1 October 2008
(5,400)
credit (reduction in balance) to income statement
1,500
vii. Non-current assets
Freehold property (63,000 – (8,000 + 1,000)) (w (ii))
54,000
Plant and equipment (42,200 – (19,700 + 9,000)) (w (ii))
13,500
Property, plant and equipment
67,500
viii.
Other reserve (re available-for-sale investments)
at 1 October 2008
5,000
„reclassified‟ gain (w (iv))
(1,800)
increase in year ((w (iv))
2,500
5,700
Question No 12:The following trial balance relates to Dune at 31 March 2010:
Rs‟000
Equity shares of Rs1 each
5% loan note (note (i))
Retained earnings at 1 April 2009
Leasehold (15 years) property – at cost (note (ii))
Plant and equipment – at cost (note (ii))
Accumulated depreciation – 1 April 2009 – leasehold property
– plant and equipment
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (note (iii))
Inventory at 31 March 2010
Trade receivables

Rs‟000
60,000
20,000
38,400

45,000
67,500
6,000
23,500
26,500
48,000
40,700
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Bank
Deferred tax (note (v))
Trade payables
Revenue (note (iv))
Cost of sales
Construction contract (note (vi))
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses (note (i))
Dividend paid
Loan note interest paid (six months)
Bank interest
Investment income
Current tax (note (v))

ICPAP

4,500
6,000
52,000
400,000
294,000
20,000
26,400
34,200
10,000
500
200

613,000

1,200
1,400
613,000

The following notes are relevant:
i.

ii.

The 5% loan note was issued on 1 April 2009 at its nominal (face) value of Rs20
million. The direct costs of the issue were Rs500, 000 and these have been
charged to administrative expenses. The loan note will be redeemed on 31 March
2012 at a substantial premium. The effective finance cost of the loan note is 10%
per annum.
Non-current assets:
In order to fund a new project, on 1 October 2009 the company decided to sell its
leasehold property. From that date it commenced a short-term rental of an
equivalent property. The leasehold property is being marketed by a property
agent at a price of Rs40 million, which was considered a reasonably achievable
price at that date. The expected costs to sell have been agreed at Rs500, 000.
Recent market transactions suggest that actual selling prices achieved for this
type of property in the current market conditions are 15% less than the value at
which they are marketed. At 31 March 2010 the property had not been sold.
Plant and equipment is depreciated at 15% per annum using the reducing
balance method.
No depreciation/amortization has yet been charged on any non-current asset for
the year ended 31 March 2010. Depreciation, amortization and impairment
charges are all charged to cost of sales.
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iii.

iv.

v.

vi.

ICPAP

The investments at fair value through profit or loss had a fair value of Rs28
million on 31 March 2010. There were no purchases or disposals of any of these
investments during the year.
It has been discovered that goods with a cost of Rs6 million, which had been
correctly included in the count of the inventory at 31 March 2010, had been
invoiced in April 2010 to customers at a gross profit of 25% on sales, but included
in the revenue (and receivables) of the year ended 31 March 2010.
A provision for income tax for the year ended 31 March 2010 of Rs12 million is
required. The balance on current tax represents the under/over provision of the
tax liability for the year ended 31 March 2009. At 31 March 2010 the tax base of
Dune‟s net assets was Rs14 million less than their carrying amounts. The income
tax rate of Dune is 30%.
The details of the construction contract are:
costs to 31 March 2010
further costs to complete
Rs‟000
Rs‟0000
Materials
labour and other direct
costs

5,000
3,000

8,000
7,000

8,000
15,000
plant acquired at cost
12,000
per trial balance
20,000
The contract commenced on 1 October 2009 and is scheduled to take 18 months
to complete. The agreed contract price is fixed at Rs40 million. Specialised plant
was purchased at the start of the contract for Rs12 million. It is expected to have
a residual value of Rs3 million at the end of the contract and should be
depreciated using the straight-line method on a monthly basis. An independent
surveyor has assessed that the contract is 30% complete at 31 March 2010. The
customer has not been invoiced for any progress payments. The outcome of the
contract is deemed to be reasonably certain as at the year end.
Required:
a) Prepare the income statement for Dune for the year ended 31 March 2010.
b) Prepare the statement of financial position for Dune as at 31 March 2010.
Notes to the financial statements are not required.
A statement of changes in equity is not required.
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Answer No 12:a) Dune – Income statement for the year ended 31 March 2010
Revenue (400,000 – 8,000 + 12,000 (w (i) and (ii)))
Cost of sales (w (iii))
Gross profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses (34,200 – 500 loan note issue costs)
Investment income
Profit (gain) on investments at fair value through profit or loss (28,000
– 26,500)
Finance costs (200 + 1,950 (w (iv)))
Profit before tax
Income tax expense (12,000 – 1,400 – 1,800 (w (v)))
Profit for the year

Rs‟000
404,000
(315,700)
88,300
(26,400)
(33,700)
1,200
1,500
(2,150)
28,750
(8,800)
19,950

b) Dune – Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (w (vi))
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Current assets
Inventory
Construction contract – amounts due from customer (w (ii))
Trade receivables (40,700 – 8,000 (w (i)))
Non-current assets held for sale (w (iii))
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Retained earnings (38,400 + 19,950 – 10,000 dividend paid)
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax (w (v))
5% loan notes (2012) (w (iv))
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Bank overdraft

Rs‟000

46,400
28,000
74,400
48,000
13,400
32,700

94,100
33,500
202,000

60,000
48,350
108,350
4,200
20,450

24,650

52,000
4,500
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Accrued loan note interest (w (iv))
Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities
Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.

ii.

iii.

ICPAP

500
12,000

69,000
202,000

This appears to be a „cut off‟ error in that Dune has invoiced goods that are still
in inventory. The required adjustment is to remove the sale of Rs8 million (6,000
x 100/75) from revenue and trade receivables. No adjustment is required to cost
of sales or closing inventory.
Construction contract:
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Agreed selling price
40,000
Costs to date
8,000
Costs to complete
15,000
Plant (12,000 – 3,000)
9,000
(32,000)
Total estimated profit
8,000
Amounts for inclusion in the income statement for the year
ended 31 March 2010
Revenue (40,000 x 30%)
12,000
Cost of sales (balance)
(9,600)
Gross profit (8,000 x 30%)
2,400
Amounts for inclusion in the statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2010
Cost to date – materials, labour and other direct costs
8,000
Plant depreciation ((12,000 – 3,000) x 6/18)
3,000
11,000
Profit to date
2,400
13,400
Payments received
(nil)
Amounts due from customer
13,400
Cost of sales
Per question
Construction contract (w (ii))
Depreciation of leasehold property (see below)
Impairment of leasehold property (see below)
Depreciation of plant and equipment ((67,500 – 23,500) x 15%)

Rs‟000
294,000
9,600
1,500
4,000
6,600
315,700
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v.

vi.
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The leasehold property must be classed as a non-current asset held for sale from
1 October 2009 at its fair value less costs to sell. It must be depreciated for six
months up to this date (after which depreciation ceases). This is calculated at
Rs1.5 million (45,000/15 years x 6/12). Its carrying amount at 1 October 2009 is
therefore Rs37.5 million (45,000 – (6,000 + 1,500)).
Its fair value less cost to sell at this date is Rs33.5 million ((40,000 x 85%) – 500). It
is therefore impaired by Rs4 million (37,500 – 33,500).
The finance cost of the loan note, at the effective rate of 10% applied to the
correct carrying amount of the loan note of Rs19.5 million is, Rs1.95 million (the
issue costs must be deducted from the proceeds of the loan note; they are not an
administrative expense). The interest actually paid is Rs500, 000 (20,000 x 5% x
6/12); however, a further Rs500, 000 needs to be accrued as a current liability (as
it will be paid soon). The difference between the total finance cost of Rs1.95
million and the Rs1 million interest payable is added to the carrying amount of
the loan note to give Rs20.45 million (19,500 + 950) for inclusion as a non-current
liability in the statement of financial position.
Deferred tax
Provision required at 31 March 2010 (14,000 x 30%)
Provision at 1 April 2009
Credit (reduction in provision) to income statement

4,200
(6,000)
1,800

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment (67,500 – 23,500 – 6,600)
Construction plant (12,000 – 3,000)

37,400
9,000
46,400

Question No 13:The following trial balance relates to Canon as at 30 September 2010:
Rs‟000
Equity shares of 20 Paisa each (note (i))
8% loan note (note (ii))
Retained earnings – 30 September 2009
Other equity reserve
Revaluation reserve
Share premium
Land and buildings at valuation – 30 September 2009:

Rs‟000
50,000
30,600
12,100
3,000
7,000
11,000
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Land (Rs7 million) and building (Rs36 million) (note (iii))
Plant and equipment at cost (note (iii))
Accumulated depreciation plant and equipment – 30 September 2009
Available-for-sale investments (note (iv))
Inventory at 30 September 2010
Trade receivables
Bank
Deferred tax (note (v))
Trade payables
Revenue
Cost of sales
Administrative expenses (note (i))
Distribution costs
Loan note interest paid
Bank interest
Investment income
Current tax (note (v))

ICPAP

43,000
67,400
13,400
15,800
19,800
29,000
4,600
4,000
21,700
182,500
128,500
25,000
8,500
2,400
300
700
900
340,600 340,600

The following notes are relevant:
i.

ii.

iii.

Canon has accounted for a fully subscribed rights issue of equity shares made on
1 April 2010 of one new share for every four in issue at 42 Paisa each. The
company paid ordinary dividends of 3 Paisa per share on 30 November 2009 and
5 Paisa per share on 31 May 2010. The dividend payments are included in
administrative expenses in the trial balance.
The 8% loan note was issued on 1 October 2008 at its nominal (face) value of Rs30
million. The loan note will be redeemed on 30 September 2012 at a premium
which gives the loan note an effective finance cost of 10% per annum.
Non-current assets:
Canon revalues its land and building at the end of each accounting year. At 30
September 2010 the relevant value to be incorporated into the financial
statements is Rs41.8 million. The building‟s remaining life at the beginning of the
current year (1 October 2009) was 18 years. Canon does not make an annual
transfer from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings in respect of the
realization of the revaluation surplus. Ignore deferred tax on the revaluation
surplus.
Plant and equipment includes an item of plant bought for Rs10 million on 1
October 2009 that will have a 10-year life (using straight-line depreciation with
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no residual value). Production using this plant involves toxic chemicals which
will cause decontamination costs to be incurred at the end of its life. The present
value of these costs using a discount rate of 10% at 1 October 2009 was Rs4
million. Canon has not provided any amount for this future decontamination
cost. All other plant and equipment is depreciated at 12.5% per annum using the
reducing balance method.
No depreciation has yet been charged on any non-current asset for the year
ended 30 September 2010. All depreciation is charged to cost of sales.
The available-for-sale investments held at 30 September 2010 had a fair value of
Rs13.5 million. There were no acquisitions or disposals of these investments
during the year ended 30 September 2010.
A provision for income tax for the year ended 30 September 2010 of Rs5.6 million
is required. The balance on current tax represents the under/over provision of
the tax liability for the year ended 30 September 2009. At 30 September 2010 the
tax base of Canon‟s net assets was Rs15 million less than their carrying amounts.
The movement on deferred tax should be taken to the income statement. The
income tax rate of Canon is 25%.

Required:
a) Prepare the statement of comprehensive income for Canon for the year ended
30 September 2010.
b) Prepare the statement of changes in equity for Canon for the year ended 30
September 2010.
c) Prepare the statement of financial position of Canon as at 30 September 2010.
Notes to the financial statements are not required.
Answer No 13:a) Canon – Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 30 September
2010
Rs‟000
Revenue
182,500
Cost of sales (w (i))
(137,400 )
Gross profit
45,100
Distribution costs
(8,500 )
Administrative expenses (25,000 – 18,500 dividends (w (iii)))
(6,500 )
Investment income
700
Finance costs (300 + 400 (w (ii)) + 3,060 (w (iv)))
(3,760 )
Profit before tax
27,040
Page | 146

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

Income tax expense (5,600 + 900 – 250 (w (v)))
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Loss on available-for-sale investments (15,800 – 13,500)
Gain on revaluation of land and buildings (w (ii))
Total other comprehensive losses for the year
Total comprehensive income

(6,250 )
20,790
(2,300 )
800
(1,500 )
19,290

b) Craven – Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 30 September 2010
share
capital
Rs‟000
Balance at 1 October
2009
Rights issue (w(iii))
Dividends (w(iii))

share
premium
Rs‟000

40,000

Nil

10,000

11,000

Comprehensive income
Balance at 30 September
2010

50,000

11,000

Other
equity
reserve
Rs‟000
3,000

Revaluation
reserve
Rs‟000
7,000

Total
equity
Rs‟000

12,100

62,100

(18,500)

21,000
(18,500)

(2,300)

800

20,790

19,290

700

7,800

14,390

83,890

c) Canon – Statement of financial position as at 30 September 2010
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (41,800 + 51,100 (w (ii)))
Available-for-sale investments
Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity (see (b) above)
Equity shares of 20 Paisa each
Share premium
Other equity reserve
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings

Retained
earnings
Rs„000

19,800
29,000

Rs‟000
92,900
13,500
106,400

48,800
155,200

50,000
11,000
700
7,800
14,390

33,890
83,890
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Non-current liabilities
Provision for decontamination costs (4,000 + 400 (w (ii)))
8% loan note (w (iv))
Deferred tax (w (v))
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Bank overdraft
Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities

ICPAP

4,400
31,260
3,750
21,700
4,600
5,600

39,410

31,900
155,200

Workings (monetary figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.

Cost of sales
Per trial balance
Depreciation of building (36,000/18 years)
Depreciation of new plant (14,000/10 years)
Depreciation of existing plant and equipment ((67,400 – 10,000 –
13,400) x 12.5%)

128,500
2,000
1,400
5,500
137,400

ii.

iii.

Property, plant and equipment
The new plant of Rs10 million should be grossed up by the provision for the
present value of the estimated future decontamination costs of Rs4 million to
give a gross cost of Rs14 million. The „unwinding‟ of the provision will give rise
to a finance cost in the current year of Rs400, 000 (4,000 x 10%) to give a closing
provision of Rs4.4 million.
The gain on revaluation and carrying amount of the land and building will be:
Valuation – 30 September 2009
43,000
Building depreciation (w (i))
(2,000 )
Carrying amount before revaluation
41,000
Revaluation – 30 September 2010
41,800
Gain on revaluation
800
The carrying amount of the plant and equipment will be:
New plant (14,000 – 1,400)
12,600
Existing plant and equipment (67,400 – 10,000 – 13,400 – 5,500)
38,500
51,100
Rights issue/dividends paid
Based on 250 million (50 million x 5 – as shares are 20 Paisa each) shares in issue
at 30 September 2010, a rights issue of 1 for 4 on 1 April 2010 would have
resulted in the issue of 50 million new shares (250 million – (250 million x 4/5)).
Page | 148

Financial and Corporate Reporting

iv.

v.

ICPAP

This would be recorded as share capital of Rs10 million (50,000 x 20 Paisa) and
share premium of Rs11 million (50,000 x (42 Paisa – 20 Paisa)).
The dividend of 3 Paisa per share paid on 30 November 2009 would have been
based on 200 million shares and been Rs6 million. The dividend of 5 Paisa per
share paid on 31 May 2010 would have been based on 250 million shares and
been Rs12.5 million. Therefore the total dividends paid, incorrectly included in
administrative expenses, were Rs18.5 million.
Loan note
The finance cost of the loan note, at the effective rate of 10% applied to the
carrying amount of the loan note of Rs30.6 million, is Rs3.06 million. The interest
actually paid is Rs2.4 million. The difference between these amounts of Rs660,
000 (3,060 – 2,400) is added to the carrying amount of the loan note to give
Rs31.26 million (30,600 + 660) for inclusion as a non-current liability in the
statement of financial position.
Deferred tax
Provision required at 30 September 2010 (15,000 x 25%)
3,750
Provision at 1 October 2009
(4,000 )
250

Question No 14:The following trial balance relates to Highwood at 31 March 2011:
Rs‟000
Equity shares of 50 Paisa each
Retained earnings (note (i))
8% convertible loan note (note (ii))
Freehold property – at cost 1 April 2005 (land element Rs25 million
(note (iii)))
Plant and equipment – at cost
Accumulated depreciation – 1 April 2010 – building
– plant and equipment
Current tax (note (iv))
Deferred tax (note (iv))
Inventory – 4 April 2011 (note (v))
Trade receivables
Bank
Trade payables
Revenue
Cost of sales
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses (note (vi))

Rs‟000
56,000
1,400
30,000

75,000
74,500
10,000
24,500
800
2,600
36,000
47,100
11,500
24,500
339,650
207,750
27,500
30,700
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Loan interest paid (note (ii))

2,400
500,950

500,950

The following notes are relevant:
i.
ii.

An equity dividend of 5 Paisa per share was paid in November 2010 and charged to
retained earnings.
The 8% Rs30 million convertible loan note was issued on 1 April 2010 at par. Interest is
payable annually in arrears on 31 March each year. The loan note is redeemable at par
on 31 March 2013 or convertible into equity shares at the option of the loan note holders
on the basis of 30 equity shares for each Rs100 of loan note. Highwood‟s finance director
has calculated that to issue an equivalent loan note without the conversion rights it
would have to pay an interest rate of 10% per annum to attract investors.
The present value of Rs1 receivable at the end of each year, based on discount rates of
8% and 10% are:
End of year

iii.

1
2
3

8%
0.93
0.86
0.79

10%
0.91
0.83
0.75

Non-current assets:
On 1 April 2010 Highwood decided for the first time to value its freehold property at its
current value. A qualified property valuer reported that the market value of the freehold
property on this date was Rs80 million, of which Rs30 million related to the land. At this
date the remaining estimated life of the property was 20 years. Highwood does not
make a transfer to retained earnings in respect of excess depreciation on the revaluation
of its assets.
Plant is depreciated at 20% per annum on the reducing balance method.
All depreciation of non-current assets is charged to cost of sales.

iv.

v.

The balance on current tax represents the under/over provision of the tax liability for
the year ended 31 March 2010. The required provision for income tax for the year ended
31 March 2011 is Rs19.4 million. The difference between the carrying amounts of the net
assets of Highwood (including the revaluation of the property in note (iii) above) and
their (lower) tax base at 31 March 2011 is Rs27 million. Highwood‟s rate of income tax is
25%.
The inventory of Highwood was not counted until 4 April 2011 due to operational
reasons. At this date its value at cost was Rs36 million and this figure has been used in
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the cost of sales calculation above. Between the year end of 31 March 2011 and 4 April
2011, Highwood received a delivery of goods at a cost of Rs2.7 million and made sales of
Rs7.8 million at a mark-up on cost of 30%. Neither the goods delivered nor the sales
made in this period were included in Highwood‟s purchases (as part of cost of sales) or
revenue in the above trial balance.
On 31 March 2011 Highwood factored (sold) trade receivables with a book value of Rs10
million to Easyfinance. Highwood received an immediate payment of Rs8.7 million and
will pay Easyfinance 2% per month on any uncollected balances. Any of the factored
receivables outstanding after six months will be refunded to Easyfinance. Highwood has
derecognised the receivables and charged Rs1.3 million to administrative expenses. If
Highwood had not factored these receivables it would have made an allowance of
Rs600, 000 against them.

Required:
i.
ii.
iii.

Prepare the statement of comprehensive income for Highwood for the year ended 31
March 2011;
Prepare the statement of changes in equity for Highwood for the year ended 31 March
2011;
Prepare the statement of financial position of Highwood as at 31 March 2011.

Note: your answers and workings should be presented to the nearest Rs1, 000; notes to the
financial statements are not required.
Answer No 14:i.

Highwood – Statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2011
Rs‟000
Revenue
339,650
Cost of sales (w (i))
(216,950)
Gross profit
122,700
Distribution costs
(27,500)
Administrative expenses (30,700 – 1,300 + 600 allowance (w (ii)))
(30,000)
Finance costs (w (iii))
(2,848)
Profit before tax
62,352
Income tax expense (19,400 – 800 + 400 (w (iv)))
(19,000)
Profit for the year
43,352
Other comprehensive income:
Gain on revaluation of property (w (i))
15,000
Deferred tax on revaluation (w (i))
(3,750)
Total comprehensive income
54,602

Page | 151

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

ii.

Highwood – Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 March 2011
Share
Equity Revaluation Retained
Total
capital
option
reserve
earnings
equity
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Balance at 1 April 2010 (see below)
56,000
Nil
Nil
7,000
63,000
8% loan note issue (w(iii))
1,524
1,524
Dividend paid (W(v))
(5,600)
(5,600)
Comprehensive income
11,250
43,352
54,602
Balance at 31 March 2011
56,000
1,524
11,250
44,752
113,526
Note: the retained earnings of Rs1.4 million in the trial balance is after deducting the dividend
paid of Rs5.6 million (w (v)), therefore the retained earnings at 1 April 2010 were Rs7 million.
iii.

Highwood – Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (77,500 + 40,000) (w (i))
Current assets
Inventory (36,000 – 2,700 + 6,000) (w (i))
Trade receivables (47,100 + 10,000 – 600 allowance) (w (ii))
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity (see answer (ii))
Equity shares of 50 Paisa each
Other component of equity – equity option
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax (w (iv))
8% convertible loan note (28,476 + 448) (w (iii))
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Liability to Easyfinance (w (ii))
Bank overdraft
Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities
Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.

Rs‟000

Rs‟000
117,500

39,300
56,500

95,800
213,300

56,000
1,524
11,250
44,752
113,526
6,750
28,924
24,500
8,700
11,500
19,400

35,674

64,100
213,300

Cost of sales and non-current assets
Cost of sales per question
Depreciation – building (see below)
– plant and equipment (see below)
Adjustment/increase to closing inventory (see below)

Rs‟000
207,750
2,500
10,000
(3,300)
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216,950
Freehold property
The revaluation of the property will create an initial revaluation reserve of Rs15 million
(80,000 – (75,000 – 10,000)). Rs3.75 million of this (25%) will be transferred to deferred tax
leaving a net revaluation reserve of Rs11.25 million. The building valued at Rs50 million
will require a depreciation charge of Rs2.5 million (50,000/20 years remaining) for the
current year. This will leave a carrying amount in the statement of financial position of
Rs77.5 million (80,000 – 2,500).
Plant and equipment:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
1 April 2010
74,500
24,500
Charge for year ((74,500 – 24,500) x 20%)
10,000
31 March 2011
74,500
34,500
The carrying amount in the statement of financial position is Rs40 million.
Inventory adjustment
Goods delivered (deduct from closing inventory)
Cost of goods sold (7,800 x 100/130) (add to closing inventory)
Net increase in closing inventory
ii.

iii.

(2,700)
6,000
3,300

Factored receivables
As Highwood still bears the risk of the non-payment of the receivables, the substance of
this transaction is a loan. Thus the receivables must remain on Highwood‟s statement of
financial position and the proceeds of the „sale‟ treated as a current liability. The
difference between the factored receivables (10,000) and the loan received (8,700) of
Rs1·3 million, which has been charged to administrative expenses, should be reversed
except for Rs600,000 which should be treated as an allowance for uncollectible
receivables.
8% convertible loan note
This is a compound financial instrument having a debt (liability) and an equity
component. These must be quantified and accounted for separately:
year ended 31 March
Outflow
10%
present value
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
2011
2,400
0.91
2,184
2012
2,400
0.83
1,992
2013
32,400
0.75
24,300
Liability component
28,476
Equity component (balance)
1,524
Proceeds of issue
30,000
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The finance cost for the year will be Rs2, 848,000 (28,476 x 10% rounded). Thus Rs448,
000 (2,848 – 2,400 interest paid) will be added to the carrying amount of the loan note in
the statement of financial position.
Deferred tax
credit balance required at 31 March 2011 (27,000 x 25%)
6,750
revaluation of property (w (i))
(3,750)
balance at 1 April 2010
(2,600)
charge to income statement
400
The dividend paid in November 2010 was Rs5.6 million. This is based on 112 million
shares in issue (56,000 x 2 – the shares are 50 Paisa each) times 5 Paisa.

Question No 15:The dividend paid in November 2010 was Rs5.6 million. This is based on 112 million
shares in issue (56,000 x 2 – the shares are 50 Paisa each) times 5 Paisa.
Income statements for the year ended 31 March
2011
Rs‟000
25,500
(14,800)
10,700
(2,700)
(2,100)
(650)
5,250
(2,250)
3,000

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Finance costs
Profit before taxation
Income tax expense
Profit for the year
Statements of financial position as at 31 March

2011
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Bank
Non-current assets held for sale

2010
Rs‟000
Rs‟000

9,500
6,200
15,700
3,600
2,400
Nil
2,000

8,000

2010
Rs‟000
17,250
(10,350)
6,900
(1,850)
(1,450)
(100)
3,500
(1,000)
2,500

5,400
Nil
5,400
1,800
1,400
4,000
Nil

7,200
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Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities
5% loan notes
8% loan notes
Current liabilities
Bank overdraft
Trade payables
Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities
Notes
i.
ii.

200
2,800
2,200

23,700

12,600

5,000
4,500
9,500

5,000
2,250
7,250

2,000
7,000

2,000
Nil

5,200
23,700

Nil
2,150
1,200

3,350
12,600

There were no disposals of non-current assets during the period; however Bengal
does have some non-current assets classified as „held for sale‟ at 31 March 2011.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment for the year ended 31 March 2011
was Rs640, 000.

A disappointed shareholder has observed that although revenue during the year has
increased by 48% (8,250/17,250 x 100), profit for the year has only increased by 20%
(500/2,500 x 100).
Required:
a) Prepare a statement of cash flows for Bengal for the year ended 31 March 2011,
in accordance with IAS 7 Statement of cash flows, using the indirect method.
b) Using the information in the question and your answer to (a) above, comment
on the performance (including addressing the shareholder‟s observation) and
financial position of Bengal for the year ended 31 March 2011.
Answer No 15:a) Bengal – Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2011:
(Note: figures in brackets are in Rs‟000)
Rs‟000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
depreciation of non-current assets

Rs‟000
5,250
640
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finance costs
increase in inventories (3,600 – 1,800)
increase in receivables (2,400 – 1,400)
increase in payables (2,800 – 2,150)
Cash generated from operations
Finance costs paid
Income tax paid (w (i))
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (w (ii))
Purchase of intangibles
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issue of 8% loan note
Equity dividends paid (w (iii))
Net cash from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

650
(1,800)
(1,000)
650
4,390
(650)
(1,250)
2,490
(6,740)
(6,200)
(12,940)
7,000
(750)
6,250
(4,200)
4,000
(200)

Workings
i.
Income tax paid:
Provision b/f
Income statement tax charge
Provision c/f – current
Balance – cash paid

Rs‟000
(1,200)
(2,250)
2,200
(1,250)

Property, plant and equipment:
Balance b/f
Depreciation
Balance c/f – current
– held for sale
Balance – cash purchases

Rs‟000
5,400
(640)
(9,500)
(2,000)
6,740

ii.

iii.
Equity dividend
Retained earnings b/f

2,250
Page | 156

Financial and Corporate Reporting

Profit for period
Retained earnings c/f
Balance – dividend paid
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3,000
(4,500)
750

b) Note: references to 2011 and 2010 refer to the periods ending 31 March 2011
and 2010 respectively.
It is understandable that the shareholder‟s observations would cause concern. A
large increase in sales revenue has not led to a proportionate increase in profit.
To assess why this has happened requires consideration of several factors that
could potentially explain the results. Perhaps the most obvious would be that the
company has increased its sales by discounting prices (cutting profit margins).
Interpreting the ratios in the appendix rules out this possible explanation as the
gross profit margin has in fact increased in 2011 (up from 40% to 42%). Another
potential cause of the disappointing profit could be overheads (distribution costs
and administrative expenses) getting out of control, perhaps due to higher
advertising costs or more generous incentives to sales staff. Again, when these
expenses are expressed as a percentage of sales, this does not explain the
disparity in profit as the ratio has remained at approximately 19%. What is
evident is that there has been a very large increase in finance costs which is
illustrated by the interest cover deteriorating from 36 times to only 9 times. The
other „culprit‟ is the taxation expense: expressed as a percentage of pre-tax
accounting profit, the effective rate of tax has gone from 28.6% in 2010 to 42.9%
in 2011. There are a number of factors that can affect a period‟s effective tax rate
(including underor over-provisions from the previous year), but judging from
the figures involved, it would seem likely that either there was a material
adjustment from an under-provision of tax in 2010 or there has been a
considerable increase in the rate levied by the taxation authority.
As an illustration of the effect, if the same effective tax rate in 2010 had applied in
2011, the after-tax profit would have been Rs3, 749,000 (5,250 x (100% – 28.6%)
rounded) and, using this figure, the percentage increase in profit would be 50%
((3,749 – 2,500)/2,500 x 100) which is slightly higher than the percentage increase
in revenue. Thus an increase in the tax rate and increases in finance costs due to
much higher borrowings more than account for the disappointing profit
commented upon by the concerned shareholder.
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The other significant observation in comparing 2011 with 2010 is that the
company has almost certainty acquired another business. The increased
expenditure on property, plant and equipment of Rs6, 740,000 and the newly
acquired intangibles (probably goodwill) of Rs6.2 million are not likely to be
attributable to organic or internal growth. Indeed the decrease in the bank
balance of Rs4.2 million and the issue of Rs7 million loan notes closely match the
increase in non-current assets. This implies that the acquisition has been financed
by cash resources (which the company looks to have been building up) and
issuing debt (no equity was issued). This in turn explains the dramatic increase
in the gearing ratio (and the consequent fall in interest cover) and the fall in the
current ratio (due to the use of cash resources for the business purchase).
Although the current ratio at 1.5:1 is on the low side of acceptability, it does
include Rs2 million of non-current assets held for sale. A better comparison with
2010 is the current ratio at 1.2:1 which excludes the non-current assets held for
sale. It may be that these assets were part of the acquisition of the new business
and are „surplus to requirements‟, hence they have been made available for sale.
They are likely to be valued at their „fair value less cost to sell‟ and the prospect
of their sale should be highly probable (normally within one year). That said, if
the assets are not sold in the near future, it would call into question the
acceptability of the company‟s current ratio which may cause short-term
liquidity problems.
The overall performance of Bengal has deteriorated (as measured by its ROCE)
from 38.9% to 31.9%. This is mainly due to a lower rate of net asset turnover
(down from 1.9 to 1.4 times), however when the turnover of property, plant and
equipment is considered (down from 3.2 to 2.7 times) the asset utilization
position is not as bad as it first looks, in effect it is the presence of the acquired
intangibles that is mostly responsible for the fall.
Further, it may be that the new business was acquired part way through the year
and thus the returns from this element may be greater next year when a full
period‟s profits will be reported. It may also be that the integration of the new
business requires time (and expense) before it delivers its full potential.
In summary, although reported performance has deteriorated, it may be that
future results will benefit from the current year‟s investment and show
considerable improvement. Perhaps some equity should have been issued to
lower the company‟s gearing (and finance costs) and if the dividend of Rs750,
000 had been suspended for a year there would be a better liquid position.
Page | 158

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

Question No 16:Your assistant has been reading the IASB‟s Framework for the preparation and
presentation of financial statements (Framework) and as part of the qualitative
characteristics of financial statements under the heading of „relevance‟ he notes that the
predictive value of information is considered important. He is aware that financial
statements are prepared historically (i.e. after transactions have occurred) and offers the
view that the predictive value of financial statements would be enhanced if forwardlooking information (e.g. forecasts) were published rather than backward-looking
historical statements.
Required:
By the use of specific examples, provide an explanation to your assistant of how IFRS
presentation and disclosure requirements can assist the predictive role of historically
prepared financial statements.
The following summarised information is available in relation to Rebound, a publicly
listed company:
Income statement extracts years ended 31 March:
2011
Continuing Discontinued
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Profit after tax
Existing operations
Operations acquired on 1
August 2010

2,000
450

(750)

2010
Continuing Discontinued
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
1,750
Nil

600

Analysts expect profits from the market sector in which Rebound‟s existing operations
are based to increase by 6% in the year to 31 March 2012 and by 8% in the sector of its
newly acquired operations.
On 1 April 2009 Rebound had:
Rs3 million of 25 Paisa equity shares in issue.
Rs5 million 8% convertible loan stock 2016; the terms of conversion are 40 equity shares
in exchange for each Rs100 of loan stock. Assume an income tax rate of 30%.
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On 1 October 2010 the directors of Rebound were granted options to buy 2 million
shares in the company for Rs1 each. The average market price of Rebound‟s shares for
the year ending 31 March 2011 was Rs2.50 each.
Required:
i.
ii.

Calculate Rebound‟s estimated profit after tax for the year ending 31 March
2012 assuming the analysts‟ expectations prove correct;
Calculate the diluted earnings per share (EPS) on the continuing operations of
Rebound for the year ended 31 March 2011 and the comparatives for 2010.

Answer No 16:a) Two important and interrelated aspects of relevance are its confirmatory and
predictive roles. The Framework specifically states that to have predictive value,
information need not be in the form of an explicit forecast. The serious drawback
of forecast information is that it does not have (strong) confirmatory value;
essentially it will be an educated guess.
IFRS examples of enhancing the predictive value of historical financial
statements are:
i.
The disclosure of continuing and discontinued operations. This allows
users to focus on those areas of an entity‟s operations that will generate its
future results. Alternatively it could be thought of as identifying those
operations which will not yield profits or, perhaps more importantly,
losses in the future.
ii.
The separate disclosure of non-current assets held for sale. This informs
users that these assets do not form part of an entity‟s long-term operating
assets.
iii.
The separate disclosure of material items of income or expense (e.g. a gain
on the disposal of a property). These are often „one off‟ items that may not
be repeated in future periods. They are sometimes called „exceptional‟
items or described in the Framework as „unusual, abnormal and
infrequent‟ items.
iv.
The presentation of comparative information (and the requirement for the
consistency of its presentation such as retrospective application of changes
in accounting policies) allows for a degree of trend analysis. Recent trends
may help predict future performance.
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The requirement to disclose diluted EPS is often described as a „warning‟
to shareholders of what EPS would have been if any potential (future)
equity shares such as convertibles and options had already been exercised.
The Framework‟s definitions of assets (resources from which future
economic benefits should flow) and liabilities (obligations which will
result in a future outflow of economic benefits) are based on an entity‟s
future prospects rather than its past costs.

Note: other examples may be acceptable.
b)
i.

The estimated profit after tax for Rebound for the year ending 31 March 2012
would be:
Rs‟000
Existing operations (continuing only) (Rs2 million x 1·06)
2,120
Newly acquired operations (Rs450,000 x 12/8 months x 1·08)
729
2,849
Note: the profit from newly acquired operations in 2011 was for only eight
months; in 2012 it will be for a full year.

ii.

Diluted EPS on continuing operations

Rs 2,730,000 (see workings)
100
14,600,000 (see workings)
Rs 2,030,000 (see workings)
100
14,000,000 (see workings)

2011
18.7 Paisa

comparative 2010

14.5 Paisa

Working (figures in brackets are in ‟000 or Rs‟000)
The earnings are calculated as follows:
2011
Rs‟000
Continuing operations:
Existing operations
Newly acquired operations
Re convertible loan stock (see below)

comparative 2010
Rs‟000

2,000
450
280
2,730
The weighted average number of shares (in ‟000) is calculated as follows:

1,750
Nil
280
2,030
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At 1 April 2009 (3,000 x 4 (i.e. shares of 25 Paisa each))
Re convertible loan stock (see below)
Re share options (see below)
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12,000
2,000
600

14,600

12,000
2,000
(weighted for six
months)
Nil
14,600

Convertible loan stock:
On an assumed conversion there would be an increase in income of Rs280, 000 (Rs5, 000
x 8% x 0.7 after tax).
There would be an increase in the number of shares of 2 million (Rs5, 000/Rs100 x 40)
These adjustments would apply fully to both years.
Share options:
Exercising the options would create proceeds of Rs2 million (2,000 x Rs1). At the market
price of Rs2.50 each this would buy 800,000 shares (Rs2, 000/Rs2.50) thus the diluting
number of shares is 1.2 million (2,000 – 800).
This would be weighted for 6/12 in 2011 as the grant was half way through the year.
Question No 17:On 1 October 2009 Maqbool & Co entered into a construction contract that was expected
to take 27 months and therefore be completed on 31 December 2011. Details of the
contract are:
Rs‟000
Agreed contract price
12,500
Estimated total cost of contract (excluding plant)
5,500
Plant for use on the contract was purchased on 1 January 2010 (three months into the
contract as it was not required at the start) at a cost of Rs8 million. The plant has a fouryear life and after two years, when the contract is complete, it will be transferred to
another contract at its carrying amount. Annual depreciation is calculated using the
straight-line method (assuming a nil residual value) and charged to the contract on a
monthly basis at 1/12 of the annual charge.
The correctly reported income statement results for the contract for the year ended 31
March 2010 were:

Page | 162

Financial and Corporate Reporting

Revenue recognised
Contract expenses recognised
Profit recognised
Details of the progress of the contract at 31 March 2011 are:
Contract costs incurred to date (excluding
depreciation)
Agreed value of work completed and billed to date
Total cash received to date (payments on account)

ICPAP

Rs‟000
3,500
(2,660)
840
Rs‟000
4,800
8,125
7,725

The percentage of completion is calculated as the agreed value of work completed as a
percentage of the agreed contract price.
Required:
Calculate the amounts which would appear in the income statement and statement of
financial position of Maqbool & Co, including the disclosure note of amounts due
to/from customers, for the year ended/as at 31 March 2011 in respect of the above
contract.
Answer No 17:Income statement year ended 31 March 2011
Revenue recognised ((65% (w (i)) x 12,500) – 3,500 in 2010)
Contract expenses recognised (balancing figure)
Profit recognised ((65% (w (ii)) x 3,000) – 840 in 2010)
Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2011
Non-current assets
Plant (8,000 – 2,500 (w (iii)))
Current assets
Receivables (8,125 – 7,725)
Amounts due from customers – Note 1
Note 1
Amounts due from customers:
Contract costs incurred (w (iii))
Recognised profits (3,000 x 65%)

Rs‟000
4,625
(3,515)
1,110

5,500
400
1,125

7,300
1,950
9,250
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Progress billings
Amounts due from customers
Workings (in Rs‟000)
i.

(8,125)
1,125

Percentage complete:
Agreed value of work completed at year end
Contract price
Percentage completed (8,125/12,500 x 100)

8,125
12,500
65%

ii.
Estimated profit:
Contract price
Plant depreciation (8,000 x 24/48 months)
Other costs
Profit

Rs‟000
12,500
(4,000)
(5,500)
3,000

iii.
Contract costs incurred:
Plant depreciation (8,000 x 15/48 months)
Plant depreciation (8,000 x 15/48 months)

2,500
4,800
7,300

Question no 18:Hamdard is a public listed manufacturing company. Its summarised financial
statements for the year ended 30 September 2010 (and 2009 comparatives) are:
Income statements for the year ended 30 September:

Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Investment income
Finance costs
Profit (loss) before taxation
Income tax (expense) relief
Profit (loss) for the year

2010
Rs‟000
29,500
(25,500 )
4,000
(1,050 )
(4,900 )
50
(600 )
(2,500 )
400
(2,100 )

2009
Rs‟000
36,000
(26,000 )
10,000
(800 )
(3,900 )
200
(500 )
5,000
(1,500 )
3,500
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Statements of financial position as at 30 September:
2010
Rs‟000
Rs‟000

2009
Rs‟000 Rs‟000

17,600
2,400
20,000

24,500
4,000
28,500

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Current assets
Inventory and work-in-progress
Trade receivables
Tax asset
Bank
Total assets
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities
Bank loan
Deferred tax
Current liabilities
Trade payables
Current tax payable
Total equity and liabilities

2,200
2,200
600
1,200

3,400
Nil

6,200
26,200

1,900
2,800
Nil
100

4,800
33,300

13,000
1,000
Nil
3,600
17,600

12,000
Nil
4,500
6,500
23,000

4,000
1,200

5,000
700

3,400
26,200

2,800
1,800

4,600
33,300

The following information has been obtained from the Chairman‟s Statement and the
notes to the financial statements:
„Market conditions during the year ended 30 September 2010 proved very challenging
due largely to difficulties in the global economy as a result of a sharp recession which
has led to steep falls in share prices and property values. Hamdard has not been
immune from these effects and our properties have suffered impairment losses of Rs6
million in the year.‟
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The excess of these losses over previous surpluses has led to a charge to cost of sales of
Rs1.5 million in addition to the normal depreciation charge.
„Our portfolio of investments at fair value through profit or loss has been „marked to
market‟ (fair valued) resulting in a loss of Rs1.6 million (included in administrative
expenses).‟
There were no additions to or disposals of non-current assets during the year.
„In response to the downturn the company has unfortunately had to make a number of
employees redundant incurring severance costs of Rs1.3million (included in cost of
sales) and undertaken cost savings in advertising and other administrative expenses.‟
„The difficulty in the credit markets has meant that the finance cost of our variable rate
bank loan has increased from 4.5% to 8%. In order to help cash flows, the company
made a rights issue during the year and reduced the dividend per share by 50%.‟
„Despite the above events and associated costs, the Board believes the company‟s
underlying performance has been quite resilient in these difficult times.‟
Required:
Analyse and discuss the financial performance and position of Hamdard as portrayed
by the above financial statements and the additional information provided.
Your analysis should be supported by profitability, liquidity and gearing and other
appropriate ratios.
Answer No 18:Note: references to 2009 and 2010 should be taken as being to the years ended 30
September 2009 and 2010 respectively.
Profitability:
Income statement performance:
Hamdard‟s income statement results dramatically show the effects of the downturn in
the global economy; revenues are down by 18% (6,500/36,000 x 100), gross profit has
fallen by 60% and a healthy after tax profit of Rs3·5 million has reversed to a loss of
Rs2.1 million. These are reflected in the profit (loss) margin ratios shown in the
appendix (the „as reported‟ figures for 2010). This in turn has led to a 15.2% return on
equity being reversed to a negative return of 11.9%. However, a closer analysis shows
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that the results are not quite as bad as they seem. The downturn has directly caused
several additional costs in 2010: employee severance, property impairments and losses
on investments (as quantified in the appendix). These are probably all non-recurring
costs and could therefore justifiably be excluded from the 2010 results to assess the
company‟s „underlying‟ performance. If this is done the results of Hamdard for 2010
appear to be much better than on first sight, although still not as good as those reported
for 2009. A gross margin of 27.8% in 2009 has fallen to only 23.1% (rather than the
reported margin of 13.6%) and the profit for period has fallen from Rs3.5 million (9.7%)
to only Rs2.3 million (7.8%). It should also be noted that as well as the fall in the value
of the investments, the related investment income has also shown a sharp decline which
has contributed to lower profits in 2010.
Given the economic climate in 2010 these are probably reasonably good results and may
justify the Chairman‟s comments. It should be noted that the cost saving measures
which have helped to mitigate the impact of the downturn could have some unwelcome
effects should trading conditions improve; it may not be easy to re-hire employees and
a lack of advertising may cause a loss of market share.
Statement of financial position:
Perhaps the most obvious aspect of the statement of financial position is the fall in value
(Rs8.5 million) of the non-current assets, most of which is accounted for by losses of Rs6
million and Rs1.6 million respectively on the properties and investments. Ironically,
because these falls are reflected in equity, this has mitigated the fall in the return of the
equity (from 15.2% to 13.1% underlying) and contributed to a perhaps unexpected
improvement in asset turnover from 1.6 times to 1.7 times.
Liquidity:
Despite the downturn, Hamdard‟s liquidity ratios now seem at acceptable levels
(though they should be compared to manufacturing industry norms) compared to the
low ratios in 2009. The bank balance has improved by Rs1.1 million. This has been
helped by a successful rights issue (this is in itself a sign of shareholder support and
confidence in the future) raising Rs2 million and keeping customer‟s credit period
under control. Some of the proceeds of the rights issue appear to have been used to
reduce the bank loan which is sensible as its financing costs have increased
considerably in 2010. Looking at the movement on retained earnings (6,500 – 2,100 –
3,600) it can be seen that the company paid a dividend of Rs800, 000 during 2010.
Although this is only half the dividend per share paid in 2009, it may seem unwise
given the losses and the need for the rights issue. A counter view is that the payment of
the dividend may be seen as a sign of confidence of a future recovery. It should also be
mentioned that the worst of the costs caused by the downturn (specifically the property
and investments losses) are not cash costs and have therefore not affected liquidity.

Page | 167

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

The increase in the inventory and work-in-progress holding period and the trade
receivables collection period being almost unchanged appear to contradict the declining
sales activity and should be investigated. Although there is insufficient information to
calculate the trade payables credit period as there is no analysis of the cost of sales
figures, it appears that Hamdard has received extended credit which, unless it had been
agreed with the suppliers, has the potential to lead to problems obtaining future
supplies of goods on credit.
Gearing:
On the reported figures debt to equity shows a modest increase due to income
statement losses and the reduction of the revaluation reserve, but this has been
mitigated by the repayment of part of the loan and the rights issue.
Conclusion:
Although Hamdard‟s results have been adversely affected by the global economic
situation, its underlying performance is not as bad as first impressions might suggest
and supports the Chairman‟s comments. The company still retains a relatively strong
statement of financial position and liquidity position which will help significantly
should market conditions improve. Indeed the impairment of property and investments
may well reverse in future. It would be a useful exercise to compare Hamdard‟s
performance during this difficult time to that of its competitors – it may well be that its
2010 results were relatively very good by comparison.
Appendix:
An important aspect of assessing the performance of Hamdard for 2010 (especially in
comparison with 2009) is to identify the impact that several „one off‟ charges have had
on the results of 2010. These charges are Rs1.3 million redundancy costs and a Rs1.5
million (6,000 – 4,500 previous surplus) property impairment, both included in cost of
sales and a Rs1.6 million loss on the market value of investments, included in
administrative expenses. Thus in calculating the „underlying‟ figures for 2010 (below)
the adjusted cost of sales is Rs22.7 million (25,500 – 1,300 – 1,500) and the administrative
expenses are Rs3.3 million (4,900 – 1,600). These adjustments feed through to give an
underlying gross profit of Rs6.8 million (4,000 + 1,300 + 1,500) and an underlying profit
for the year of Rs2.3 million (–2,100 + 1,300 + 1,500 + 1,600).
Note: it is not appropriate to revise Hamdard‟s equity (upwards) for the one-off losses
when calculating equity based underlying figures, as the losses will be a continuing part
of equity (unless they reverse) even if/when future earnings recover.
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2010
2009
Underlying as reported
Gross profit % (6,800/29,500 x 100)
23.1%
13.6%
27.8%
Profit (loss) for period % (2,300/29,500 x 100)
7.8%
(7.1)%
9.7%
Return on equity (2,300/17,600 x 100)
13.1%
(11.9)%
15.2%
Net asset (taken as equity) turnover
1.7 times
Same
1.6 times
(29,500/17,600)
Debt to equity (4,000/17,600)
22.7%
Same
21.7%
Current ratio (6,200:3,400)
1.8:1
Same
1.0:1
Quick ratio (4,000:3,400)
1.2:1
Same
0.6:1
Receivables collection (in days) (2,200/29,500 x
27 days
Same
28 days
365)
Inventory and work-in-progress holding period
35 days
31 days
27 days
(2,200/22,700 x 365)
Note: the figures for the calculation of the 2010 „underlying‟ ratios have been given;
those of 2010 „as reported‟ and 2009 are based on equivalent figures from the
summarised financial statements provided.
Alternative ratios/calculations are acceptable, for example net asset turnover could be
calculated using total assets less current liabilities.
Question No 19:a) IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors contains
guidance on the use of accounting policies and accounting estimates.
Required:
Explain the basis on which the management of an entity must select its
accounting policies and distinguish, with an example, between changes in
accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates.
b) The directors of Takaful are disappointed by the draft profit for the year ended
30 September 2010. The company‟s assistant accountant has suggested two areas
where she believes the reported profit may be improved:
i.
A major item of plant that cost Rs20 million to purchase and install on 1
October 2007 is being depreciated on a straight-line basis over a five-year
period (assuming no residual value). The plant is wearing well and at the
beginning of the current year (1 October 2009) the production manager
believed that the plant was likely to last eight years in total (i.e. from the
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date of its purchase). The assistant accountant has calculated that, based
on an eight-year life (and no residual value) the accumulated depreciation
of the plant at 30 September 2010 would be Rs7.5 million (Rs20 million/8
years x 3). In the financial statements for the year ended 30 September
2009, the accumulated depreciation was Rs8 million (Rs20 million/5 years
x 2). Therefore, by adopting an eight-year life, Takaful can avoid a
depreciation charge in the current year and instead credit Rs0.5 million
(Rs8 million – Rs7.5 million) to the income statement in the current year to
improve the reported profit.
Most of Takaful‟s competitors value their inventory using the average cost
(AVCO) basis, whereas Takaful uses the first in first out (FIFO) basis. The
value of Takaful‟s inventory at 30 September 2010 (on the FIFO basis) is
Rs20 million, however on the AVCO basis it would be valued at Rs18
million. By adopting the same method (AVCO) as its competitors, the
assistant accountant says the company would improve its profit for the
year ended 30 September 2010 by Rs2 million. Takaful‟s inventory at 30
September 2009 was reported as Rs15 million, however on the AVCO
basis it would have been reported as Rs13.4 million.

Required:
Comment on the acceptability of the assistant accountant‟s suggestions and
quantify how they would affect the financial statements if they were
implemented under IFRS. Ignore taxation.
Note: the mark allocation is shown against each of the two items above.
Answer No 19:a) Management‟s choices of which accounting policies they may adopt are not as
wide as generally thought. Where an International Accounting Standard, IAS or
IFRS (or an Interpretation) specifically applies to a transaction or even the
accounting policy used must be as prescribed in that Standard (taking in to
account any Implementation Guidance within the Standard). In the absence of a
Standard, or where a Standard contains a choice of policies, management must
use its judgement in applying accounting policies that result in information that
is relevant and reliable given the circumstances of the transactions and events. In
making such judgements, management should refer to guidance in the Standards
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related to similar issues and the definitions, recognition criteria and
measurement concepts for assets, liabilities, income and expenses in the IASB‟s
Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements.
Management may also consider pronouncements of other standard-setting
bodies that use a similar conceptual framework to the IASB.
A change in an accounting policy usually relates to a change of principle, basis or
rule being applied by an entity. Accounting estimates are used to measure the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, or related expenses and income. A
change in an accounting estimate is a reassessment of the expected future
benefits and obligations associated with an asset or a liability.
Thus, for example, a change from non-depreciation of a building to depreciating
it over its estimated useful life would be a change of accounting policy. To
change the estimate of its useful life would be a change in an accounting
estimate.
b)
i.

The main issue here is the estimate of the useful life of a non-current asset.
Such estimates form an important part of the accounting estimate of the
depreciation charge. Like most estimates, an annual review of their
appropriateness is required and it is not unusual, as in this case, to revise the
estimate of the remaining useful life of plant. It appears, from the information
in the question, that the increase in the estimated remaining useful life of the
plant is based on a genuine reassessment by the production manager. This
appears to be an acceptable reason for a revision of the plant‟s life, whereas it
would be unacceptable to increase the estimate simply to improve the
company‟s reported profit. That said, the assistant accountant‟s calculation of
the financial effect of the revised life is incorrect. Where there is an increase
(or decrease) in the estimated remaining life of a non-current asset, its
carrying amount (at the time of the revision) is allocated over the new
remaining life (after allowing for any estimated residual value). The carrying
amount at 1 October 2009 is Rs12 million (Rs20 million – Rs8 million
accumulated depreciation) and this should be written off over the estimated
remaining life of six years (eight years in total less two already elapsed). Thus
a charge for depreciation of Rs2 million would be required in the year ended
30 September 2010 leaving a carrying amount of Rs10 million (Rs12 million –
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Rs2 million) in the statement of financial position at that date. A depreciation
charge for the current year cannot be avoided and there will be no credit to
the income statement as suggested by the assistant accountant. It should be
noted that the incremental effect of the revision to the estimated life of the
plant would be to improve the reported profit by Rs2 million being the
difference between the depreciation based on the old life (Rs4 million) and
the new life (Rs2 million).
The appropriateness of the proposed change to the method of valuing
inventory is more dubious than the previous example. Whilst both methods
(FIFO and AVCO) are acceptable methods of valuing inventory under IAS 2
Inventories, changing an accounting policy to be consistent with that of
competitors is not a convincing reason. Generally changes in accounting
policies should be avoided unless a change is required by a new or revised
accounting standard or the new policy provides more reliable and relevant
information regarding the entity‟s position. In any event the assistant
accountant‟s calculations are again incorrect and would not meet the
intention of improving reported profit. The most obvious error is that
changing from FIFO to AVCO will cause a reduction in the value of the
closing inventory at 30 September 2010 effectively reducing, rather than
increasing, both the valuation of inventory and reported profit.
A change in accounting policy must be accounted for as if the new policy had
always been in place (retrospective application). In this case, for the year
ended 30 September 2010, both the opening and closing inventories would
need to be measured at AVCO which would reduce reported profit by Rs400,
000 ((Rs20 million – Rs18 million) – (Rs15 million – Rs13.4 million) – i.e. the
movement in the values of the opening and closing inventories). The other
effect of the change will be on the retained earnings brought forward at 1
October 2009. These will be restated (reduced) by the effect of the reduced
inventory value at 30 September 2009 i.e. Rs1.6 million (Rs15 million – Rs13.4
million). This adjustment would be shown in the statement of changes in
equity.

Question No 20:Mubashir has been experiencing substantial losses at its furniture making operation
which is treated as a separate operating segment. The company‟s year-end is 30
September. At a meeting on 1 July 2010 the directors decided to close down the
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furniture making operation on 31 January 2011 and then dispose of its non-current
assets on a piecemeal basis. Affected employees and customers were informed of the
decision and a press announcement was made immediately after the meeting. The
directors have obtained the following information in relation to the closure of the
operation:
i.

ii.

iii.

On 1 July 2010, the factory had a carrying amount of Rs3.6 million and is
expected to be sold for net proceeds of Rs5 million. On the same date the plant
had a carrying amount of Rs2.8 million, but it is anticipated that it will only
realize net proceeds of Rs500, 000.
Of the employees affected by the closure, the majority will be made redundant at
cost of Rs750,000, the remainder will be retrained at a cost of Rs200,000 and given
work in one of the company‟s other operations.
Trading losses from 1 July to 30 September 2010 are expected to be Rs600, 000
and from this date to the closure on 31 January 2011 a further Rs1 millions of
trading losses are expected.

Required:
Explain how the decision to close the furniture making operation should be treated
in Mubashir‟s financial statements for the years ending 30 September 2010 and 2011.
Your answer should quantify the amounts involved.
Answer No 20:From the information in the question, the closure of the furniture making operation is a
restructuring as defined in IAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent
assets and, due to the timing of the decision, a provision for the closure costs will be
required in the year ended 30 September 2010. Although the Standard says that a Board
of directors‟ decision to close an operation is alone not sufficient to trigger a provision
the other actions of the management, informing employees, customers and a press
announcement indicate that this is an irreversible decision and that therefore there is an
obligating event.
Commenting on each element in turn for both years:
i.

Factory and plant
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At 30 September 2010 – these assets cannot be classed as „held-for-sale‟ as they
are still in use (i.e. generating revenue) and therefore are not available for sale.
Both assets will therefore continue to be depreciated.
Despite this, it does appear that the plant is impaired. Based on its carrying
amount of Rs2.8 million an impairment charge of Rs2.3 million (Rs2.8 million –
Rs0.5 million) would be required (subject to any further depreciation for the
three months from July to September 2010). The expected gain on the sale of the
factory cannot be recognised or used to offset the impairment charge on the
plant. The impairment charge is not part of the restructuring provision, but
should be reported with the depreciation charge for the year.
At 30 September 2011 – the realised profit on the disposal of the factory and any
further loss on the disposal of the plant will both be reported in the income
statement.
ii.

Redundancy and retraining costs
At 30 September 2010 – a provision for the redundancy costs of Rs750, 000
should be made, but the retraining costs relate to the ongoing actives of
Mubashir and cannot be provided for.
At 30 September 2011 – the redundancy costs incurred during the year will be
offset against the provision created last year.
Any under- or over-provision will be reported in the income statement. The
retraining costs will be written off as they are incurred.

iii.

Trading losses
The losses to 30 September 2010 will be reported as part of the results for the year
ended 30 September 2010. The expected losses from 1 October 2010 to the closure
on 31 January 2011 cannot be provided in the year ended 30 September 2010 as
they relate to ongoing activities and will therefore be reported as part of the
results for the year ended 30 September 2011 as they are incurred.
It should also be considered whether the closure fulfills the definition of a
discontinued operation in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current assets held for
sale and discontinued operations. As there is a co-ordinated plan to dispose of a
separate major line of business (the furniture making operation is treated as an
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operating segment) this probably is a discontinued operation. However, the
timing of the closure means that it is not a discontinued operation in the year
ended 30 September 2010; rather it is likely that it will be such in the year ended
30 September 2011. Some commentators believe that this creates an anomalous
situation in that most of the closure costs are reported in the year ended 30
September 2010 (as described above), but the closure itself is only identified and
reported as a discontinued operation in the year ended 30 September 2011
(although the comparative figures for 2010 would then restate this as a
discontinued operation).
Question No 21:a) The following information relates to the draft financial statements of Dewatson.
Summarised statements of financial position as at:
31 March 2010
31 March 2009
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
19,000
25,500
(note (i))
Current assets
Inventory
12,500
4,600
Trade receivables
4,500
2,000
Tax refund due
500
Nil
Bank
Nil
1,500
Total assets
36,500
33,600
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Equity shares of Rs1 each (note
10,000
8,000
(ii))
Share premium (note (ii))
3,200
4,000
Retained earnings
4,500
7,700
6,300
10,300
17,700
18,300
Non-current liabilities
10% loan note (note (iii))
Nil
5,000
Finance lease obligations
4,800
2,000
Deferred tax
1,200
6,000
800
7,800
Current liabilities
10% loan note (note (iii))
5,000
Nil
Tax
Nil
2,500
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Bank overdraft
1,400
Nil
Finance lease obligations
1,700
800
Trade payables
4,700
12,800
4,200
7,500
Total equity and liabilities
36,500
33,600
Summarised income statements for the years ended:
31 March 2010 31 March 2009
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Revenue
55,000
40,000
Cost of sales
(43,800 )
(25,000 )
Gross profit
11,200
15,000
Operating expenses
(12,000 )
(6,000 )
Finance costs (note (iv))
(1,000 )
(600 )
Profit (loss) before tax
(1,800 )
8,400
Income tax relief (expense)
700
(2,800 )
Profit (loss) for the year
(1,100 )
5,600
The following additional information is available:
i.
Property, plant and equipment is made up of:
31 March 2010 31 March 2009
As at:
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Leasehold property
Nil
8,800
Owned plant
12,500
14,200
Leased plant
6,500
2,500
19,000
25,500
During the year Dewatson sold its leasehold property for Rs8.5 million
and entered into an arrangement to rent it back from the purchaser. There
were no additions to or disposals of owned plant during the year. The
depreciation charges (to cost of sales) for the year ended 31 March 2010
were:
Rs‟000
Leasehold property
200
Owned plant
1,700
Leased plant
1,800
3,700
ii.
On 1 July 2009 there was a bonus issue of shares from share premium of
one new share for every 10 held.
On 1 October 2009 there was a fully subscribed cash issue of shares at par.
iii.
The 10% loan note is due for repayment on 30 June 2010. Dewatson is in
negotiations with the loan provider to refinance the same amount for
another five years.
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The finance costs are made up of:
For year ended:

Finance lease charges
Overdraft interest
Loan note interest

31 March 2010
Rs‟000
300
200
500
1,000

31 March 2009
Rs‟000
100
Nil
500
600

Required:
i. Prepare a statement of cash flows for Dewatson for the year ended 31 March
2010 in accordance with IAS 7 Statement of cash flows, using the indirect
method;
ii. Based on the information available, advise the loan provider on the matters
you would take into consideration when deciding whether to grant Dewatson
a renewal of its maturing loan note.
b) On a separate matter, you have been asked to advise on an application for a loan
to build an extension to a sports club which is a not-for-profit organisation. You
have been provided with the audited financial statements of the sports club for
the last four years.
Required:
Identify and explain the ratios that you would calculate to assist in determining
whether you would advise that the loan should be granted.
Answer No 21:a)
i.

Dewatson – Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2010:
(Note: figures in brackets are in Rs‟000)
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Cash flows from operating activities:
Loss before tax
(1,800)
Adjustments for:
depreciation of non-current assets
3,700
loss on sale of leasehold property (8,800 – 200 – 8,500)
100
interest expense
1,000
increase in inventory (12,500 – 4,600)
(7,900)
increase in trade receivables (4,500 – 2,000)
(2,500)
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increase in trade payables (4,700 – 4,200)
Cash deficit from operations
Interest paid
Income tax paid (w (i))
Net cash deficit from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Disposal of leasehold property
Cash flows from financing activities:
Shares issued (10,000 – 8,000 – 800 bonus issue)
Payment of finance lease obligations (w (ii))
Equity dividends paid (w (iii))
Net cash from financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Workings

ICPAP

500
(6,900)
(1,000)
(1,900)
(9,800)
8,500
1,200
(2,100)
(700)
(1,600)
(2,900)
1,500
(1,400)

I.
Income tax paid:
Provision b/f – current
– deferred
Income statement tax relief
Provision c/f – current
– deferred
Difference – cash paid

Rs‟000
(2,500)
(800)
700
(500)
1,200
(1,900)

II.
Leased plant:
Balance b/f
Depreciation
Leased during year (balance)
Balance c/f
Lease obligations:
Balance b/f – current
– non-current
New leases (from above)
Balance c/f – current
– non-current
Difference – repayment during year

2,500
(1,800)
5,800
6,500
(800)
(2,000)
(5,800)
1,700
4,800
(2,100)
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III.
Equity dividends paid:
Retained earnings b/f
Loss for period
Dividends paid (balance)
Retained earnings c/f
ii.

6,300
(1,100)
(700)
4,500

The main concerns of a loan provider would be whether Dewatson would be
able to pay the servicing costs (interest) of the loan and the eventual repayment
of the principal amount. Another important aspect of granting the loan would be
the availability of any security that Dewatson can offer.
Interest cover is a useful measure of the risk of non-payment of interest.
Dewatson‟s interest cover has fallen from a healthy 15 times (9,000/600) to be
negative in 2010. Although interest cover is useful, it is based on profit whereas
interest is actually paid in cash. It is usual to expect interest payments to be
covered by operating cash flows (it is a bad sign when interest has to be paid
from long-term sources of funding such as from the sale of non-current assets or
a share issue). Dewatson‟s position in this light is very worrying; there is a cash
deficit from operations of Rs6.9 million and after interest and tax payments the
deficit has risen to Rs9.8 million.
When looking at the prospect of the ability to repay the loan, Dewatson‟s
position is deteriorating as measured by its gearing (debt including finance lease
obligations/equity) which has increased to 65% (5,000 + 6,500/17,700) from 43%
(5,000 + 2,800/18,300). What may also be indicative of a deteriorating liquidity
position is that Dewatson has sold its leasehold property and rented it back. This
has been treated as a disposal, but, depending on the length of the rental
agreement and other conditions of the tenancy agreement (which are not
specified in the question) it may be that the substance of the sale is a
loan/finance leaseback (e.g. if the period of the rental agreement was
substantially the same as the remaining life of the property). If this were the case
the company‟s gearing would increase even further. Furthermore, there is less
value in terms of ownership of non-current assets which may be used as security
(in the form of a charge on assets) for the loan. It is also noteworthy that, in a
similar vein, the increase in other non-current assets is due to finance leased
plant. Whilst it is correct to include finance leased plant on the statement of
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financial position (applying substance over form), the legal position is that this
plant is not owned by Dewatson and offers no security to any prospective lender
to Dewatson.
Therefore, in view of Dewatson‟s deteriorating operating and cash generation
performance, it may be advisable not to renew the loan for a further five years.
b) Although the sports club is a not-for-profit organisation, the request for a loan is
a commercial activity that should be decided on according to similar criteria as
would be used for other profit-orientated entities.
The main aspect of granting a loan is how secure the loan would be. To this
extent a form of capital gearing ratio should be calculated; say existing long-term
borrowings to net assets (i.e. total assets less current liabilities). Clearly if this
ratio is high, further borrowing would be at an increased risk. The secondary
aspect is to measure the sports club‟s ability to repay the interest (and ultimately
the principal) on the loan. This may be determined from information in the
income statement. A form of interest cover should be calculated; say the excess of
income over expenditure (broadly the equivalent of profit) compared to (the
forecast) interest payments. The higher this ratio the less risk of interest default.
The calculations would be made for all four years to ascertain any trends that
may indicate a deterioration or improvement in these ratios. As with other profitoriented entities the nature and trend of the income should be investigated: for
example, are the club‟s sources of income increasing or decreasing, does the
reported income contain „one-off‟ donations (which may not be recurring) etc?
Also matters such as the market value of, and existing prior charges against, any
assets intended to be used as security for the loan would be relevant to the
lender‟s decision-making process. It may also be possible that the sports club‟s
governing body (perhaps the trustees) may be willing to give a personal
guarantee for the loan.

Question No 22:a) An important aspect of the International Accounting Standards Board‟s
Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements is that
transactions should be recorded on the basis of their substance over their form.
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Required:
Explain why it is important that financial statements should reflect the substance
of the underlying transactions and describe the features that may indicate that
the substance of a transaction may be different from its legal form.
b) Waheed‟s activities include the production of maturing products which take a
long time before they are ready to retail. Details of one such product are that on 1
April 2009 it had a cost of Rs5 million and a fair value of Rs7 million. The
product would not be ready for retail sale until 31 March 2012.
On 1 April 2009 Waheed entered into an agreement to sell the product to
Easyfinance for Rs6 million. The agreement gave Waheed the right to repurchase
the product at any time up to 31 March 2012 at a fixed price of Rs7,986,000, at
which date Waheed expected the product to retail for Rs10 million. The
compound interest Waheed would have to pay on a three-year loan of Rs6
million would be:
Rs
Year 1
600,000
Year 2
660,000
Year 3
726,000
This interest is equivalent to the return required by Easyfinance.
Required:
Assuming the above figures prove to be accurate, prepare extracts from the
income statement of Waheed for the three years to 31 March 2012 in respect of
the above transaction:
i.
ii.

Reflecting the legal form of the transaction;
Reflecting the substance of the transaction.

Note: statement of financial position extracts are NOT required.
c) Comment on the effect the two treatments have on the income statements and
the statements of financial position and how this may affect an assessment of
Waheed‟s performance.
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Answer No 22:a) For financial statements to be of value to their users they must possess certain
characteristics; reliability is one such important characteristic. In order for
financial statements to be reliable, they must faithfully represent an entity‟s
underlying transactions and other events. For financial statements to achieve
faithful representation, transactions must be accounted for and presented in
accordance with their substance and economic reality where this differs from
their legal form. For example, if an entity „sold‟ an asset to a third party, but
continued to enjoy the future benefits embodied in that asset, then this
transaction would not be represented faithfully by recording it as a sale (in all
probability this would be a financing transaction).
The features that may indicate that the substance of a transaction is different
from its legal form are:
-

where the control of an asset differs from the ownership of the asset
where assets are „sold‟ at prices that are greater or less than their fair values
the use of options as part of an agreement
where there are a series of „linked‟ transactions.

It should be noted that none of the above necessarily mean there is a difference
between substance and legal form.
b) Extracts from the income statements
i.
reflecting the legal form:
Year ended:
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Finance costs
Net profit

ii.

31 March
2010
Rs‟000
6,000
(5,000)
1,000
Nil
1,000

31 March
2011
Rs‟000
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil
Nil

31 March
2012
Rs‟000
10,000
(7,986)
2,014
Nil
2,014

31 March
2011
Rs‟000

31 March
2012
Rs‟000

Total
Rs‟000
16,000
(12,986)
3,014
Nil
3,014

reflecting the substance:
Year ended:

31 March
2010
Rs‟000

Total
Rs‟000
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Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Finance costs
Net profit

ICPAP

Nil
(Nil)
Nil
(600)
(600)

Nil
Nil
Nil
(660)
(660)

10,000
(5,000)
5,000
(726)
(4,274)

10,000
(5,000)
5,000
(1,986)
3,014

c) It can be seen from the above that the two treatments have no effect on the total
net profit reported in the income statements, however, the profit is reported in
different periods and the classification of costs is different. In effect the legal
form creates some element of profit smoothing and completely hides the
financing cost. Although not shown, the effect on the statements of financial
position is that recording the legal form of the transaction does not show the
inventory, nor does it show the in-substance loan. Thus recording the legal form
would be an example of off balance sheet (statement of financial position)
financing. The effect on an assessment of Waheed using ratio analysis may be
that recording the legal form rather than the substance of the transaction would
be that interest cover and inventory turnover would be higher and gearing
lower. All of which may be considered as reporting a more favourable
performance.
Question No 23:a) Apex is a publicly listed supermarket chain. During the current year it started the
building of a new store. The directors are aware that in accordance with IAS 23
Borrowing costs certain borrowing costs have to be capitalised.
Required:
Explain the circumstances when, and the amount at which, borrowing costs
should be capitalised in accordance with IAS 23.
b) Details relating to construction of Apex‟s new store:
Apex issued a Rs10 million unsecured loan with a coupon (nominal) interest rate
of 6% on 1 April 2009. The loan is redeemable at a premium which means the
loan has an effective finance cost of 7.5% per annum. The loan was specifically
issued to finance the building of the new store which meets the definition of a
qualifying asset in IAS 23. Construction of the store commenced on 1 May 2009
and it was completed and ready for use on 28 February 2010, but did not open
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for trading until 1 April 2010. During the year trading at Apex‟s other stores was
below expectations so Apex suspended the construction of the new store for a
two-month period during
July and August 2009. The proceeds of the loan were temporarily invested for the
month of April 2009 and earned interest of Rs40, 000.
Required:
Calculate the net borrowing cost that should be capitalised as part of the cost
of the new store and the finance cost that should be reported in the income
statement for the year ended 31 March 2010.
Answer No 23:a) Where borrowing costs are directly incurred on a „qualifying asset‟, they must be
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. A qualifying asset may be a tangible
or an intangible asset that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its
intended use or eventual sale. Property construction would be a typical example,
but it can also be applied to intangible assets during their development period.
Borrowing costs include interest based on its effective rate (which incorporates
the amortization of discounts, premiums and certain expenses) on overdrafts,
loans and (some) other financial instruments and finance charges on finance
leased assets. They may be based on specifically borrowed funds or on the
weighted average cost of a pool of funds. Any income earned from the
temporary investment of specifically borrowed funds would normally be
deducted from the amount to be capitalised.
Capitalisation should commence when expenditure is being incurred on the
asset, which is not necessarily from the date funds are borrowed. Capitalisation
should cease when the asset is ready for its intended use, even though the funds
may still be incurring borrowing costs. Also capitalisation should be suspended
if there is a suspension of active development of the asset.
Any borrowing costs that are not eligible for capitalisation must be expensed.
Borrowing costs cannot be capitalised for assets measured at fair value.
b) The finance cost of the loan must be calculated using the effective rate of 7·5%, so
the total finance cost for the year ended 31 March 2010 is Rs750, 000 (Rs10 million
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x 7·5%). As the loan relates to a qualifying asset, the finance cost (or part of it in
this case) can be capitalised under IAS 23.
The Standard says that capitalisation commences from when expenditure is
being incurred (1 May 2009) and must cease when the asset is ready for its
intended use (28 February 2010); in this case a 10-month period. However,
interest cannot be capitalised during a period where development activity is
suspended; in this case the two months of July and August 2009. Thus only eight
months of the year‟s finance cost can be capitalised = Rs500, 000 (Rs750, 000 x
8/12). The remaining four-month finance costs of Rs250, 000 must be expensed.
IAS 23 also says that interest earned from the temporary investment of specific
loans should be deducted from the amount of finance costs that can be
capitalised. However, in this case, the interest was earned during a period in
which the finance costs were NOT being capitalised, thus the interest received of
Rs40, 000 would be credited to the income statement and not to the capitalised
finance costs.
In summary:
Rs
Income statement for the year ended 31 March 2010:
Finance cost (debit)
(250,000)
Investment income (credit)
40,000
Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2010:
Property, plant and equipment (finance cost element only)
500,000
Question No 24:a) The following information relates to County a publicly listed company.
Summarised statements of financial position as at:
30 September 2009
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (note
(i))
Development costs (note (ii))
Current assets
Total assets
Equity and liabilities

30 September 2008
Rs‟000
Rs‟000

32,500

13,100

1,000
33,500
8,200
41,700

2,500
15,600
6,800
22,400
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Equity
Equity shares of Rs1 each
Share premium
Other equity reserve
Revaluation reserve
Retained earnings
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5,000
6,000
500
2,000
5,700

14,200
19,200

Non-current liabilities
10% convertible loan notes (note (iii))
1,000
Environmental provision
3,300
Finance lease obligations
5,040
Deferred tax
3,360
12,700
Current liabilities
Finance lease obligations
1,760
Trade payables
8,040
9,800
Total equity and liabilities
41,700
Information from the income statements for the year ended:

Revenue
Finance costs (note (iv))
Income tax expense
Profit for the year (after tax)

4,000
2,000
500
Nil
3,200

5,000
Nil
Nil
1,200
Nil
6,500

5,700
9,700

6,200

6,500
22,400

30 September 2009 30 September 2008
Rs‟000
Rs‟000
52,000
42,000
1,050
500
1,000
800
4,000
3,000

The following information is available:
i.

During the year to 30 September 2009, County embarked on a replacement and
expansion programme for its non-current assets. The details of this programme
are:
On 1 October 2008 County acquired a platinum mine at a cost of Rs5 million. A
condition of mining the platinum is a requirement to landscape the mining site at
the end of its estimated life of ten years. The present value of this cost at the date
of the purchase was calculated at Rs3 million (in addition to the purchase price of
the mine of Rs5 million).
Also on 1 October 2008 County revalued its freehold land for the first time. The
credit in the revaluation reserve is the net amount of the revaluation after a
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transfer to deferred tax on the gain. The tax rate applicable to County for
deferred tax is 20% per annum.
On 1 April 2009 County took out a finance lease for some new plant. The fair
value of the plant was Rs10 million. The lease agreement provided for an initial
payment on 1 April 2009 of Rs2·4 million followed by eight six-monthly
payments of Rs1.2 million commencing 30 September 2009.
Plant disposed of during the year had a carrying amount of Rs500,000 and was
sold for Rs1.2 million. The remaining movement on the property, plant and
equipment, after charging depreciation of Rs3 million, was the cost of replacing
plant.
ii.

iii.

From 1 October 2008 to 31 March 2009 a further Rs500,000 was spent completing
the development project at which date marketing and production started. The
sales of the new product proved disappointing and on 30 September 2009 the
development costs were written down to Rs1 million via an impairment charge.
During the year ended 30 September 2009, Rs4 million of the 10% convertible
loan notes matured. The loan note holders had the option of redemption at par in
cash or to exchange them for equity shares on the basis of 20 new shares for each
Rs100 of loan notes. 75% of the loan-note holders chose the equity option.
Ignore any effect of this on the other equity reserve.
All the above items have been treated correctly according to International
Financial Reporting Standards.

iv.

The finance costs are made up of:

finance lease charges
unwinding of environmental provision
loan-note interest

30 September 2009

30 September 2008

Rs‟000
400
300
350
1,050

Rs‟000
Nil
Nil
500
500

Required:
i.

Prepare a statement of the movements in the carrying amount of County‟s noncurrent assets for the year ended 30 September 2009;
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Calculate the amounts that would appear under the headings of „cash flows
from investing activities‟ and „cash flows from financing activities‟ in the
statement of cash flows for County for the year ended 30 September 2009.
Note: County includes finance costs paid as a financing activity.
b) A substantial shareholder has written to the directors of County expressing
particular concern over the deterioration of the company‟s return on capital
employed (ROCE)
Required:
Calculate County‟s ROCE for the two years ended 30 September 2008 and 2009
and comment on the apparent cause of its deterioration.
Note: ROCE should be taken as profit before interest on long-term borrowings
and tax as a percentage of equity plus loan notes and finance lease obligations
(at the year-end).

Answer No 24:a)
i.

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Carrying amount b/f
Mine (5,000 + 3,000 environmental cost)
Revaluation (2,000/0·8 allowing for effect of deferred tax transfer)

Fair value of leased plant
Plant disposal
Depreciation
Replacement plant (balance)
Carrying amount c/f

ii.

Rs‟000
13,100
8,000
2,500
10,000
(500)
(3,000)
2,400
32,500

Development costs
Carrying amount b/f
Additions during year
Amortisation and impairment (balance)
Carrying amount c/f

2,500
500
(2,000)
1,000

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (w (i))

(7,400)
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Disposal proceeds of plant
Development costs
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issue of equity shares (w (ii))
Redemption of convertible loan notes ((5,000 – 1,000) x 25%)
Lease obligations (w (iii))
Interest paid (400 + 350)
Net cash used in financing activities
Workings (figures in brackets in Rs‟000)
i.

ii.

iii.

ICPAP

1,200
(500)
(6,700)

2,000
(1,000)
(3,200)
(750)
(2,950)

The cash elements of the increase in property, plant and equipment are
Rs5 million for the mine (the capitalised environmental provision is not a
cash flow) and Rs2.4 million for the replacement plant making a total of
Rs7.4 million.
Of the Rs4 million convertible loan notes (5,000 – 1,000) that were
redeemed during the year, 75% (Rs3 million) of these were exchanged for
equity shares on the basis of 20 new shares for each Rs100 in loan notes.
This would create 600,000 (3,000/100 x 20) new shares of Rs1 each and
share premium of Rs2.4 million (3,000 – 600). As 1 million (5,000 – 4,000)
new shares were issued in total, 400,000 must have been for cash. The
remaining increase (after the effect of the conversion) in the share
premium of Rs1.6 million (6,000 – 2,000 b/f – 2,400 conversion) must relate
to the cash issue of shares, thus cash proceeds from the issue of shares is
Rs2 million (400 nominal value + 1,600 premium).
The initial lease obligation is Rs10 million (the fair value of the plant). At
30 September 2009 total lease obligations are Rs6.8 million (5,040 + 1,760),
thus repayments in the year were Rs3.2 million (10,000 – 6,800).

b) Taking the definition of ROCE from the question:
Year ended 30 September 2009
Profit before tax and interest on long-term borrowings (4,000 + 1,000 +
400 + 350)
Equity plus loan notes and finance lease obligations (19,200 + 1,000 +
5,040 + 1,760)
ROCE
Equivalent for year ended 30 September 2008

Rs‟000
5,750
27,000
21.3%
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(3,000 + 800 + 500)
4,300
(9,700 + 5,000)
14,700
ROCE
29.3%
To help explain the deterioration it is useful to calculate the components of ROCE i.e.
operating margin and net asset turnover (utilization):
Operating margin (5,750/52,000 x 100)
Net asset turnover (52,000/27,000)

2009
11.1%
1.93 times

2008
(4,300/42,000)
10.2%
(42,000/14,700) 2.86 times

From the above it can be clearly seen that the 2009 operating margin has improved by
nearly 1% point, despite the Rs2 million impairment charge on the write down of the
development project. This means the deterioration in the ROCE is due to poorer asset
turnover. This implies there has been a decrease in the efficiency in the use of the
company‟s assets this year compared to last year.
Looking at the movement in the non-current assets during the year reveals some
mitigating points:
The land revaluation has increased the carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment without any physical increase in capacity. This unfavorably distorts the
current year‟s asset turnover and ROCE figures.
The acquisition of the platinum mine appears to be a new area of operation for County
which may have a different (perhaps lower) ROCE to other previous activities or it may
be that it will take some time for the mine to come to full production capacity.
The substantial acquisition of the leased plant was half-way through the year and can
only have contributed to the year‟s results for six months at best. In future periods a full
year‟s contribution can be expected from this new investment in plant and this should
improve both asset turnover and ROCE.
In summary, the fall in the ROCE may be due largely to the above factors (effectively
the replacement and expansion programme), rather than to poor operating
performance, and in future periods this may be reversed.
It should also be noted that had the ROCE been calculated on the average capital
employed during the year (rather than the year end capital employed), which is
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arguably more correct, then the deterioration in the ROCE would not have been as
pronounced.
Question No 25:a) An assistant of yours has been criticized over a piece of assessed work that he
produced for his study course for giving the definition of a non-current asset as
„a physical asset of substantial cost, owned by the company, which will last
longer than one year‟.
Required:
Provide an explanation to your assistant of the weaknesses in his definition of
non-current assets when compared to the International Accounting Standards
Board‟s (IASB) view of assets.
b) The same assistant has encountered the following matters during the preparation
of the draft financial statements of Darby for the year ending 30 September 2009.
He has given an explanation of his treatment of them.
i.
Darby spent Rs200,000 sending its staff on training courses during the
year. This has already led to an improvement in the company‟s efficiency
and resulted in cost savings. The organizer of the course has stated that
the benefits from the training should last for a minimum of four years. The
assistant has therefore treated the cost of the training as an intangible asset
and charged six months‟ amortization based on the average date during
the year on which the training courses were completed.
ii.
During the year the company started research work with a view to the
eventual development of a new processor chip. By 30 September 2009 it
had spent Rs1.6 million on this project. Darby has a past history of being
particularly successful in bringing similar projects to a profitable
conclusion. As a consequence the assistant has treated the expenditure to
date on this project as an asset in the statement of financial position.
Darby was also commissioned by a customer to research and, if feasible,
produce a computer system to install in motor vehicles that can
automatically stop the vehicle if it is about to be involved in a collision. At
30 September 2009, Darby had spent Rs2.4 million on this project, but at
this date it was uncertain as to whether the project would be successful.
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As a consequence the assistant has treated the Rs2.4 million as an expense
in the income statement.
iii.

Darby signed a contract (for an initial three years) in August 2009 with a
company called Media Today to install a satellite dish and cabling system
to a newly built group of residential apartments. Media Today will
provide telephone and television services to the residents of the
apartments via the satellite system and pay Darby Rs50,000 per annum
commencing in December 2009. Work on the installation commenced on 1
September 2009 and the expenditure to 30 September 2009 was Rs58,000.
The installation is expected to be completed by 31 October 2009. Previous
experience with similar contracts indicates that Darby will make a total
profit of Rs40,000 over the three years on this initial contract. The assistant
correctly recorded the costs to 30 September 2009 of Rs58,000 as a noncurrent asset, but then wrote this amount down to Rs40,000 (the expected
total profit) because he believed the asset to be impaired.
The contract is not a finance lease. Ignore discounting.

Required:
For each of the above items (i) to (iii) comment on the assistant‟s treatment of
them in the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2009 and
advise him how they should be treated under International Financial
Reporting Standards.
Answer No 25:a) There are four elements to the assistant‟s definition of a non-current asset and he
is substantially incorrect in respect of all of them.
The term non-current assets will normally include intangible assets and certain
investments; the use of the term „physical asset‟ would be specific to tangible
assets only.
Whilst it is usually the case that non-current assets are of relatively high value
this is not a defining aspect. A waste paper bin may exhibit the characteristics of
a non-current asset, but on the grounds of materiality it is unlikely to be treated
as such. Furthermore the past cost of an asset may be irrelevant; no matter how
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much an asset has cost, it is the expectation of future economic benefits flowing
from a resource (normally in the form of future cash inflows) that defines an
asset according to the IASB‟s Framework for the preparation and presentation of
financial statements.
The concept of ownership is no longer a critical aspect of the definition of an
asset. It is probably the case that most noncurrent assets in an entity‟s statement
of financial position are owned by the entity; however, it is the ability to „control‟
assets (including preventing others from having access to them) that is now a
defining feature. For example: this is an important characteristic in treating a
finance lease as an asset of the lessee rather than the lessor.
It is also true that most non-current assets will be used by an entity for more than
one year and a part of the definition of property, plant and equipment in IAS 16
Property, plant and equipment refers to an expectation of use in more than one
period, but this is not necessarily always the case. It may be that a non-current
asset is acquired which proves unsuitable for the entity‟s intended use or is
damaged in an accident. In these circumstances assets may not have been used
for longer than a year, but nevertheless they were reported as non-currents
during the time they were in use. A non-current asset may be within a year of the
end of its useful life but (unless a sale agreement has been reached under IFRS 5
Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations) would still be
reported as a non-current asset if it was still giving economic benefits. Another
defining aspect of non-current assets is their intended use i.e. held for continuing
use in the production, supply of goods or services, for rental to others or for
administrative purposes.
b)
i.

The expenditure on the training courses may exhibit the characteristics of
an asset in that they have and will continue to bring future economic
benefits by way of increased efficiency and cost savings to Darby.
However, the expenditure cannot be recognised as an asset on the
statement of financial position and must be charged as an expense as the
cost is incurred. The main reason for this lies with the issue of ‟control‟; it
is Darby‟s employees that have the „skills‟ provided by the courses, but
the employees can leave the company and take their skills with them or,
through accident or injury, may be deprived of those skills. Also the
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capitalisation of staff training costs is specifically prohibited under
International Financial Reporting Standards (specifically IAS 38 Intangible
assets).
The question specifically states that the costs incurred to date on the
development of the new processor chip are research costs. IAS 38 states
that research costs must be expensed. This is mainly because research is
the relatively early stage of a new project and any future benefits are so far
in the future that they cannot be considered to meet the definition of an
asset (probable future economic benefits), despite the good record of
success in the past with similar projects.
Although the work on the automatic vehicle braking system is still at the
research stage, this is different in nature from the previous example as the
work has been commissioned by a customer, As such, from the
perspective of Darby, it is work in progress (a current asset) and should
not be written off as an expense. A note of caution should be added here
in that the question says that the success of the project is uncertain which
presumably means it may not be completed. This does not mean that
Darby will not receive payment for the work it has carried out, but it
should be checked to the contract to ensure that the amount it has spent to
date (Rs2.4 million) will be recoverable. In the event that say, for example,
the contract stated that only Rs2 million would be allowed for research
costs, this would place a limit on how much Darby could treat as work in
progress. If this were the case then, for this example, Darby would have to
expense Rs400,000 and treat only Rs2 million as work in progress.

iii.

The question suggests the correct treatment for this kind of contract is to
treat the costs of the installation as a non-current asset and (presumably)
depreciate it over its expected life of (at least) three years from when it
becomes available for use. In this case the asset will not come into use
until the next financial year/reporting period and no depreciation needs
to be provided at 30 September 2009.
The capitalised costs to date of Rs58,000 should only be written down if
there is evidence that the asset has become impaired. Impairment occurs
where the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount.
The assistant appears to believe that the recoverable amount is the future
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profit, whereas (in this case) it is the future (net) cash inflows. Thus any
impairment test at 30 September 2009 should compare the carrying
amount of Rs58,000 with the expected net cash flow from the system of
Rs98,000 (Rs50,000 per annum for three years less future cash outflows to
completion the installation of Rs52,000 (see note below)). As the future net
cash flows are in excess of the carrying amount, the asset is not impaired
and it should not be written down but shown as a non-current asset
(under construction) at cost of Rs58,000.
Note: as the contract is expected to make a profit of Rs40,000 on income of
Rs150,000, the total costs must be Rs110,000, with costs to date at Rs58,000
this leaves completion costs of Rs52,000.
Question No 26:a) The following figures have been calculated from the financial statements
(including comparatives) of Basit & Co for the year ended 30 September 2009:
increase in profit after taxation
increase in (basic) earnings per share
increase in diluted earnings per share

80%
5%
2%

Required:
Explain why the three measures of earnings (profit) growth for the same
company over the same period can give apparently differing impressions.
b) The profit after tax for Basit & Co for the year ended 30 September 2009 was Rs15
million. At 1 October 2008 the company had in issue 36 million equity shares and
a Rs10 million 8% convertible loan note. The loan note will mature in 2010 and
will be redeemed at par or converted to equity shares on the basis of 25 shares for
each Rs100 of loan note at the loan-note holders‟ option. On 1 January 2009 Basit
& Co made a fully subscribed rights issue of one new share for every four shares
held at a price of Rs2.80 each. The market price of the equity shares of Basit & Co
immediately before the issue was Rs3.80. The earnings per share (EPS) reported
for the year ended 30 September 2008 was 35 paisa.
Basit & Co‟s income tax rate is 25%.
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Required:
Calculate the (basic) EPS figure for Basit & Co (including comparatives) and
the diluted EPS (comparatives not required) that would be disclosed for the
year ended 30 September 2009.
Answer No 26:a) Whilst profit after tax (and its growth) is a useful measure, it may not give a fair
representation of the true underlying earnings performance. In this example,
users could interpret the large annual increase in profit after tax of 80% as being
indicative of an underlying improvement in profitability (rather than what it
really is: an increase in absolute profit). It is possible, even probable, that (some
of) the profit growth has been achieved through the acquisition of other
companies (acquisitive growth). Where companies are acquired from the
proceeds of a new issue of shares, or where they have been acquired through
share exchanges, this will result in a greater number of equity shares of the
acquiring company being in issue. This is what appears to have happened in the
case of Basit & Co as the improvement indicated by its earnings per share (EPS)
is only 5% per annum. This explains why the EPS (and the trend of EPS) is
considered a more reliable indicator of performance because the additional
profits which could be expected from the greater resources (proceeds from the
shares issued) is matched with the increase in the number of shares. Simply
looking at the growth in a company‟s profit after tax does not take into account
any increases in the resources used to earn them. Any increase in growth
financed by borrowings (debt) would not have the same impact on profit (as
being financed by equity shares) because the finance costs of the debt would act
to reduce profit.
The calculation of a diluted EPS takes into account any potential equity shares in
issue. Potential ordinary shares arise from financial instruments (e.g. convertible
loan notes and options) that may entitle their holders to equity shares in the
future. The diluted EPS is useful as it alerts existing shareholders to the fact that
future EPS may be reduced as a result of share capital changes; in a sense it is a
warning sign. In this case the lower increase in the diluted EPS is evidence that
the (higher) increase in the basic EPS has, in part, been achieved through the
increased use of diluting financial instruments. The finance cost of these
instruments is less than the earnings their proceeds have generated leading to an
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increase in current profits (and basic EPS); however, in the future they will cause
more shares to be issued. This causes a dilution where the finance cost per
potential new share is less than the basic EPS.
b)
(Basic) EPS for the year ended 30 September 2009 (Rs15 34.7 paisa
million/43.25 million x 100)
Comparative (basic) EPS (35 x 3.60/3.80)
33.2 paisa
Effect of rights issue (at below market price)
100 shares at Rs3.80
380
25 shares at Rs2.80
70
125 shares at Rs3.60 (calculated theoretical ex-rights value)
450
Weighted average number of shares
36 million x 3/12 x Rs3.80/Rs3.60
9.50 million
45 million x 9/12
33.75 million
43.25 million
Diluted EPS for the year ended 30 September 2009 (Rs15.6 34.1 paisa
million/45.75 million x 100)
Adjusted earnings
15 million + (10 million x 8% x 75%)
Rs15.6
million
Adjusted number of shares
43.25 million + (10 million x 25/100)
45.75 million
Question No 27:a) The objective of IAS 10 Events after the Reporting Period is to prescribe the
treatment of events that occur after an entity‟s reporting period has ended.
Required:
Define the period to which IAS 10 relates and distinguish between adjusting
and non-adjusting events.
b) Waxwork‟s current year end is 31 March 2009. Its financial statements were
authorized for issue by its directors on 6 May 2009 and the AGM (annual general
meeting) will be held on 3 June 2009. The following matters have been brought to
your attention:
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On 12 April 2009 a fire completely destroyed the company‟s largest
warehouse and the inventory it contained. The carrying amounts of the
warehouse and the inventory were Rs10 million and Rs6 million
respectively. It appears that the company has not updated the value of its
insurance cover and only expects to be able to recover a maximum of Rs9
million from its insurers. Waxwork‟s trading operations have been
severely disrupted since the fire and it expects large trading losses for
some time to come.
A single class of inventory held at another warehouse was valued at its
cost of Rs460,000 at 31 March 2009. In April 2009 70% of this inventory
was sold for Rs280,000 on which Waxworks‟ sales staff earned a
commission of 15% of the selling price.
On 18 May 2009 the government announced tax changes which have the
effect of increasing Waxwork‟s deferred tax liability by Rs650,000 as at 31
March 2009.

Required:
Explain the required treatment of the items (i) to (iii) by Waxwork in its
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.
Note: assume all items are material and are independent of each other.
Answer No 27:a) Events after the reporting period are defined by IAS 10 Events after the
Reporting Period as those events, both favourable and unfavorable, that occur
between the end of the reporting period and the date that the financial
statements are authorized for issue (normally by the Board of directors).
An adjusting event is one that provides further evidence of conditions that
existed at the end of the reporting period, including an event that indicates that
the going concern assumption in relation to the whole or part of the entity is not
appropriate. Normally trading results occurring after the end of the reporting
period are a matter for the next reporting period, however, if there is an event
which would normally be treated as non-adjusting that causes a dramatic
downturn in trading (and profitability) such that it is likely that the entity will no
longer be a going concern, this should be treated as an adjusting event.
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A non-adjusting event is an event after the end of the reporting period that is
indicative of a condition that arose after the end of the reporting period and,
subject to the exception noted above, the financial statements would not be
adjusted to reflect such events.
The outcome (and values) of many items in the financial statements have a
degree of uncertainty at the end of the reporting period. IAS 10 effectively says
that where events occurring after the end of the reporting period help to
determine what those values were at the end of the reporting period, they should
be taken in account (i.e. adjusted for) in preparing the financial statements.
If non-adjusting events, whilst not affecting the financial statements of the
current year, are of such importance (i.e. material) that without disclosure of
their nature and estimated financial effect, users‟ ability to make proper
evaluations and decisions about the future of the entity would be affected, then
they should be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
b) .
i.
This is normally classified as a non-adjusting event as there was no reason
to doubt that the value of warehouse and the inventory it contained was
worth less than its carrying amount at 31 March 2009 (the last day of the
reporting period). The total loss suffered as a result of the fire is Rs16
million. The company expects that Rs9 million of this loss will be
recovered from an insurance policy. Recoveries from third parties should
be assessed separately from the related loss. As this event has caused
serious disruption to trading, IAS 10 would require the details of this nonadjusting event to be disclosed as a note to the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2009 as a total loss of Rs16 million and the effect of
the insurance recovery to be disclosed separately.
The severe disruption in Waxwork‟s trading operations since the fire,
together with the expectation of large trading losses for some time to
come, may call in to question the going concern status of the company. If
it is judged that Waxwork is no longer a going concern, then the fire and
its consequences become an adjusting event requiring the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 to be redrafted on the basis
that the company is no longer a going concern (i.e. they would be
prepared on a liquidation basis).
ii.
70% of the inventory amounts to Rs322,000 (460,000 x 70%) and this was
sold for a net amount of Rs238,000 (280,000 x 85%). Thus a large
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proportion of a class of inventory was sold at a loss after the reporting
period. This would appear to give evidence of conditions that existed at 31
March 2009 i.e. that the net realisable value of that class of inventory was
below its cost. Inventory is required to be valued at the lower of cost and
net realisable value, thus this is an adjusting event. If it is assumed that the
remaining inventory will be sold at similar prices and terms as that
already sold, the net realisable value of the whole of the class of inventory
would be calculated as:
Rs280,000/70% = Rs400,000, less commission of 15% = Rs340,000.
Thus the carrying amount of the inventory of Rs460,000 should be written
down by Rs120,000 to its net realisable value of Rs340,000.
In the unlikely event that the fall in the value of the inventory could be
attributed to a specific event that occurred after the date of the statement
of financial position then this would be a non-adjusting event.
The date of the government announcement of the tax change is beyond
the period of consideration in IAS 10. Thus this would be neither an
adjusting nor a non-adjusting event. The increase in the deferred tax
liability will be provided for in the year to 31 March 2010. Had the
announcement been before 6 May 2009, it would have been treated as a
non-adjusting event requiring disclosure of the nature of the event and an
estimate of its financial effect in the notes to the financial statements.

Question No 28:Beth, a public limited company, has produced the following draft balance sheets as at 30
November 2007. Lose and Gain are both public limited companies:

Assets
Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investment in Lose
Investment in Gain
Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables

Beth
Rsm

Lose
Rsm

Gain
Rsm

1,700
300
200
180
2,380

200

300

200

300

800
600

100
60

150
80
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Cash

500
1,900
4,280
1,500
300
400
2,200
700
1,380
2,080
4,280

Share capital of Rs1
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

40
200
400
100

20
250
550
200

200
300

300
500

100
100
400

50
50
550

The following information is relevant to the preparation of the group financial
statements of the Beth Group:
i.

.
Date of acquisition
Lose: 1 December 2005
1 December 2006
Gain: 1 December 2006

ii.

Holding
Acquired
20%
60%
30%

Retained earnings
at acquisition
Rsm
80
150
260

Purchase
Consideration
Rsm
40
160
180

Lose and Gain have not issued any share capital since the acquisition of the
shareholdings by Beth. The fair values of the net assets of Lose and Gain were the
same as their carrying amounts at the date of the acquisitions.
Beth did not have significant influence over Lose at any time before gaining
control of Lose, but does have significant influence over Gain. There has been no
impairment of goodwill on the acquisition of Lose since its acquisition, but the
recoverable amount of the net assets of Gain has been deemed to be Rs610
million at 30 November 2007.
Lose entered into an operating lease for a building on 1 December 2006. The
building was converted into office space during the year at a cost to Lose of Rs10
million. The operating lease is for a period of six years, at the end of which the
building must be returned to the lessor in its original condition. Lose thinks that
it would cost Rs2 million to convert the building back to its original condition at
prices at 30 November 2007. The entries that had been made in the financial
statements of Lose were the charge for operating lease rentals (Rs4 million per
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annum) and the improvements to the building. Both items had been charged to
the income statement. The improvements were completed during the financial
year.
On 1 October 2007, Beth sold inventory costing Rs18 million to Gain for Rs28
million. At 30 November 2007, the inventory was still held by Gain. The
inventory was sold to a third party on 15 December 2007 for Rs35 million.
Beth had contracted to purchase an item of plant and equipment for 12 million
euros on the following terms:
Payable on signing contract (1 September 2007)
Payable on delivery and installation (11 December 2007)

50%
50%

The amount payable on signing the contract (the deposit) was paid on the due
date and is refundable. The following exchange rates are relevant:

v.

vi.

2007
Euros to 1 dollar
1 September
0.75
30 November
0.85
11 December
0.79
The deposit is included in trade receivables at the rate of exchange on 1
September 2007. A full year‟s charge for depreciation of property, plant and
equipment is made in the year of acquisition using the straight line method over
six years.
Beth sold some trade receivables which arose during November 2007 to a
factoring company on 30 November 2007. The trade receivables sold are unlikely
to default in payment based on past experience but they are long dated with
payment not due until 1 June 2008. Beth has given the factor a guarantee that it
will reimburse any amounts not received by the factor. Beth received Rs45
million from the factor being 90% of the trade receivables sold. The trade
receivables are not included in the balance sheet of Beth and the balance not
received from the factor (10% of the trade receivables factored) of Rs5 million has
been written off against retained earnings.
Beth granted 200 share options to each of its 10,000 employees on 1 December
2006. The shares vest if the employees work for the Group for the next two years.
On 1 December 2006, Beth estimated that there would be 1,000 eligible
employees leaving in each year up to the vesting date. At 30 November 2007, 600
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eligible employees had left the company. The estimate of the number of
employees leaving in the year to 30 November 2008 was 500 at 30 November
2007. The fair value of each share option at the grant date (1 December 2006) was
Rs10. The share options have not been accounted for in the financial statements.
The Beth Group operates in the oil industry and contamination of land occurs
including the pollution of seas and rivers. The Group only cleans up the
contamination if it is a legal requirement in the country where it operates.
The following information has been produced for Beth by a group of
environmental consultants for the year ended 30 November 2007:
Cost to clean up contamination
Law existing in country
Rsm
5
No
7
To come into force in December 2007
4
Yes
The directors of Beth have a widely publicized environmental attitude which
shows little regard to the effects on the environment of their business. The Group
does not currently produce a separate environmental report and no provision for
environmental costs has been made in the financial statements. Any provisions
would be shown as non-current liabilities. Beth is likely to operate in these
countries for several years.
Other information
Beth is currently suffering a degree of stagnation in its business development. Its
domestic and international markets are being maintained but it is not attracting
new customers. Its share price has not increased whilst that of its competitors has
seen a rise of between 10% and 20%. Additionally it has recently received a
significant amount of adverse publicity because of its poor environmental record
and is to be investigated by regulators in several countries. Although Beth is a
leading supplier of oil products, it has never felt the need to promote socially
responsible policies and practices or make positive contributions to society
because it has always maintained its market share. It is renowned for poor
customer support, bearing little regard for the customs and cultures in the
communities where it does business. It had recently made a decision not to pay
the amounts owing to certain small and medium entities (SMEs) as the directors
feel that SMEs do not have sufficient resources to challenge the non-payment in a
court of law. The management of the company is quite authoritarian and tends
not to value employees‟ ideas and contributions.
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Required:
a) Prepare the consolidated balance sheet of the Beth Group as at 30
November 2007 in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards.
b) Describe to the Beth Group the possible advantages of producing a
separate environmental report.
c) Discuss the ethical and social responsibilities of the Beth Group and
whether a change in the ethical and social attitudes of the management
could improve business performance.
Note: requirement (c) includes 2 professional marks for development of the
discussion of the ethical and social responsibilities of the Beth Group.
Answer No 28:a)

Beth Group
Consolidated Balance Sheet at 30 November 2007
Beth
Rsm
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment (1,900 + 12 – 2)
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Investment in associate
Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables (600 + 60 – 1 + 50)
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Share capital of Rs1
Other reserves (300 + 9)
Retained earnings
Minority interest
Non-current liabilities (700 + 11 + 2)
Current liabilities (1,380 + 100 + 45)
Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

1,910
300
14
183
2,407
900
709
540
2,149
4,556
1,500
309
447
62
2,318
713
1,525
2,238
4,556
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Working 1
Goodwill calculation – Lose
IFRS3, „Business Combinations‟ requires that each share exchange transaction be
treated separately by the acquirer using the cost of the transaction and the fair
value of the assets, liabilities, and contingent liabilities at the date of each
transaction to determine goodwill.
1 Dec 2005
1 Dec 2006
Rsm Rsm
Rsm
Rsm
Purchase consideration
40
160
less net assets acquired
Share capital
100
Share capital
100
Retained earnings
80
Retained earnings
150
180
250
20% thereof
(36) 60% thereof
(150)
Good will
4
Good will
10
Total Goodwill (Rs4 million + Rs10 million) i.e.
Working 2
Minority Interest
20% of Rs(100 + 200 + 10 – 2) million

Rs14 million

Rs61.6 million

Working 3
Group Reserves at 30 November 2007
Retained earnings – Beth
Post-acquisition reserves – Lose
(200 + 10 – 2 – 80) x 20%
(200 + 10 – 2 – 150) x 60%
Impairment of associate (working 4)
Associate‟s profit less intercompany (12 – 3)
Loss on monetary item – foreign currency (working 6)
Factor – reversal of entry (working 7)
Share options (working 8)
Provision (working 9)
Retained earnings at 30 November 2007

Rsm
400
25.6
34.8
(6)
9
(1)
5
(9)
(11)
447.4
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Associate investment in Gain
Equity Method
Cost of investment
Profit Rs(300 – 260)m x 30%
less intercompany profit (working 5)
Carrying value in balance sheet
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Rsm
180
12
192
(3)
189

Goodwill is not recognised separately in the carrying amount of the investment
and not tested for impairment separately. The carrying amount of the investment
and the recoverable amount are compared.
Rsm
Carrying value
189
Recoverable amount (Rs610m x 30%)
(183)
Impairment
6
Working 5: Intercompany profit
IAS28 requires profits and losses resulting from transactions between the
investor and an associate to be recognised in the investor‟s financial statements
only to the extent of the unrelated investor‟s interests in the associate. Effectively
part of Beth‟s profit on the sale is eliminated to the extent of the company‟s
shareholding in Gain.
Rsm
Inventory: selling price
28
Cost
(18)
Profit
10
Profit eliminated Rs10 million x 30%, i.e.
Rs3
million
DR Income statement/retained earnings
Rs3
million
CR Investment in associate
Rs3
million

Working 6 Deposit paid
If the payment to the supplier is a deposit and is refundable, then the amount is
deemed to be a monetary amount which should be retranslated at the year end.
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Deposit paid 50% x 12 million euros ÷ 0.75 =
Rs8 million
At 30 November 2007, the deposit would be retranslated at 6 million euros ÷ 0.85,
i.e. Rs7 million. Therefore, there will be an exchange loss of Rs(8 – 7) million, i.e.
Rs1 million.
DR Retained earnings
Rs1 million
CR Trade receivables
Rs1 million
Working 7 Factored trade receivables
IAS39 requires derecognition of a financial asset if the contractual rights to the
cash flows have expired or the financial asset has been transferred and so have
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. In the case of the sale of the
trade receivables, the first criterion above has been met, but the second has not
necessarily been met. Although the trade receivables are high quality debts, there
is still a risk of default particularly as they are long dated, and that risk still lies
with Beth. Therefore, the trade receivables should continue to be recognised and
the monies received shown as a current liability.
The reversing entries should be:
Rsm
DR Trade receivables
50
CR Current liabilities
45
Retained earnings
5
Working 8 Share options
200 options x (10,000 – 1,100) x 1/2 x Rs10 = Rs8.9 million
DR Retained earnings
Rs9 million
(rounded)
CR Equity
Rs9 million
At the grant date, the fair value of the award is determined, but then at each
reporting date until vesting, a best estimate of the cumulative charge to the
income statement is made, taking into account:
i.
the grant date fair value of the award (Rs10 per option)
ii.
the current best estimate of the number of awards that will vest (89%)
iii.
the expired portion of the vesting period (1 year)
Working 9 Environmental provision
An enterprise must recognise a provision if, and only if:
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i.

a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event (the obligating event)
ii.
payment is probable („more likely than not‟), and
iii.
the amount can be estimated reliably
In this case, a provision should be made to include the costs of contamination in
the countries where the law is to be enacted or has been enacted as there will be a
legal obligation in those countries. Moral obligations to rectify environmental
damage do not justify making a provision. Therefore, a provision of Rs(7 + 4)
million, i.e. Rs11 million, should be made.
DR Retained earnings
Rs11 million
CR Non-current liabilities
Rs11 million
Working 10 Operating Lease
Lose should capitalize the leasehold improvements of Rs10 million and
depreciate them over the term of the lease in accordance with IAS16 „Property,
plant and equipment‟. Because the improvements have occurred, an obligation
arises out of the past event, and a provision of Rs2 million should be made for
the conversion of the building back to its original condition.
Thus the following entries should be made in Lose‟s financial statements:
Rsm
DR Property, plant and equipment
10
CR Income statement
10
DR Property, plant and equipment
2
CR Provision for „decommissioning‟
2
Depreciation on the capitalised amounts should be charged over the term of the
lease as depreciation is charged in full on property, plant and equipment in the
year of acquisition. Thus depreciation will be accounted for as follows:
Rsm
DR Income Statement (Rs10m + Rs2m) ÷ 6 years
2
CR Property, plant and equipment
2
b) An environmental report allows an organisation to communicate with different
stakeholders. The benefits of an environmental report include:
i.
evaluating environmental performance can highlight inefficiencies in
operations and help to improve management systems. Beth could identify
opportunities to reduce resource use, waste and operating costs.
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ii.

communicating the efforts being made to improve social and
environmental performance can foster community support for a business
and can also contribute towards its reputation as a good corporate citizen.
At present Beth has a poor reputation in this regard.
iii.
reporting efforts to improve the Organisation‟s environmental, social and
economic performance can lead to increased consumer confidence in its
products and services.
iv.
commitment to reporting on current impacts and identifying ways to
improve environmental performance can improve relationships with
regulators, and could reduce the potential threat of litigation which is
hanging over Beth.
v. investors, financial analysts and brokers increasingly ask about the
sustainability aspects of operations. A high quality report shows the
measures the organisation is taking to reduce risks, and will make Beth
more attractive to investors.
vi.
disclosing the organization‟s environmental, social and economic best
practices can give a competitive market edge. Currently Beth‟s corporate
image is poor and this has partly contributed to its poor stock market
performance.
vii. the international trend towards improved corporate sustainability is
growing and access to international markets will require increasing
transparency, and this will help Beth‟s corporate image.
viii.
large organisations are increasingly requiring material and service
suppliers and contractors to submit performance information to satisfy the
expectations of their own shareholders. Disclosing such information can
make the company a more attractive supplier than their competitors, and
increase Beth‟s market share.
It is important to ensure that the policies are robust and effective and not just
compliance based.
c) Corporate social responsibility (CSR) is concerned with business ethics and the
company‟s accountability to its stakeholders, and about the way it meets its
wider obligations. CSR emphasizes the need for companies to adopt a coherent
approach to a range of stakeholders including investors, employees, suppliers,
and customers. Beth has paid little regard to the promotion of socially and
ethically responsible policies. For example, the decision to not pay the SME
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creditors on the grounds that they could not afford to sue the company is
ethically unacceptable. Additionally, Beth pays little regard to local customs and
cultures in its business dealings.
The stagnation being suffered by Beth could perhaps be reversed if it adopted
more environmentally friendly policies. The corporate image is suffering because
of its attitude to the environment. Environmentally friendly policies could be
cost effective if they help to increase market share and reduce the amount of
litigation costs it has to suffer. The communication of these policies would be
through the environmental report, and it is critical that stakeholders feel that the
company is being transparent in its disclosures.
Evidence of corporate misbehavior (Enron, World.com) has stimulated interest in
the behaviour of companies. There has been pressure for companies to show
more awareness and concern, not only for the environment but for the rights and
interests of the people they do business with. Governments have made it clear
that directors must consider the short-term and long-term consequences of their
actions, and take into account their relationships with employees and the impact
of the business on the community and the environment. The behaviour of Beth
will have had an adverse effect on their corporate image.
CSR requires the directors to address strategic issues about the aims, purposes,
and operational methods of the organisation, and some redefinition of the
business model that assumes that profit motive and shareholder interests define
the core purpose of the company. The profits of Beth will suffer if employees are
not valued and there is poor customer support.
Arrangements should be put in place to ensure that the business is conducted in
a responsible manner. The board should look at broad social and environmental
issues affecting the company and set policy and targets, monitoring performance
and improvements.
Question No 29:Gul Ahmed, a public limited company, operates in the fashion sector and had
undertaken a group re-organisation during the current financial year to 31 October
2007. As a result the following events occurred:
a) Gul Ahmed identified two manufacturing units, Cee and Gee, which it had
decided to dispose of in a single transaction. These units comprised non-current
assets only. One of the units, Cee, had been impaired prior to the financial year
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end on 30 September 2007 and it had been written down to its recoverable
amount of Rs35 million. The criteria in IFRS5, „Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations‟, for classification as held for sale, had been met
for Cee and Gee at 30 September 2007. The following information related to the
assets of the cash generating units at 30 September 2007:
Depreciated
Fair value less
Carrying value
historical cost
costs to sell
under IFRS
and recoverable
amount
Rsm
Rsm
Rsm
Cee
50
35
35
Gee
70
90
70
120
125
105
The fair value less costs to sell had risen at the year-end to Rs40 million for Cee
and Rs95 million for Gee. The increase in the fair value less costs to sell had not
been taken into account by Gul Ahmed.
b) As a consequence of the re-organisation, and a change in government legislation,
the tax authorities have allowed a revaluation of the non-current assets of the
holding company for tax purposes to market value at 31 October 2007. There has
been no change in the carrying values of the non-current assets in the financial
statements. The tax base and the carrying values after the revaluation are as
follows:

Carrying Amount
at 31 October
2007
Rsm

Tax base at
31 October 2007
after revaluation
Rsm

Tax base at
31 October 2007
before
revaluation
Rsm
property
50
65
48
Vehicles
30
35
28
Other taxable temporary differences amounted to Rs5 million at 31 October 2007.
Assume income tax is paid at 30%. The deferred tax provision at 31 October 2007
had been calculated using the tax values before revaluation.
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c) A subsidiary company had purchased computerised equipment for Rs4 million
on 31 October 2006 to improve the manufacturing process. Whilst re-organising
the group, Gul Ahmed had discovered that the manufacturer of the
computerised equipment was now selling the same system for Rs2·5 million.
The projected cash flows from the equipment are:
Year ended 31 October
Cash flows
Rsm
2008
1.3
2009
2.2
2010
2.3
The residual value of the equipment is assumed to be zero. The company uses a
discount rate of 10%. The directors think that the fair value less costs to sell of
the equipment is Rs2 million. The directors of Gul Ahmed propose to write
down the non-current asset to the new selling price of Rs2.5 million. The
company‟s policy is to depreciate its computer equipment by 25% per annum on
the straight line basis.
d) The manufacturing property of the group, other than the head office, was held
on an operating lease over 8 years. On re-organisation on 31 October 2007, the
lease has been renegotiated and is held for 12 years at a rent of Rs5 million per
annum paid in arrears. The fair value of the property is Rs35 million and its
remaining economic life is 13 years. The lease relates to the buildings and not the
land. The factor to be used for an annuity at 10% for 12 years is 6.8137.
The directors are worried about the impact that the above changes will have on
the value of its non-current assets and its key performance indicator which is
„Return on Capital Employed‟ (ROCE). ROCE is defined as operating profit
before interest and tax divided by share capital, other reserves and retained
earnings. The directors have calculated ROCE as Rs30 million divided by Rs220
million, i.e. 13.6% before any adjustments required by the above.
Formation of opinion on impact on ROCE.
Required:
Discuss the accounting treatment of the above transactions and the impact that
the resulting adjustments to the financial statements would have on ROCE.
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Note: your answer should include appropriate calculations where necessary and a
discussion of the accounting principles involved.
Answer No 29:The company should account for the events as follows:
a) The two manufacturing units meet the criteria for classification as held for sale
and are, therefore, deemed to be a disposal group under IFRS5 „Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations‟ as the assets are to be
disposed of in a single transaction.
The measurement basis required for non-current assets held for sale is applied to
the group as a whole and any impairment loss will reduce the carrying amount
of the non-current assets in the disposal group in the order of allocation required
by IAS36 „Impairment of Assets‟ (IFRS5 paragraph 4). Before classification as
held for sale, evidence of impairment will be tested on an individual cash
generating unit basis, but after classification it will be done on a disposal group
basis.
Immediately before the initial classification of the asset as held for sale, the
carrying amount of the asset will be measured in accordance with applicable
IFRSs.
On classification as held for sale, disposal groups that are classified as held for
sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to
sell. Impairment must be considered both at the time of classification as held for
sale and subsequently. Immediately prior to classifying a disposal group as held
for sale, it must measure and recognise impairment in accordance with the
applicable IFRSs. Any impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss unless the
asset had been measured at a revalued amount under IAS16 „Property, Plant and
Equipment‟ or IAS38 „Intangible Assets‟, in which case the impairment is treated
as a revaluation decrease. On classification as held for sale, any impairment loss
will be based on the difference between the adjusted carrying amounts of the
disposal group and fair value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss that arises
by using the measurement principles in IFRS5 must be recognised in profit or
loss (IFRS5 paragraph 20).
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Thus Gul Ahmed should not increase the value of the disposal group above
Rs105 million at 30 September 2007 as this is the carrying amount of the assets
measured in accordance with applicable IFRS immediately before being
classified as held for sale (IAS36 and IAS16). After classification as held for sale,
the disposal group will remain at this value as this is the lower of the carrying
value and fair value less costs to sell, and there is no impairment recorded as the
recoverable amount of the disposal group is in excess of the carrying value. At a
subsequent reporting date following initial classification as held for sale the
disposal group should be measured at fair value less costs to sell. However,
IFRS5 (paragraphs 21–22) allows any subsequent increase in fair value less costs
to sell to be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it is not in excess of any
impairment loss recognised in accordance with IFRS5 or previously with IAS36.
Thus any increase in the fair value less costs to sell can be recognised as follows
at 31 October 2007:
Rsm
40
95
135
Carrying value
(105)
Increase
30
Impairment recognised in Cee (50 – 35)
15
Therefore, the carrying value of the disposal group can increase by Rs15 million
and profit or loss can be increased by the same amount, where the fair value
rises. Thus the value of the disposal group will be Rs120 million. These
adjustments will affect „Return on Capital Employed‟ (ROCE).
Fair value less costs to sell – Cee
Fair value less costs to sell – Gee

b) The differences between the IFRS carrying amounts for the non-current assets
and tax bases will represent temporary differences.
The general principle in IAS12 „Income Taxes‟ is that deferred tax liabilities
should be recognised for all taxable temporary differences. A deferred tax asset
should be recognised for deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized.
A deferred tax asset cannot be recognised where it arises from negative goodwill
or the initial recognition of an asset/liability other than in a business
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combination. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets should be reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part or all of
that deferred tax asset to be utilized. Any such reduction should be subsequently
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available (IAS12 paragraph 37)
The recognition of deferred tax assets will result in the recognition of income, in
the income statement. This amount cannot be reported in equity as IAS12 only
allows deferred tax to be recognised in equity if the corresponding entry is
recognised in equity. This is not the case in this situation as the revaluation was
not recognised for IFRS purposes.
Temporary
Difference
Rsm
Property
15
Vehicles
5
Other taxable temporary differences
(5)
15
The deferred tax asset would be Rs15 million x 30%, i.e. Rs4.5 million subject to
there being sufficient taxable profit. The deferred tax provision relating to these
assets would have been:

Property
Vehicles
Other taxable temporary differences

Carrying
Amount
Rsm
50
30

Tax
Base
Rsm
65
35

Carrying
Amount
Rsm
50
30

Tax
Base
Rsm
48
28

Temporary
Difference
Rsm
2
2
4
5
9

Rs9 million at 30%, i.e. Rs2.7 million
The impact on the income statement would be significant as the deferred tax
provision of Rs2.7 million would be released and a deferred tax asset of Rs4.5
million credited to it. These adjustments will not affect profit before interest and
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tax. However an asset of Rs4.5 million will be created in the balance sheet which
will affect ROCE.
c) At each balance sheet date, Gul Ahmed should review all assets to look for any
indication that an asset may be impaired, i.e. where the asset‟s carrying amount
(Rs3 million) is in excess of the greater of its net selling price and its value in use.
IAS36 has a list of external and internal indicators of impairment. If there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired, then the asset‟s recoverable amount
must be calculated (IAS36 paragraph 9).
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset‟s fair value less costs to sell
(sometimes called net selling price) and its value in use which is the discounted
present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from:
(i) the continuing use of an asset, and from
(ii) its disposal at the end of its useful life
If the manufacturer has reduced the selling price, it does not mean necessarily
that the asset is impaired. One indicator of impairment is where the asset‟s
market value has declined significantly more than expected in the period as a
result of the passage of time or normal usage. The value-in-use of the equipment
will be Rs4.7 million.
Year ended
31 October
2008
2009
2010
Value in use

Cash
flows
Rsm
1.3
2.2
2.3
-

Discounted
(10%)
Rsm
1.2
1.8
1.7
4.7

The fair value less costs to sell of the asset is estimated at Rs2 million. Therefore,
the recoverable amount is Rs4.7 million which is higher than the carrying value
of Rs3 million and, therefore, the equipment is not impaired with no effect on
ROCE.
d) Under IAS17, „Leases‟, operating lease payments should be recognised as an
expense in the income statement over the lease term on a straight line basis,
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unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the
user‟s benefit.
The provisions of the lease have changed significantly and would need to be
reassessed.
The lease term is now for the major part of the economic life of the assets, and at
the inception of the lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments is
substantially all of the fair value of the leased asset. (Fair value Rs35 million,
NPV of lease payments Rs34.1 million) Even if title is not transferred at the end
of the lease the lease can still be a finance lease. Any change in the estimate of the
length of life of a lease would not change its classification but where the
provisions of the lease have changed, re-assessment of its classification takes
place. Thus it would appear that the lease is now a finance lease, and it would be
shown in the balance sheet at the present value of the lease payments as this is
lower than the fair value. This change in classification will not affect ROCE as it
will increase non-current assets by Rs34.1 million and liabilities by the same
amount.
Effect on ROCE

Rsm
30
15
45
Capital employed
220
add increase in value of disposal group
15
Deferred tax asset (4.5 + 2.7)
7.2
242.2
ROCE will rise from 13.6% to 18.6% (45/242.2) and thus the directors‟ fears that
ROCE would be adversely affected are unfounded.
Profit before tax and interest
add increase in value of disposal group

Question No 30:The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has begun a joint project to
revisit its conceptual framework for financial accounting and reporting. The goals of the
project are to build on the existing frameworks and converge them into a common
framework.
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Required:
a) Discuss why there is a need to develop an agreed international conceptual
framework and the extent to which an agreed international conceptual
framework can be used to resolve practical accounting issues.
b) Discuss the key issues which will need to be addressed in determining the
basic components of an internationally agreed conceptual framework.
Appropriateness and quality of discussion.
Answer No 30:a) The IASB wish their standards to be „principles-based‟ and in order for this to be
the case, the standards must be based on fundamental concepts. These concepts
need to constitute a framework which is sound, comprehensive and internally
consistent. Without agreement on a framework, standard setting is based upon
the personal conceptual frameworks of the individual standard setters which
may change as the membership of the body changes and results in standards that
are not consistent with each other. Such a framework is designed not only to
assist standard setters, but also preparers of financial statements, auditors and
users.
A common goal of the IASB is to converge their standards with national standard
setters. The IASB will encounter difficulties converging their standards if
decisions are based on different frameworks. The IASB has been pursuing a
number of projects that are aimed at achieving short term convergence on certain
issues with national standard setters as well as major projects with them.
Convergence will be difficult if there is no consistency in the underlying
framework being used.
Frameworks differ in their authoritative status. The IASB‟s Framework requires
management to expressly consider the Framework if no standard or
interpretation specifically applies or deals with a similar and related issue.
However, certain frameworks have a lower standing. For example, entities are
not required to consider the concepts embodied in certain national frameworks
in preparing financial statements. Thus the development of an agreed framework
would eliminate differences in the authoritative standing of conceptual
frameworks and lead to greater consistency in financial statements
internationally.
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The existing concepts within most frameworks are quite similar. However, these
concepts need revising to reflect changes in markets, business practices and the
economic environment since the concepts were developed. The existing
frameworks need developing to reflect these changes and to fill gaps in the
frameworks. For example, the IASB‟s Framework does not contain a definition of
the reporting entity. An agreed international framework could deal with this
problem, especially if priority was given to the issues likely to give short-term
standard setting benefits.
Many standard setting bodies attempted initially to resolve accounting and
reporting problems by developing accounting standards without an accepted
theoretical frame of reference. The result has been inconsistency in the
development of standards both nationally and internationally. The frameworks
were developed when several of their current standards were in existence. In the
absence of an agreed conceptual framework the same theoretical issues are
revisited on several occasions by standard setters. The result is inconsistencies
and incompatible concepts. Examples of this are substance over form and
matching versus prudence. Some standard setters such as the IASB permit two
methods of accounting for the same set of circumstances. An example is the
accounting for joint ventures where the equity method and proportionate
consolidation are allowed.
Additionally there have been differences in the way that standard setters have
practically used the principles in the framework. Some national standard setters
have produced a large number of highly detailed accounting rules with less
emphasis on general principles. A robust framework might reduce the need for
detailed rules although some companies operate in a different legal and statutory
context than other entities. It is important that a framework must result in
standards that account appropriately for actual business practice.
An agreed framework will not solve all accounting issues, nor will it obviate the
need for judgement to be exercised in resolving accounting issues. It can provide
a framework within which those judgements can be made.
A framework provides standard setters with both a foundation for setting
standards, and concepts to use as tools for resolving accounting and reporting
issues. A framework provides a basic reasoning on which to consider the merits
of alternatives. It does not provide all the answers, but narrows the range of
alternatives to be considered by eliminating some that are inconsistent with it. It,
thereby, contributes to greater efficiency in the standard setting process by
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avoiding the necessity of having to redebate fundamental issues and facilitates
any debate about specific technical issues. A framework should also reduce
political pressures in making accounting judgements. The use of a framework
reduces the influence of personal biases in accounting decisions.
However, concepts statements are by their nature very general and theoretical in
their wording, which leads to alternative conclusions being drawn. Whilst
individual standards should be consistent with the Framework, in the absence of
a specific standard, it does not follow that concepts will provide practical
solutions. IAS8 „Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and
Errors‟ sets out a hierarchy of authoritative guidance that should be considered
in the absence of a standard. In this case, management can use its judgement in
developing and applying an accounting policy, albeit by considering the IASB
framework, but can also use accounting standards issued by other bodies. Thus
an international framework may not totally provide solutions to practical
accounting problems.
b) There are several issues which have to be addressed if an international
conceptual framework is to be successfully developed.
These are:
i.

Objectives
Agreement will be required as to whether financial statements are to be
produced for shareholders or a wide range of users and whether decision
usefulness is the key criteria or stewardship. Additionally there is the
question of whether the objective is to provide information in making
credit and investment decisions.

ii.

Qualitative Characteristics
The qualities to be sought in making decisions about financial reporting
need to be determined. The decision usefulness of financial reports is
determined by these characteristics. There are issues concerning the tradeoffs between relevance and reliability. An example of this concerns the use
of fair values and historical costs. It has been argued that historical costs
are more reliable although not as relevant as fair values. Additionally
there is a conflict between neutrality and the traditions of prudence or
conservatism. These characteristics are constrained by materiality and
benefits that justify costs.
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iii.

Definitions of the elements of financial statements
The principles behind the definition of the elements need agreement.
There are issues concerning whether „control‟ should be included in the
definition of an asset or become part of the recognition criteria. Also the
definition of „control‟ is an issue particularly with financial instruments.
For example, does the holder of a call option „control‟ the underlying
asset? Some of the IASB‟s standards contravene its own conceptual
framework. IFRS3 requires the capitalisation of goodwill as an asset
despite the fact that it can be argued that goodwill does not meet the
definition of an asset in the Framework. IAS12 requires the recognition of
deferred tax liabilities that do not meet the liability definition. Similarly
equity and liabilities need to be capable of being clearly distinguished.
Certain financial instruments could either be liabilities or equity. For
example obligations settled in shares.

iv.

Recognition and De-recognition
The principles of recognition and de-recognition of assets and liabilities
need reviewing. Most frameworks have recognition criteria, but there are
issues over the timing of recognition. For example, should an asset be
recognised when a value can be placed on it or when a cost has been
incurred? If an asset or liability does not meet recognition criteria when
acquired or incurred, what subsequent event causes the asset or liability to
be recognised? Most frameworks do not discuss de-recognition. (The
IASB‟s Framework does not discuss the issue.) It can be argued that an
item should be de-recognised when it does not meet the recognition
criteria, but financial instruments standards (IAS39) require other factors
to occur before financial assets can be de-recognised. Different attributes
should be considered such as legal ownership, control, risks or rewards.

v.

Measurement
More detailed discussion of the use of measurement concepts, such as
historical cost, fair value, current cost, etc are required and also more
guidance on measurement techniques. Measurement concepts should
address initial measurement and subsequent measurement in the form of
revaluations, impairment and depreciation which in turn gives rise to
issues about classification of gains or losses in income or in equity.

vi.

Reporting entity
Issues have arisen over what sorts of entities should issue financial
statements, and which entities should be included in consolidated
financial statements. A question arises as to whether the legal entity or the
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economic unit should be the reporting unit. Complex business
arrangements raise issues over what entities should be consolidated and
the basis upon which entities are consolidated. For example, should the
basis of consolidation be „control‟ and what does „control‟ mean?
vii.

Presentation and disclosure
Financial reporting should provide information that enables users to
assess the amounts, timing and uncertainty of the entity‟s future cash
flows, its assets, liabilities and equity. It should provide management
explanations and the limitations of the information in the reports.
Discussions as to the boundaries of presentation and disclosure are
required.

Question No 31:a) Norman, a public limited company, has three business segments which are
currently reported in its financial statements. Norman is an international hotel
group which reports to management on the basis of region. It does not currently
report segmental information under IFRS8 „Operating Segments‟. The results of
the regional segments for the year ended 31 May 2008 are as follows:
Region
European
South East Asia
Other regions

Revenue
External Internal
Rs m
Rs m
200
3
300
2
500
5

Segment results
profit/(loss)
Rs m
(10)
60
105

Segment
Assets
Rs m
300
800
2,000

Segment
Liabilities
Rs m
200
300
1,400

There were no significant inter company balances in the segment assets and
liabilities. The hotels are located in capital cities in the various regions, and the
company sets individual performance indicators for each hotel based on its city
location.
Required:
Discuss the principles in IFRS8 „Operating Segments‟ for the determination of
a company‟s reportable operating segments and how these principles would
be applied for Norman plc using the information given above.
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b) One of the hotels owned by Norman is a hotel complex which includes a theme
park, a casino and a golf course, as well as a hotel. The theme park, casino, and
hotel were sold in the year ended 31 May 2008 to Conquest, a public limited
company, for Rs 200 million but the sale agreement stated that Norman would
continue to operate and manage the three businesses for their remaining useful
life of 15 years. The residual interest in the business reverts back to Norman after
the 15 year period. Norman would receive 75% of the net profit of the businesses
as operator fees and Conquest would receive the remaining 25%. Norman has
guaranteed to Conquest that the net minimum profit paid to Conquest would not
be less than Rs 15 million.
Norman has recently started issuing vouchers to customers when they stay in its
hotels. The vouchers entitle the customers to a Rs 30 discount on a subsequent
room booking within three months of their stay. Historical experience has shown
that only one in five vouchers are redeemed by the customer. At the company‟s
year-end of 31 May 2008, it is estimated that there are vouchers worth Rs 20
million which are eligible for discount. The income from room sales for the year
is Rs 300 million and Norman is unsure how to report the income from room
sales in the financial statements.
Norman has obtained a significant amount of grant income for the development
of hotels in Europe. The grants have been received from government bodies and
relate to the size of the hotel which has been built by the grant assistance. The
intention of the grant income was to create jobs in areas where there was
significant unemployment. The grants received of Rs 70 million will have to be
repaid if the cost of building the hotels is less than Rs 500 million.
Appropriateness and quality of discussion
Required:
Discuss how the above income would be treated in the financial statements of
Norman for the year ended 31 May 2008.
Answer No 31:a) Upon adoption of IFRS8,„Operating Segments‟, the identification of Norman‟s
segments may or may not change depending on how segments were identified
previously. IFRS8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of
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internal reports about the components of the entity that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the
segment and to assess its performance. Formerly companies identified business
and geographical segments using a risks and rates of return approach with one
set of segments being classed as primary and the other as secondary. IFRS8 states
that a component of an entity that sells primarily or exclusively to other
operating segments of the entity meets the definition of an operating segment if
the entity is managed that way. IFRS8 does not define segment revenue, segment
expense, segment result, segment assets, and segment liabilities but does require
an explanation of how segment profit or loss, segment assets, and segment
liabilities are measured for each segment. This will give entities some discretion
in determining what is included in segment profit or loss but this will be limited
by their internal reporting practices. The core principle is that the entity should
disclose information to enable users to evaluate the nature and financial effects of
the types of business activities in which it engages and the economic
environments in which it operates.
IFRS8 „Operating Segments‟ defines an operating segment as follows. An
operating segment is a component of an entity:
-

-

that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and
incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions
with other components of the same entity)
whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the entity‟s chief
operating decision makers to make decisions about resources to be
allocated to the segment and assess its performance; and for which
discrete financial information is available

IFRS8 requires an entity to report financial and descriptive information about its
reportable segments. Reportable segments are operating segments that meet
specified criteria:
-

-

the reported revenue, from both external customers and intersegment
sales or transfers, is 10% or more of the combined revenue, internal and
external, of all operating segments; or
the absolute measure of its reported profit or loss is 10% or more of the
greater, in absolute amount, of (i) the combined reported profit of all
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operating segments that did not report a loss, and (ii) the combined
reported loss of all operating segments that reported a loss; or
its assets are 10% or more of the combined assets of all operating
segments.

If the total external revenue reported by operating segments constitutes less than
75% of the entity‟s revenue, additional operating segments must be identified as
reportable segments (even if they do not meet the quantitative thresholds set out
above) until at least 75% of the entity‟s revenue is included in reportable
segments. There is no precise limit to the number of segments that can be
disclosed.
As the key performance indicators are set on a city by city basis, there may be
information within the internal reports about the components of the entity which
has been disaggregated further. Also the company is likely to make decisions
about the allocation of resources and about the nature of performance on a city
basis because of the individual key performance indicators.
In the case of the existing segments, the European segment meets the criteria for
a segment as its reported revenue from external and inter segment sales (Rs 203
million) is more than 10% of the combined revenue (Rs 1,010 million). However,
it fails the profit/loss and assets tests. Its results are a loss of Rs 10 million which
is less than 10% of the greater of the reported profit or reported loss which is Rs
165 million. Similarly its segment assets of Rs 300 million are less than 10% of the
combined segment assets (Rs 3,100 million). The South East Asia segment passes
all of the threshold tests. If the company changes its business segments then the
above tests will have to be reperformed. A further issue is that the current
reported segments constitute less than 75% of the company‟s external revenue
(50%), thus additional operating segments must be identified until 75% of the
entity‟s revenue is included in reportable segments.
Norman may have to change the basis of reporting its operating segments.
Although the group reports to management on the basis of three geographical
regions, it is likely that management will have information which has been
further disaggregated in order to make business decisions. Therefore, the internal
reports of Norman will need to be examined before it is possible to determine the
nature of the operating segments.
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b) Property is sometimes sold with a degree of continuing involvement by the seller
so that the risks and rewards of ownership have not been transferred. The nature
and extent of the buyer‟s involvement will determine how the transaction is
accounted for. The substance of the transaction is determined by looking at the
transaction as a whole and IAS18 „Revenue‟ requires this by stating that where
two or more transactions are linked, they should be treated as a single
transaction in order to understand the commercial effect (IAS18 paragraph 13). In
the case of the sale of the hotel, theme park and casino, Norman should not
recognise a sale as the company continues to enjoy substantially all of the risks
and rewards of the businesses, and still operates and manages them.
Additionally the residual interest in the business reverts back to Norman. Also
Norman has guaranteed the income level for the purchaser as the minimum
payment to Conquest will be Rs 15 million a year. The transaction is in substance
a financing arrangement and the proceeds should be treated as a loan and the
payment of profits as interest.
The principles of IAS18 and IFRIC13 „Customer Loyalty Programmes‟ require
that revenue in respect of each separate component of a transaction is measured
at its fair value. Where vouchers are issued as part of a sales transaction and are
redeemable against future purchases, revenue should be reported at the amount
of the consideration received/receivable less the voucher‟s fair value. In
substance, the customer is purchasing both goods or services and a voucher. The
fair value of the voucher is determined by reference to the value to the holder
and not the cost to the issuer. Factors to be taken into account when estimating
the fair value, would be the discount the customer obtains, the percentage of
vouchers that would be redeemed, and the time value of money. As only one in
five vouchers are redeemed, then effectively the hotel has sold goods worth (Rs
300 + Rs 4) million, i.e. Rs 304 million for a consideration of Rs 300 million. Thus
allocating the discount between the two elements would mean that (300 ÷ 304 x
Rs 300m) i.e. Rs 296.1 million will be allocated to the room sales and the balance
of Rs 3.9 million to the vouchers. The deferred portion of the proceeds is only
recognised when the obligations are fulfilled.
The recognition of government grants is covered by IAS20 „Accounting for
government grants and disclosure of government assistance‟. The accruals
concept is used by the standard to match the grant received with the related
costs. The relationship between the grant and the related expenditure is the key
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to establishing the accounting treatment. Grants should not be recognised until
there is reasonable assurance that the company can comply with the conditions
relating to their receipt and the grant will be received. Provision should be made
if it appears that the grant may have to be repaid.
There may be difficulties of matching costs and revenues when the terms of the
grant do not specify precisely the expense towards which the grant contributes.
In this case the grant appears to relate to both the building of hotels and the
creation of employment. However, if the grant was related to revenue
expenditure, then the terms would have been related to payroll or a fixed
amount per job created. Hence it would appear that the grant is capital based
and should be matched against the depreciation of the hotels by using a deferred
income approach or deducting the grant from the carrying value of the asset
(IAS20). Additionally the grant is only to be repaid if the cost of the hotel is less
than Rs 500 million which itself would seem to indicate that the grant is capital
based. If the company feels that the cost will not reach Rs 500 million, a provision
should be made for the estimated liability if the grant has been recognised.

Question No 32:Mobilink, a public limited company, is currently planning to acquire and sell interests
in other entities and has asked for advice on the impact of IFRS3 (Revised) „Business
Combinations‟ and IAS27 (Revised) „Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements‟.
The company is particularly concerned about the impact on earnings, net assets and
goodwill at the acquisition date and any ongoing earnings impact that the new
standards may have.
The company is considering purchasing additional shares in an associate, Jamal & Co, a
public limited company. The holding will increase from 30% stake to 70% stake by
offering the shareholders of Jamal & Co, cash and shares in Mobilink. Mobilink
anticipates that it will pay Rs 5 million in transaction costs to lawyers and bankers.
Jamal & Co had previously been the subject of a management buyout. In order that the
current management shareholders may remain in the business, Mobilink is going to
offer them share options in Jamal & Co subject to them remaining in employment for
two years after the acquisition. Additionally, Mobilink will offer the same shareholders,
shares in the holding company which are contingent upon a certain level of profitability
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being achieved by Jamal & Co. Each shareholder will receive shares of the holding
company up to a value of Rs 50,000, if Jamal & Co achieves a pre-determined rate of
return on capital employed for the next two years.
Jamal & Co has several marketing-related intangible assets that are used primarily in
marketing or promotion of its products. These include trade names, internet domain
names and non-competition agreements. These are not currently recognised in Jamal &
Co‟s financial statements.
Mobilink does not wish to measure the non-controlling interest in subsidiaries on the
basis of the proportionate interest in the identifiable net assets, but wishes to use the
„full goodwill‟ method on the transaction. Mobilink is unsure as to whether this method
is mandatory, or what the effects are of recognising „full goodwill‟. Additionally the
company is unsure as to whether the nature of the consideration would affect the
calculation of goodwill.
To finance the acquisition of Jamal & Co, Mobilink intends to dispose of a partial
interest in two subsidiaries. Mobilink will retain control of the first subsidiary but will
sell the controlling interest in the second subsidiary which will become an associate.
Because of its plans to change the overall structure of the business, Mobilink wishes to
recognise a re-organisation provision at the date of the business combination.
Required:
Discuss the principles and the nature of the accounting treatment of the above plans
under International Financial Reporting Standards setting out any impact that IFRS3
(Revised) „Business Combinations‟ and IAS27 (Revised) „Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements‟ might have on the earnings and net assets of the group.
Answer No 32:IFRS3 (Revised) is a further development of the acquisition model and represents a
significant change in accounting for business combinations. The consideration is the
amount paid for the business acquired and is measured at fair value. Consideration will
include cash, assets, contingent consideration, equity instruments, options and
warrants. It also includes the fair value of all equity interests that the acquirer may have
held previously in the acquired business. The principles to be applied are that:
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a) a business combination occurs only in respect of the transaction that gives one
entity control of another
b) the identifiable net assets of the acquiree are re-measured to their fair value on
the date of the acquisition
c) NCI are measured on the date of acquisition under one of the two options
permitted by IFRS3 (Revised).
An equity interest previously held in the acquiree which qualified as an associate under
IAS28 is similarly treated as if it were disposed of and reacquired at fair value on the
acquisition date. Accordingly, it is re-measured to its acquisition date fair value, and
any resulting gain or loss compared to its carrying amount under IAS28 is recognised in
profit or loss. Thus the 30% holding in the associate which was previously held will be
included in the consideration. If the carrying amount of the interest in the associate is
not held at fair value at the acquisition date, the interest should be measured to fair
value and the resulting gain or loss should be recognised in profit or loss. The business
combination has effectively been achieved in stages.
The fees payable in transaction costs are not deemed to be part of the consideration paid
to the seller of the shares. They are not assets of the purchased business that are
recognised on acquisition. Therefore, they should be expensed as incurred and the
services received. Transaction costs relating to the issue of debt or equity, if they are
directly attributable, will not be expensed but deducted from debt or equity on initial
recognition.
It is common for part of the consideration to be contingent upon future events. Mobilink
wishes some of the existing shareholders/employees to remain in the business and has,
therefore, offered share options as an incentive to these persons. The issue is whether
these options form part of the purchase consideration or are compensation for postacquisition services. The conditions attached to the award will determine the
accounting treatment. In this case there are employment conditions and, therefore, the
options should be treated as compensation and valued under IFRS2 „Share based
payment‟. Thus a charge will appear in post-acquisition earnings for employee services
as the options were awarded to reward future services of employees rather than to
acquire the business.
The additional shares to a fixed value of Rs 50,000 are contingent upon the future
returns on capital employed. Mobilink only wants to make additional payments if the
business is successful. All consideration should be fair valued at the date of acquisition,
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including the above contingent consideration. The contingent consideration payable in
shares where the number of shares varies to give the recipient a fixed value (Rs 50,000)
meets the definition of a financial liability under IAS32 „Financial Instruments:
Presentation‟. As a result the liability will have to be fair valued and any subsequent
remeasurement will be recognised in the income statement. There is no requirement
under IFRS3 (Revised) for the payments to be probable.
Intangible assets should be recognised on acquisition under IFRS3 (Revised). These
include trade names, domain names, and non-competition agreements. Thus these
assets will be recognised and goodwill effectively reduced. The additional clarity in
IFRS3 (Revised) could mean that more intangible assets will be recognised on
acquisition. As a result of this, the post-combination income statement may have more
charges for amortisation of the intangibles than was previously the case.
The revised standard gives entities the option, on a transaction by transaction basis, to
measure non-controlling interests (NCI) at the fair value of the proportion of
identifiable net assets or at full fair value. The first option results in measurement of
goodwill on consolidation which would normally be little different from the previous
standard. The second approach records goodwill on the NCI as well as on the acquired
controlling interest. Goodwill is the residual but may differ from that under the
previous standard because of the nature of the valuation of the consideration as
previously held interests are fair valued and also because goodwill can be measured in
the above two ways (full goodwill and partial goodwill). The standard gives entities a
choice for each separate business combination of recognising full or partial goodwill.
Recognising full goodwill will increase reported net assets and may result in any future
impairment of goodwill being of greater value. Measuring NCI at fair value may have
some difficulties but goodwill impairment testing may be easier under full goodwill as
there is no need to gross-up goodwill for partly-owned subsidiaries. The type of
consideration does not affect goodwill regardless of how the payment is structured.
Consideration is recognised in total at its fair value at the date of acquisition. The form
of the consideration will not affect goodwill but the structure of the payments can affect
post-acquisition profits. Contingent payments which are deemed to be debt instruments
will be remeasured at each reporting date with the change going to the income
statement.
Mobilink has a maximum period of 12 months to finalise the acquisition accounting but
will not be able to recognise the re-organisation provision at the date of the business
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combination. The ability of the acquirer to recognise a liability for reducing or changing
the activities of the acquiree is restricted. A restructuring provision can only be
recognised in a business combination when the acquiree has at the acquisition date, an
existing liability which complies with IAS37 „Provisions, contingent liabilities and
contingent assets‟. These conditions are unlikely to exist at the acquisition date. A
restructuring plan that is conditional on the completion of a business combination is not
recognised in accounting for the acquisition but the expense will be met against postacquisition earnings.
IAS27 (Revised) uses the economic entity model whereas previous practice used the
parent company approach. The economic entity model treats all providers of equity
capital as shareholders of the entity even where they are not shareholders in the parent.
A partial disposal of an interest in a subsidiary in which control is still retained is seen
as a treasury transaction and accounted for in equity. It does not result in a gain or loss
but an increase or decrease in equity. However, where a partial disposal in a subsidiary
results in a loss of control but the retention of an interest in the form of an associate,
then a gain or loss is recognised in the whole interest. A gain or loss is recognised on the
portion that has been sold, and a holding gain or loss is recognised on the interest
retained being the difference between the book value and fair value of the interest. Both
gains/losses are recognised in the income statement.
Question No 33:Johan, a public limited company, operates in the telecommunications industry. The
industry is capital intensive with heavy investment in licences and network
infrastructure. Competition in the sector is fierce and technological advances are a
characteristic of the industry. Johan has responded to these factors by offering
incentives to customers and, in an attempt to acquire and retain them, Johan purchased
a telecom licence on 1 December 2006 for Rs 120 million. The licence has a term of six
years and cannot be used until the network assets and infrastructure are ready for use.
The related network assets and infrastructure became ready for use on 1 December
2007. Johan could not operate in the country without the licence and is not permitted to
sell the licence. Johan expects its subscriber base to grow over the period of the licence
but is disappointed with its market share for the year to 30 November 2008. The licence
agreement does not deal with the renewal of the licence but there is an expectation that
the regulator will grant a single renewal for the same period of time as long as certain
criteria regarding network build quality and service quality are met. Johan has no
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experience of the charge that will be made by the regulator for the renewal but other
licences have been renewed at a nominal cost. The licence is currently stated at its
original cost of Rs 120 million in the statement of financial position under non-current
assets.
Johan is considering extending its network and has carried out a feasibility study
during the year to 30 November 2008. The design and planning department of Johan
identified five possible geographical areas for the extension of its network. The internal
costs of this study were Rs 150,000 and the external costs were Rs 100,000 during the
year to 30 November 2008. Following the feasibility study, Johan chose a geographical
area where it was going to install a base station for the telephone network. The location
of the base station was dependent upon getting planning permission. A further
independent study has been carried out by third party consultants in an attempt to
provide a preferred location in the area, as there is a need for the optimal operation of
the network in terms of signal quality and coverage. Johan proposes to build a base
station on the recommended site on which planning permission has been obtained. The
third party consultants have charged Rs 50,000 for the study. Additionally Johan has
paid Rs 300,000 as a single payment together with Rs 60,000 a month to the government
of the region for access to the land upon which the base station will be situated. The
contract with the government is for a period of 12 years and commenced on 1
November 2008. There is no right of renewal of the contract and legal title to the land
remains with the government.
Johan purchases telephone handsets from a manufacturer for Rs 200 each, and sells the
handsets direct to customers for Rs 150 if they purchase call credit (call card) in advance
on what is called a prepaid phone. The costs of selling the handset are estimated at Rs 1
per set. The customers using a prepaid phone pay Rs 21 for each call card at the
purchase date. Call cards expire six months from the date of first sale. There is an
average unused call credit of Rs 3 per card after six months and the card is activated
when sold.
Johan also sells handsets to dealers for Rs 150 and invoices the dealers for those
handsets. The dealer can return the handset up to a service contract being signed by a
customer. When the customer signs a service contract, the customer receives the
handset free of charge. Johan allows the dealer a commission of Rs 280 on the
connection of a customer and the transaction with the dealer is settled net by a payment
of Rs 130 by Johan to the dealer being the cost of the handset to the dealer (Rs 150)
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deducted from the commission (Rs 280). The handset cannot be sold separately by the
dealer and the service contract lasts for a 12 month period. Dealers do not sell prepaid
phones, and Johan receives monthly revenue from the service contract.
The chief operating officer, a non-accountant, has asked for an explanation of the
accounting principles and practices which should be used to account for the above
events.
Required:
Discuss the principles and practices which should be used in the financial year to 30
November 2008 to account for:
a) the licences;
b) the costs incurred in extending the network;
c) the purchase of handsets and the recognition of revenue from customers and
dealers.
Appropriateness and quality of discussion.
Answer No 33:Licences
An intangible asset meets the identifiability criterion when it is separable or it arises
from contractual or other legal rights (IAS38 „Intangible Assets‟). Additionally
intangible assets are recognised where it is probable that the future economic benefits
attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the asset‟s cost can be reliably
measured. Where intangible assets are acquired separately, the asset‟s cost or fair value
reflects the estimations of the future economic benefits that are expected to flow to the
entity. The licence will, therefore, meet the above criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset at cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, IAS38 permits an entity to
adopt the cost or revaluation model as its accounting policy. The revaluation model can
only be adopted if intangible assets are traded in an active market. As the licence cannot
be sold, the revaluation model cannot be used.
The cost model requires intangible assets to be carried at cost less amortisation and
impairment losses (IAS38, para 74). Amortisation is the systematic allocation of the
depreciable amount of an intangible asset over its useful life. The depreciable amount is
the asset‟s cost less its residual value. The licence will have no residual value. The
depreciable amount should be allocated on a systematic basis over its useful life. The
method of amortisation should reflect the pattern in which the asset‟s economic benefits
are expected to be consumed. If that pattern cannot be determined reliably, the straight
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line method of amortisation must be used. The licence does not suffer wear and tear
from usage that is the number of customers using the service. The economic benefits of
the licence relate to Johan‟s ability to benefit from the use of the licence. The economic
benefits relate to the passage of time and the useful life of the licence is now shorter.
Therefore, the asset depletes on a time basis and the straight line basis is appropriate.
The licence should be amortised from the date that the network is available for use; that
is from 1 December 2007. An impairment review should have been undertaken at 30
November 2007 when the licence was not being amortised. Although the licence is
capable of being used on the date it was purchased, it cannot be used until the
associated network assets and infrastructure are available for use. Johan expects the
regulator to renew the licence at the end of the initial term and thus consideration
should be given to amortizing the licence over the two licence periods, i.e. a period of 11
years (five years and six years) as the licence could be renewed at a nominal cost.
However, Johan has no real experience of renewing licences and cannot reliably
determine what amounts, if any, would be payable to the regulator. Therefore, the
licence should be amortised over a five year period, that is Rs 24 million per annum.
There are indications that the value of the licence may be impaired. The market share
for the year to 30 November 2008 is disappointing and competition is fierce in the
sector, and retention of customers difficult. Therefore, an impairment test should be
undertaken. Johan should classify the licence and network assets as a single cash
generating unit (CGU) for impairment purposes. The licence cannot generate revenue in
its own right and the smallest group of assets that generates independent revenue will
be the licence and network assets. The impairment indicators point to the need to test
this cash generating unit for impairment.
Costs incurred in extending network
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment should be recognised when
i. it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the entity, and
ii. the cost of the item can be measured reliably (IAS16, „Property, plant and
equipment‟ (PPE))
It is necessary to assess the degree of certainty attaching to the flow of economic
benefits and the basis of the evidence available at the time of initial recognition. The
cost incurred during the initial feasibility study (Rs 250,000) should be expensed as
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incurred, as the flow of economic benefits to Johan as a result of the study would have
been uncertain.
IAS16 states that the cost of an item of PPE comprises amongst other costs, directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in a manner intended by management (IAS16, para 16).
Examples of costs given in IAS16 are site preparation costs, and installation and
assembly costs. The selection of the base station site is critical for the optimal operation
of the network and is part of the process of bringing the network assets to a working
condition. Thus the costs incurred by engaging a consultant (Rs 50,000) to find an
optimal site can be capitalised as it is part of the cost of constructing the network and
depreciated accordingly as planning permission has been obtained.
Under IAS17, „Leases‟, a lease is defined as an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to
the lessee, in return for a payment or series of payments, the right to use an asset for an
agreed period of time. A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. An operating lease
is a lease other than a finance lease. In the case of the contract regarding the land, there
is no ownership transfer and the term is not for the major part of the asset‟s life as it is
land which has an indefinite economic life. Thus substantially all of the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership have not been transferred. The contract should be
treated, therefore, as an operating lease. The payment of Rs 300,000 should be treated as
a prepayment in the statement of financial position and charged to the income
statement over the life of the contract on the straight line basis. The monthly payments
will be expensed and no value placed on the lease contract in the statement of financial
position.
Handsets and revenue recognition
The inventory of handsets should be measured at the lower of cost and net realisable
value (IAS2, „Inventories‟, para 9). Johan should recognise a provision at the point of
purchase for the handsets to be sold at a loss. The inventory should be written down to
its net realisable value (NRV) of Rs 149 per handset as they are sold both to prepaid
customers and dealers. The NRV is Rs 51 less than cost. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the normal course of business less the estimated selling costs.
IAS18, „Revenue‟, requires the recognition of revenue by reference to the stage of
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Revenue associated with the
provision of services should be recognised as service as rendered. Johan should record
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the receipt of Rs 21 per call card as deferred revenue at the point of sale. Revenue of Rs
18 should be recognised over the six month period from the date of sale. The unused
call credit of Rs 3 would be recognised when the card expires as that is the point at
which the obligation of Johan ceases. Revenue is earned from the provision of services
and not from the physical sale of the card.
IAS18 does not deal in detail with agency arrangements but says the gross inflows of
economic benefits include amounts collected on behalf of the principal and which do
not result in increases in equity for the entity. The amounts collected on behalf of the
principal are not revenue. Revenue is the amount of the „commission‟. Additionally
where there are two or more transactions, they should be taken together if the
commercial effect cannot be understood without reference to the series of transactions
as a whole.
As a result of the above, Johan should not recognise revenue when the handset is sold
to the dealer, as the dealer is acting as an agent for the sale of the handset and the
service contract. Johan has retained the risk of the loss in value of the handset as they
can be returned by the dealer and the price set for the handset is under the control of
Johan. The handset sale and the provision of the service would have to be assessed as to
their separability. However, the handset cannot be sold separately and is commercially
linked to the provision of the service. Johan would, therefore, recognise the net payment
of Rs 130 as a customer acquisition cost which may qualify as an intangible asset under
IAS38, and the revenue from the service contract will be recognised as the service is
rendered. The intangible asset would be amortised over the 12 month contract. The cost
of the handset from the manufacturer will be charged as cost of goods sold (Rs 200).
Question No 34:Whilst acknowledging the importance of high quality corporate reporting, the
recommendations to improve it are sometimes questioned on the basis that the
marketplace for capital can determine the nature and quality of corporate reporting. It
could be argued that additional accounting and disclosure standards would only distort
a market mechanism that already works well and would add costs to the reporting
mechanism, with no apparent benefit. It could be said that accounting standards create
costly, inefficient, and unnecessary regulation. It could be argued that increased
disclosure reduces risks and offers a degree of protection to users. However, increased
disclosure has several costs to the preparer of financial statements.
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Required:
a) Explain why accounting standards are needed to help the market mechanism
work effectively for the benefit of preparers and users of corporate reports.
b) Discuss the relative costs to the preparer and benefits to the users of financial
statements of increased disclosure of information in financial statements.
Quality of discussion and reasoning.
Answer No 34:a) It could be argued that the marketplace already offers powerful incentives for
high-quality reporting as it rewards such by easing or restricting access to capital
or raising or lowering the cost of borrowing capital depending on the quality of
the entity‟s reports. However, accounting standards play an important role in
helping the market mechanism work effectively. Accounting standards are
needed because they:
- Promote a common understanding of the nature of corporate performance
and this facilitates any negotiations between users and companies about the
content of financial statements. For example, many loan agreements specify
that a company provide the lender with financial statements prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles or International
Financial Reporting Standards. Both the company and the lender understand
the terms and are comfortable that statements prepared according to those
standards will meet certain information needs. Without standards, the
statements would be less useful to the lender, and the company and the
lender would have to agree to create some form of acceptable standards
which would be inefficient and less effective.
- Assist neutral and unbiased reporting. Companies may wish to portray their
past performance and future prospects in the most favourable light. Users are
aware of this potential bias and are sceptical about the information they
receive. Standards build credibility and confidence in the capital marketplace
to the benefit of both users and companies.
- Improve the comparability of information across companies and national
boundaries. Without standards, there would be little basis to compare one
company with others across national boundaries which is a key feature of
relevant information.
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Create credibility in financial statements. Auditors verify that information is
reported in accordance with standards and this creates public confidence in
financial statements
Facilitate consistency of information by producing data in accordance with an
agreed conceptual framework. A consistent approach to the development and
presentation of information assists users in accessing information in an
efficient manner and facilitates decision-making.

b) Increased information disclosure benefits users by reducing the likelihood that
they will misallocate their capital. This is obviously a direct benefit to individual
users of corporate reports. The disclosure reduces the risk of misallocation of
capital by enabling users to improve their assessments of a company‟s prospects.
This creates three important results.
i.
Users use information disclosed to increase their investment returns and
by definition support the most profitable companies which are likely to be
those that contribute most to economic growth. Thus, an important benefit
of information disclosure is that it improves the effectiveness of the
investment process.
ii.
The second result lies in the effect on the liquidity of the capital markets.
A more liquid market assists the effective allocation of capital by allowing
users to reallocate their capital quickly. The degree of information
asymmetry between the buyer and seller and the degree of uncertainty of
the buyer and the seller will affect the liquidity of the market as lower
asymmetry and less uncertainty will increase the number of transactions
and make the market more liquid.
Disclosure will affect uncertainty and information asymmetry.
iii.
Information disclosure helps users understand the risk of a prospective
investment. Without any information, the user has no way of assessing a
company‟s prospects. Information disclosure helps investors predict a
company‟s prospects. Getting a better understanding of the true risk could
lower the price of capital for the company. It is difficult to prove however
that the average cost of capital is lowered by information disclosure, even
though it is logically and practically impossible to assess a company‟s risk
without relevant information. Lower capital costs promote investment,
which can stimulate productivity and economic growth.
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However although increased information can benefit users, there are problems of
understandability and information overload.
Information disclosure provides a degree of protection to users. The benefit is
fairness to users and is part of corporate accountability to society as a whole.
The main costs to the preparer of financial statements are as follows:
i.
ii.
iii.

the cost of developing and disseminating information,
the cost of possible litigation attributable to information disclosure,
the cost of competitive disadvantage attributable to disclosure.

The costs of developing and disseminating the information include those of
gathering, creating and auditing the information.
Additional costs to the preparers include training costs, changes to systems (for
example on moving to IFRS), and the more complex and the greater the
information provided, the more it will cost the company.
Although litigation costs are known to arise from information disclosure, it does
not follow that all information disclosure leads to litigation costs. Cases can arise
from insufficient disclosure and misleading disclosure. Only the latter is
normally prompted by the presentation of information disclosure. Fuller
disclosure could lead to lower costs of litigation as the stock market would have
more realistic expectations of the company‟s prospects and the discrepancy
between the valuation implicit in the market price and the valuation based on a
company‟s financial statements would be lower. However, litigation costs do not
necessarily increase with the extent of the disclosure. Increased disclosure could
reduce litigation costs.
Disclosure could weaken a company‟s ability to generate future cash flows by
aiding its competitors. The effect of disclosure on competitiveness involves
benefits as well as costs. Competitive disadvantage could be created if disclosure
is made relating to strategies, plans, (for example, planned product development,
new market targeting) or information about operations (for example, productioncost figures). There is a significant difference between the purpose of disclosure
to users and competitors. The purpose of disclosure to users is to help them to
estimate the amount, timing, and certainty of future cash flows. Competitors are
not trying to predict a company‟s future cash flows, and information of use in
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that context is not necessarily of use in obtaining competitive advantage. Overlap
between information designed to meet users‟ needs and information designed to
further the purposes of a competitor is often coincidental. Every company that
could suffer competitive disadvantage from disclosure could gain competitive
advantage from comparable disclosure by competitors. Published figures are
often aggregated with little use to competitors.
Companies bargain with suppliers and with customers, and information
disclosure could give those parties an advantage in negotiations. In such cases,
the advantage would be a cost for the disclosing entity. However, the cost would
be offset whenever information disclosure was presented by both parties, each
would receive an advantage and a disadvantage.
There are other criteria to consider such as whether the information to be
disclosed is about the company. This is both a benefit and a cost criterion. Users
of corporate reports need company-specific data, and it is typically more costly
to obtain and present information about matters external to the company.
Additionally, consideration must be given as to whether the company is the best
source for the information. It could be inefficient for a company to obtain or
develop data that other, more expert parties could develop and present or do
develop at present.
There are many benefits to information disclosure and users have unmet
information needs. It cannot be known with any certainty what the optimal
disclosure level is for companies. Some companies through voluntary disclosure
may have achieved their optimal level. There are no quantitative measures of
how levels of disclosure stand with respect to optimal levels. Standard setters
have to make such estimates as best they can, guide by prudence, and by what
evidence of benefits and costs they can obtain.
Question No 35:Carpart, a public limited company, is a vehicle part manufacturer, and sells vehicles
purchased from the manufacturer. Carpart has entered into supply arrangements for
the supply of car seats to two local companies, Vehiclex and Autoseat.
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i.

Vehiclex
This contract will last for five years and Carpart will manufacture seats to a
certain specification which will require the construction of machinery for the
purpose. The price of each car seat has been agreed so that it includes an amount
to cover the cost of constructing the machinery but there is no commitment to a
minimum order of seats to guarantee the recovery of the costs of constructing the
machinery. Carpart retains the ownership of the machinery and wishes to
recognise part of the revenue from the contract in its current financial statements
to cover the cost of the machinery which will be constructed over the next year.

ii.

Autoseat
Autoseat is purchasing car seats from Carpart. The contract is to last for three
years and Carpart is to design, develop and manufacture the car seats. Carpart
will construct machinery for this purpose but the machinery is so specific that it
cannot be used on other contracts. Carpart maintains the machinery but the
know-how has been granted royalty free to Autoseat. The price of each car seat
includes a fixed price to cover the cost of the machinery. If Autoseat decides not
to purchase a minimum number of seats to cover the cost of the machinery, then
Autoseat has to repay Carpart for the cost of the machinery including any
interest incurred.
Autoseat can purchase the machinery at any time in order to safeguard against
the cessation of production by Carpart. The purchase price would be the cost of
the machinery not yet recovered by Carpart. The machinery has a life of three
years and the seats are only sold to Autoseat who sets the levels of production
for a period. Autoseat can perform a pre-delivery inspection on each seat and can
reject defective seats.

iii.

Vehicle sales
Carpart sells vehicles on a contract for their market price (approximately Rs
20,000 each) at a mark-up of 25% on cost. The expected life of each vehicle is five
years. After four years, the car is repurchased by Carpart at 20% of its original
selling price. This price is expected to be significantly less than its fair value. The
car must be maintained and serviced by the customer in accordance with certain
guidelines and must be in good condition if Carpart is to repurchase the vehicle.
The same vehicles are also sold with an option that can be exercised by the buyer
two years after sale. Under this option, the customer has the right to ask Carpart
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to repurchase the vehicle for 70% of its original purchase price. It is thought that
the buyers will exercise the option. At the end of two years, the fair value of the
vehicle is expected to be 55% of the original purchase price. If the option is not
exercised, then the buyer keeps the vehicle.
Carpart also uses some of its vehicles for demonstration purposes. These vehicles
are normally used for this purpose for an eighteen-month period. After this
period, the vehicles are sold at a reduced price based upon their condition and
mileage.
Professional marks will be awarded in question 3 for clarity and quality of discussion.
Required:
Discuss how the above transactions would be accounted for under International
Financial Reporting Standards in the financial statements of Carpart.
Answer No 35:Supply arrangements
i.

Vehiclex
A transaction may contain separately identifiable components that should be
accounted for separately. IAS18 „Revenue‟ says that it is necessary to apply the
recognition criteria to each separately identifiable component of a single
transaction in order to reflect the substance of the transaction. In assessing the
substance, the transaction should be viewed from the customer‟s perspective and
not the seller. If the customer views the purchase as one product, then it is likely
that the recognition criteria should be applied to the transaction as a whole. If
there are a number of elements to the transaction, then the revenue recognition
criteria should be applied to each element separately. In this case there is no
contract to sell the machinery to Vehiclex and thus no revenue can be recognised
in respect of the machinery. The machinery is for the use of Carpart and the
contract is not a construction contract under IAS11 „Construction Contracts‟. The
machinery is accounted for under IAS16 „Property, Plant and Equipment‟ and
depreciated assuming that the future economic benefits of the machinery will
flow to Carpart and the cost can be measured reliably. Carpart should conduct
impairment reviews to ensure the carrying amount is not in excess of recoverable
amount whenever there is deemed to be an indication of impairment. Seat orders
not covering the minimum required would be an example of an impairment
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indicator. The impairment review of the machine would most probably need to
be conducted with the machinery forming part of a cash generating unit. The
contract to manufacture seats is not a service or construction contract but is a
contract for the production of goods. The contract is a contract to sell goods and
IAS18 is applicable with revenue recognised on sale.
ii.

Autoseat
Companies often enter into agreements that do not take the legal form of a lease
but still convey the right to use an asset in return for payment. IFRIC4
„Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease‟ provides guidance on
when such arrangements are leases. If it is determined that the arrangement
constitutes a lease, then it is accounted for under IAS17 „Leases‟. IFRIC4 sets out
when the assessment should be made and how to deal with the payments. Under
IFRIC4, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement which means
assessing if:
a) fulfilment of the contract is dependent upon the use of a specified asset;
and
b) the contract conveys the right to use the asset. This means by operating
the asset, controlling physical access, or if there is only a remote
possibility that parties other than the purchaser will take more than a
significant amount of the assets‟ output and the price the purchaser will
pay is neither fixed per unit of output nor equal to the current market
price.
In this case it seems that the contract contains a lease for the following reasons:
a) the completion of the contract depends upon the construction and use of
a specific asset which is the specialised machinery which is dedicated to
the production of the seats and cannot be used for other production. All
of the output is to be sold to Autoseat who can inspect the seats and reject
defective seats before delivery;
b) the contract allows Autoseat the right to use the asset because it controls
the underlying use as it is remote that any other party will receive any
more than an insignificant amount of its production. The only customer is
Autoseat who sets the levels of production and has a purchase option at
any time;
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c) The price of the production is not fixed as it is a „take or pay‟ contract as
Autoseat is committed to fully repay the cost of the machinery, nor is it
equal to the current market price because the supply is not marked to
market during the contract;
d) The payments for the lease are separable from any other elements in the
contract (IFRIC4) as Carpart will recover the cost of the machinery
through a fixed price per seat over the life of the contract.
The contract contains a finance lease in the financial statements of Carseat
because of the specialised nature of the machinery and because the contract is for
the life of the asset (three years). The payments under the contract will be
separated between the lease element and the revenue for the sale of the car seats.
Carpart will recognise a lease receivable equal to the net present value of the
minimum lease payments. Carpart does not normally sell machinery nor
recognises revenue on the sale of machinery and, therefore, no gain or loss
should be recognised on recognition and the initial carrying amount of the
receivable will equal the production cost of the machinery (IAS17, 43). Lease
payments will be split into interest income and receipt of the lease receivables.
iii.

Car Sales
IAS18 states that a sale and repurchase agreement for a non-financial asset must
be analysed to determine if the seller has transferred the risks and rewards of
ownership to the buyer. If this has occurred then revenue is recognised. Where
the seller has retained the risks and rewards of ownership, the transaction is a
financial arrangement even if the legal title has been transferred.
In the case of vehicles sold and repurchased at the end of the contract period,
Carpart should recognise revenue on the sale of the vehicle. The residual risk
that remains with Carpart is not significant at 20% of the sale price as this is
thought to be significantly less than the market price. The agreed repurchase
period also covers most of the vehicle‟s economic life. The car has to be
maintained and serviced by the purchaser and must be returned in good
condition. Thus the transfer of the significant risks and rewards of ownership to
the buyer would appear to have taken place.
In the case of the sale with an option to repurchase, Carpart has not transferred
the significant risks and rewards of ownership at the date of the transaction. The
repurchase price is significant and the agreed repurchase period is less than
substantially all of the economic life of the vehicle. The repurchase price is above
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the fair value of the vehicle and thus the risks of ownership have not been
transferred. Also the company feels that the option will be exercised. The
transaction is accounted for as an operating lease under IAS17. The cars will be
accounted for as operating leases until the option expires. The vehicles will be
taken out of the inventory and debited to „assets under operating lease‟ and
depreciated over two years taking into account the estimated residual value. The
cash received will be split between rentals received in advance (30%) and longterm liabilities (70%) which will be discounted. The rental income will be
recognised in profit or loss over the two-year period.
Demonstration vehicles
The demonstration vehicles should be taken out of inventory and capitalised as
property, plant and equipment (PPE) at cost. They meet the recognition criteria
as they are held for demonstration purposes and are expected to be used in more
than one accounting period. They should be depreciated whilst being used as
demonstration vehicles and when they are to be sold they are reclassified from
PPE to inventory and depreciation ceased.
Question No 36:a) Accounting for defined benefit pension schemes is a complex area of great
importance. In some cases, the net pension liability even exceeds the market
capitalisation of the company. The financial statements of a company must
provide investors, analysts and companies with clear, reliable and comparable
information on a company‟s pension obligations, discount rates and expected
returns on plan assets.
Required:
i.

ii.

Discuss the current requirements of IAS 19 „Employee Benefits‟ as
regards the accounting for actuarial gains and losses setting out the
main criticisms of the approach taken and the advantages of immediate
recognition of such gains and losses.
Discuss the implications of the current accounting practices in IAS 19
for dealing with the setting of discount rates for pension obligations
and the expected returns on plan assets.

Page | 245

Financial and Corporate Reporting

ICPAP

b) Smith, a public limited company and Brown a public limited company utilise IAS
19 „Employee Benefits‟ to account for their pension plans. The following
information refers to the company pension plans for the year to 30 April 2009:
i.
At 1 May 2008, plan assets of both companies were fair valued at Rs 200
million and both had net unrecognized actuarial gains of Rs 6 million.
ii.
At 30 April 2009, the fair value of the plan assets of Smith was Rs 219
million and that of Brown was Rs 276 million.
iii.
The contributions received were Rs 70 million and benefits paid were Rs
26 million for both companies. These amounts were paid and received on
1 November 2008.
iv.
The expected return on plan assets was 7% at 1 May 2008 and 8% on 30
April 2009.
v. The present value of the defined benefit obligation was less than the fair
value of the plan assets at both 1 May 2008 and 30 April 2009.
vi.
Actuarial losses on the obligation for the year were negligible for both
companies.
vii. Both companies use the corridor approach to recognised actuarial gains
and losses.
Required:
Show how the use of the expected return on assets can cause comparison issues for
potential investors using the above scenario for illustration.
Answer No 36:a)
i.

Accounting for post-employment benefits is an important financial reporting
issue. It has been suggested that many users of financial statements do not fully
understand the information that entities provide about post-employment
benefits. Both users and preparers of financial statements have criticised the
accounting requirements for failing to provide high quality, transparent
information about post-employment benefit promises.
Delays in the recognition of gains and losses give rise to misleading figures in the
statement of financial position. Also, multiple options for recognising gains and
losses and lack of clarity in the definitions can lead to poor comparability. IAS 19
permits entities to recognise some changes in the value of plan assets and in the
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defined benefit obligation in periods after the period in which they occur.
Specifically,
- It permits entities to leave unrecognised actuarial gains and losses within a
„corridor‟ (the greater of 10% of plan assets and 10% of plan liabilities) and to
defer recognition of actuarial gains and losses that exceed the corridor.
Entities can recognise the gains and losses that exceed the corridor over the
service lives of the employees. IAS 19 also permits entities to adopt any
systematic method that results in recognition of actuarial gains and losses
faster than the minimum requirements.
- In addition, it permits immediate recognition of all gains and losses, either in
 profit or loss or
 in other comprehensive income.
The deferred recognition model in IAS 19 treats the recognition of changes in
defined benefit obligations and in plan assets differently from changes in other
assets and liabilities. The main criticisms of the deferred recognition model are:
-

-

An employer with a defined benefit plan is not required to recognise
economic changes in the cost of providing post-employment benefits (the
changes in plan assets and benefit obligations) as those changes take place.
An entity may recognise an asset when a plan is in deficit or a liability may be
recognised when a plan is in surplus.
It relegates important information about post-retirement plans to the notes to
the financial statements
The resulting accounting has a level of complexity that makes it difficult for
many users of financial statements to understand and
adds to the cost of applying IAS 19 by requiring entities to keep complex
records.

Advantages of immediate recognition
Immediate recognition would be consistent with the Framework and other
IFRSs. The Framework requires that „the effects of transactions and other events
are recognised when they occur … and they are recorded in the accounting
records and reported in the financial statements of the periods to which they
relate‟. Immediate recognition of actuarial gains and losses is consistent with IAS
8 „Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors‟. IAS 8
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requires the effect of changes in accounting estimates to be included in the period
of the change to the extent that the change gives rise to changes in assets and
liabilities. IAS 37 requires changes in liabilities, including changes in long term
liabilities (such as asset retirement obligations), to be recognised in the period
they occur.
Immediate recognition also has the following advantages:
-

-

-

ii.

It represents faithfully the entity‟s financial position. An entity will recognise
an asset only when a plan is in surplus and a liability only when a plan has a
deficit.
It results in amounts in the statements of financial position and
comprehensive income that are transparent and easy to understand.
The approach generates income and expense items that provide information
about changes in the post-employment benefit obligation and plan assets in
that period.
It improves comparability across entities by eliminating the options currently
allowed by IAS 19.

IAS 19 states that the rate to be used to discount pension obligations should be
determined by reference to market yields at the balance sheet date on high
quality corporate bonds of equivalent currency and term to benefit obligations.
The discount rate should reflect the time value of money, based on the expected
timing of the benefit payments. The discount rate does not reflect investment risk
or actuarial risk as other actuarial assumptions deal with these items. IAS 19 is
not specific on what it considers to be a high quality bond and therefore this can
lead to variation in the discount rates used. Also some countries may not have a
market in high quality corporate bonds, in which case the market yields on
government bonds of equivalent currency and term should be used. The result is
that there is a measure of subjectivity in the setting of discount rates which could
lead to management of earnings and the reduction of liabilities.
The return on plan assets is defined as interest, dividends and other revenue
derived from plan assets, together with realised and unrealized gains or losses
on plan assets, less any costs of administering the plan less any tax payable by
the plan itself. The amount recognised in the financial statements under IAS 19 is
the expected return on assets, and the difference between the expected return
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and actual return in the period is an actuarial gain or loss. The expected return is
based on market expectations at the beginning of the period for returns over the
entire life of the related obligation. The standard also requires an adjustment to
be made to the expected return for changes in the assets throughout the year.
This return is a very subjective assumption and an increase in the return can
create income at the expense of actuarial losses which may not be recognised
because both companies use the „corridor approach‟.
b) In the case of Smith and Brown, the companies have experienced dramatically
different investment performance in the year.
The expected and actual return on plan assets was:

Fair value of plan assets at 1 May 2008
Contribution
Benefits paid
Expected return (200 x 7% + (70 – 26) x 6/12 x 7%)
Actuarial gain/(loss)
Fair value of plan assets at 30 April 2009
Unrecognized actuarial gain/(loss) at 1 May 2008
Actuarial gain/(loss) in the year
Unrecognized actuarial gain/(loss)

Smith (Rs m)
200
70
(26)
15.5

Brown (Rs )
200
70
(26)
15.5

259.5
(40.5)
219
6
(40.5)
(34.5)

259.5
16.5
276
6
16.5
22.5

The difference between the expected return and the actual return represents an
actuarial loss in the case of Smith of Rs 40.5 million (being expected gain Rs 15.5
becoming an actual loss Rs 25) and an actuarial gain of Rs 16.5 million in the case
of Brown (being expected gain Rs 15.5 becoming an actual gain of Rs 32).
Therefore the cumulative net unrecognized gains and losses at the year ended 30
April 2009 of Smith and Brown are Rs 34.5 million loss and Rs 22.5 million gain
respectively.
In the year to 30 April 2009, there would not be any recognition of any of the
above gains/losses as the corridor approach is based upon opening scheme
assets, liabilities and gains/losses. The opening unrecognized gain is Rs 6 million
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which is less than 10% of the plan assets (Rs 20 million) which would be used for
these purposes as it is greater than the obligation at May 2008.
Despite very different performance, the amount shown as expected return on
plan assets in the statement of comprehensive income would be identical for
both companies and the actuarial gains and losses would not be recognised in
the current period. The investment performance of Smith has been poor and
Brown has been good. However, this is not reflected in profit or loss. It can only
be deduced from the disclosure of the actuarial gains and losses. It is the „real‟
return on plan assets which is important, and not the expected return. Thus the
use of the expected return on the plan assets can create comparison issues for the
potential investor especially if the complexities of IAS 19 are not fully
understood.
Question No 37:a) Key, a public limited company, is concerned about the reduction in the general
availability of credit and the sudden tightening of the conditions required to
obtain a loan from banks. There has been a reduction in credit availability and a
rise in interest rates. It seems as though there has ceased to be a clear relationship
between interest rates and credit availability, and lenders and investors are
seeking less risky investments. The directors are trying to determine the practical
implications for the financial statements particularly because of large write
downs of assets in the banking sector, tightening of credit conditions, and falling
sales and asset prices. They are particularly concerned about the impairment of
assets and the market inputs to be used in impairment testing. They are afraid
that they may experience significant impairment charges in the coming financial
year. They are unsure as to how they should test for impairment and any
considerations which should be taken into account.
Required:
Discuss the main considerations that the company should take into account
when impairment testing non-current assets in the above economic climate.
b) There are specific assets on which the company wishes to seek advice. The
company holds certain non-current assets, which are in a development area and
carried at cost less depreciation. These assets cost Rs 3 million on 1 June 2008 and
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are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their useful life of five years. An
impairment review was carried out on 31 May 2009 and the projected cash flows
relating to these assets were as follows:
Year to
Cash flows (Rs 000)

31 May 2010

31 May 2011

31 May 2012

31 May 2013

280

450

500

550

The company used a discount rate of 5%. At 30 November 2009, the directors
used the same cash flow projections and noticed that the resultant value in use
was above the carrying amount of the assets and wished to reverse any
impairment loss calculated at 31 May 2009. The government has indicated that it
may compensate the company for any loss in value of the assets up to 20% of the
impairment loss.
Key holds a non-current asset, which was purchased for Rs 10 million on 1
December 2006 with an expected useful life of 10 years. On 1 December 2008, it
was revalued to Rs 8.8 million. At 30 November 2009, the asset was reviewed for
impairment and written down to its recoverable amount of Rs 5·5 million.
Key committed itself at the beginning of the financial year to selling a property
that is being under-utilized following the economic downturn. As a result of the
economic downturn, the property was not sold by the end of the year. The asset
was actively marketed but there were no reasonable offers to purchase the asset.
Key is hoping that the economic downturn will change in the future and
therefore has not reduced the price of the asset.
Required:
Discuss with suitable computations, how to account for any potential
impairment of the above non-current assets in the financial statements for the
year ended 30 November 2009.
Note: The following discount factors may be relevant
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4

0.9524
0.9070
0.8638
0.8227

Answer No 37:a) IAS 36 „Impairment of Assets‟ states that an asset is impaired when its carrying
amount will not be recovered from its continuing use or from its sale. An entity
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must determine at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an
asset is impaired. If an indicator of impairment exists then the asset‟s recoverable
amount must be determined and compared with its carrying amount to assess
the amount of any impairment. Accounting for the impairment of non-financial
assets can be difficult as IAS 36 „Impairment of Assets‟ is a complex accounting
standard. The turbulence in the markets and signs of economic downturn will
cause many companies to revisit their business plans and revise financial
forecasts. As a result of these changes, there may be significant impairment
charges. Indicators of impairment may arise from either the external
environment in which the entity operates or from within the entity‟s own
operating environment. Thus the current economic downturn is an obvious
indicator of impairment, which may cause the entity to experience cant
impairment charges.
Assets should be tested for impairment at as low a level as possible, at individual
asset level where possible. However, many assets do not generate cash inflows
independently from other assets and such assets will usually be tested within the
cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. Cash flow projections
should be based on reasonable assumptions that represent management‟s best
estimate of the range of economic conditions that will exist over the remaining
useful life of the asset. The discount rate used is the rate, which reflects the
specific risks of the asset or CGU.
The basic principle is that an asset may not be carried in the statement of
financial position at more than its recoverable amount. An asset‟s recoverable
amount is the higher of:
a) the amount for which the asset could be sold in an arm‟s length
transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties, net of costs of
disposal (fair value less costs to sell); and
b) the present value of the future cash flows that are expected to be derived
from the asset (value in use). The expected future cash flows include those
from the asset‟s continued use in the business and those from its ultimate
disposal. Value in use (VIU) is explicitly based on present value
calculations.
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This measurement basis reflects the economic decisions that a company‟s
management team makes when assets become impaired from the viewpoint of
whether the business is better off disposing of the asset or continuing to use it.
The assumptions used in arriving at the recoverable amount need to be
„reasonable and supportable‟ regardless of whether impairment calculations are
based on fair value less costs to sell or value in use. The acceptable range for such
assumptions will change over time and forecasts for revenue growth and profit
margins are likely to have fallen in the economic climate The assumptions made
by management should be in line with the assumptions made by industry
commentators or analysts. Variances from market will need to be justified and
highlighted in financial statement disclosures.
Whatever method is used to calculate the recoverable amount; the value needs to
be considered in the light of available market evidence. If other entities in the
same sector are taking impairment charges, the absence of an impairment charge
have to be justified because the market will be asking the same question.
It is important to inform the market about how it is dealing with the conditions,
and be thinking about how different parts of the business are affected, and the
market inputs they use in impairment testing. Impairment testing should be
commenced as soon as possible as an impairment test process takes a significant
amount of time. It includes identifying impairment indicators, assessing or
reassessing the cash flows, determining the discount rates, testing the
reasonableness of the assumptions and benchmarking the assumptions with the
market. Goodwill does not have to be tested for impairment at the year-end; it
can be tested earlier and if any impairment indicator arises at the balance sheet
date, the impairment assessment can be updated. Also, it is important to comply
with all disclosure requirements, such as the discount rate and long-term growth
rate assumptions in a discounted cash flow model, and describe what the key
assumptions are and what they are based on.
It is important that the cash flows being tested are consistent with the assets
being tested. The forecast cash flows should make allowance for investment in
working capital if the business is expected to grow. When the detailed
calculations have been completed, the company should check that their
conclusions make sense by comparison to any market data, such as share prices
and analysts reports. Market capitalisation below net asset value is an
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impairment indicator, and calculations of recoverable amount are required. If the
market capitalisation is lower than a value-in-use calculation, then the VIU
assumptions may require reassessment. For example, the cash flow projections
might not be as expected by the market, and the reasons for this must be
scrutinised. Discount rates should be scrutinised in order to see if they are
logical. Discount rates may have risen too as risk premiums rise. Many factors
affect discount rates in impairment calculations. These include corporate lending
rates, cost of capital and risks associated with cash flows, which are all increasing
in the current volatile environment and can potentially result in an increase of
the discount rate.
b) An asset‟s carrying amount may not be recovered from future business activity.
Wherever indicators of impairment exist, a review for impairment should be
carried out. Where impairment is identified, a write-down of the carrying value
to the recoverable amount should be charged as an immediate expense in the
income statement. Using a discount rate of 5%, the value in use of the noncurrent assets is:
Year to

31 May
2010
267

31 May
2011
408

31 May
2012
431

31 May
2013
452

Total

Discounted Cash flows (Rs
1,558
000)
The carrying value of the non-current assets at 31 May 2009 is Rs 3 million –
depreciation of Rs 600,000. i.e. Rs 2.4 million. Therefore the assets are impaired
by Rs 842,000 (Rs 2.4m – Rs 1.558m).
IAS 36 requires an assessment at each balance sheet date whether there is an
indication that an impairment loss may have decreased. This does not apply to
goodwill or to the unwinding of the discount. In this case, the increase in value is
due to the unwinding of the discount as the same cash flows have been used in
the calculation. Compensation received in the form of reimbursements from
governmental indemnities is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income
when the compensation becomes receivable according to IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. It is treated as separate economic
events and accounted for as such. At this time the government has only stated
that it may reimburse the company and therefore credit should not be taken of
any potential government receipt.
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For a revalued asset, the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. The
loss is first set against any revaluation surplus and the balance of the loss is then
treated as an expense in profit or loss. The revaluation gain and the impairment
loss would be treated as follows:
Depreciated historical Revalued carrying value
cost (Rs m)
(Rs m)
1 December 2006
10
10
Depreciation (2 years)
(2)
(2)
Revaluation
0.8
1 December 2008
8
8.8
Depreciation
(1)
(1.1)
Impairment loss
(1.5)
(2.2)
30 November 2009 after
5.5
5.5
impairment loss
The impairment loss of Rs 2.2 million is charged to equity until the carrying
amount reaches depreciated historical cost and thereafter it goes to profit or loss.
It is assumed that the company will transfer an amount from revaluation surplus
to retained earnings to cover the excess depreciation of Rs 0.1 million as allowed
by IAS 16. Therefore the impairment loss charged to equity would be Rs (0.8 –
0.1) million i.e. Rs 0.7 million and the remainder of Rs 1.5 million would be
charged to profit or loss.
A plan by management to dispose of an asset or group of assets due to under
utilization is an indicator of impairment. This will usually be well before the held
for sale criteria under IFRS 5 „Non-Current Assets Held-for-sale and
Discontinued Activities‟ are met. Assets or CGUs are tested for impairment when
the decision to sell is made. The impairment test is updated immediately before
classification under IFRS 5. IFRS 5 requires an asset held for sale to be measured
at the lower of its carrying amount and its fair value less costs to sell. Noncurrent assets held for sale and disposal groups are re-measured at the lower of
carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell at every balance sheet date from
classification until disposal. The measurement process is similar to that which
occurs on classification as held for sale. Any excess of carrying value over fair
value less costs to sell is a further impairment loss and is recognised as a loss in
the statement of comprehensive income in the current period. Fair value less
costs to sell in excess of carrying value is ignored and no gain is recorded on
classification. The non-current assets or disposal group cannot be written up past
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its previous (pre-impairment) carrying amount, adjusted for depreciation that
would have been applied without the impairment. The fact that the asset is being
marketed at a price in excess of its fair value may mean that the asset is not
available for immediate sale and therefore may not meet the criteria for „held for
sale‟.
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